# MINIMAL MODEL PROGRAM FOR PROJECTIVE MORPHISMS BETWEEN COMPLEX ANALYTIC SPACES

# OSAMU FUJINO

ABSTRACT. We discuss the minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces. Roughly speaking, we show that the results obtained by Birkar–Cascini–Hacon–M<sup>c</sup>Kernan hold true for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces. We also treat some related topics.

# Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Main results	6
1.2. How to prove the main results	8
1.3. Some other results	9
2. Preliminaries	14
3. Singularities of pairs	28
4. Cones	32
4.1. Nakayama's finiteness	34
5. Vanishing theorems	37
6. Basepoint-free theorems, I	38
7. Cone and contraction theorem	40
8. Basepoint-free theorems, II	42
9. Lengths of extremal rational curves	44
10. Real linear systems, stable base loci, and augmented base loci	46
11. Some basic definitions and properties, I	48
12. Some basic definitions and properties, II	56
13. Minimal model program with scaling	58
14. Nonvanishing theorem; $D_n$	61
15. Existence of analytic pl-flips; $F_{n-1} \Rightarrow A_n$	62
16. Special finiteness; $E_{n-1} \Rightarrow B_n$	64
17. Existence of log terminal models; $A_n$ and $B_n \Rightarrow G_n$	65
18. Finiteness of models; $G_n \Rightarrow E_n$	69
19. Finite generation; $G_n \Rightarrow F_n$	70
20. Proof of theorems	71
21. A canonical bundle formula in the complex analytic setting	75
22. Minimal model program with scaling revisited	79
23. On abundance conjecture	80
References	83

Date: 2022/1/27, version 0.01.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14E30; Secondary 32C15.

*Key words and phrases.* minimal model program, flips, complex analytic spaces, Stein spaces, Stein compact subsets, canonical bundles.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

This paper is the first step of the minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

In [BCHM] and [HacM], Birkar, Cascini, Hacon, and M<sup>c</sup>Kernan established many important results on the minimal model program for quasi-projective kawamata log terminal pairs defined over the complex number field (see [BCHM, Theorems A, B, C, D, E, and F]). Thus we can run the minimal model program with scaling.

**Theorem 1.1** (Minimal model program with scaling, see [BCHM, Corollary 1.4.2]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of normal quasi-projective varieties. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial kawamata log terminal pair, where  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier and  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big. Let C be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. If  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is kawamata log terminal and  $\pi$ -nef, then we can run the  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over Y with scaling of C. The output of this minimal model program is a log terminal model (resp. a Mori fiber space) over Y when  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective (resp. not  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective).

Hence we can easily check:

**Theorem 1.2** ([BCHM, Theorem 1.2]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair, where  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of quasi-projective varieties. If either  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big and  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective or  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big, then

- (1)  $K_X + \Delta$  has a log terminal model over Y,
- (2) if  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big then  $K_X + \Delta$  has a log canonical model over Y, and
- (3) if  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier, then

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) := \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}\left(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor\right)$$

is finitely generated as an  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

The main purpose of this paper is to generalize the results obtained in [BCHM] and [HacM] for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces under some suitable assumptions. One of the main difficulties to translate [BCHM] and [HacM] into the complex analytic setting is to find a reasonable formulation. For the general understanding of the theory of minimal models in the complex analytic setting, see [KM, Example 2.17]. To the best knowledge of the author, the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces is not discussed in standard literature.

**Remark 1.3** (Minimal model program for compact Kähler threefolds). In a series of papers (see [HP1], [HP2], and [CHP]), the theory of minimal models was generalized for compact Kähler threefolds (see also [HP3]). It is different from our direction and is another complex analytic generalization of the minimal model program. The minimal model theory for log surfaces in Fujiki's class C was described in [Fu12]. Based on the idea that the essence of the theory of minimal models is projectivity, we think that our formulation in this paper is more natural than the minimal model program for compact Kähler varieties.

Let us see an easy example.

**Example 1.4.** Let  $\{P_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a set of mutually distinct discrete points of  $Y := \mathbb{C}^2$  and let  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  be the blow-up whose center is  $\{P_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ . We put  $E_k := \pi^{-1}(P_k)$  for every k. Since the line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_X(-\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} E_k)$  is  $\pi$ -ample,  $\pi$  is a projective bimeromorphic

morphism of smooth complex surfaces. In this case, there are infinitely many mutually disjoint  $\pi$ -exceptional curves on X. Hence, there exists no naive generalization of the minimal model program working for this projective bimeromorphic morphism  $\pi: X \to Y$ .

By Example 1.4, it seems to be reasonable and indispensable to fix a compact subset W of Y with some good properties and only treat  $\pi: X \to Y$  over some open neighborhood of W. We need some finiteness condition in order to formulate the minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces. In this paper, we will mainly consider a projective morphism  $\pi: X \to Y$  of complex analytic spaces and a compact subset W of Y with the following properties:

- (P1) X is a normal complex variety,
- (P2) Y is a Stein space,
- (P3) W is a Stein compact subset of Y, and
- (P4)  $W \cap Z$  has only finitely many connected components for any analytic subset Z which is defined over an open neighborhood of W.

Since we are trying to discuss the minimal model program, (P1) is indispensable. So we almost always assume that X is a normal complex variety. We note that the Steinness of Y, that is, (P2), is a substitute of the quasi-projectivity of Y in [BCHM] and that the quasi-projectivity of Y is indispensable in [BCHM]. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent sheaf on X such that  $\pi_* \mathcal{F} \neq 0$ . Then we see that  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{F}) = \Gamma(Y, \pi_* \mathcal{F}) \neq 0$  holds by Cartan's Theorem A. Here we need the Steinness of Y. We also note that the analytic space naturally associated to an affine scheme is Stein. Let us explain (P3) and (P4). A compact subset on an analytic space is said to be *Stein compact* if it admits a fundamental system of Stein open neighborhoods. Note that a holomorphically convex hull K of a compact subset Kon a Stein space is a Stein compact subset. Therefore, we can find many Stein compact subsets on a given Stein space. If W satisfies (P3) and we are only interested in objects defined over some open neighborhood of W, then we can freely replace Y with a small Stein open neighborhood of W. The condition in (P4) is not so easy to understand and looks somewhat artificial. However, it is a very natural condition. It is known that a Stein compact subset W satisfies (P4) if and only if  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian by Siu's theorem (see [Si, Theorem 1]). If W is a Stein compact semianalytic subset, then it satisfies (P3)and (P4). Thus we see that there are many Stein compact subsets satisfying (P4) on a given Stein space Y. We consider the free abelian group  $Z_1(X/Y; W)$  generated by the projective integral curves C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point of W. We take  $C_1, C_2 \in$  $Z_1(X/Y;W) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ . If  $C_1 \cdot \mathcal{L} = C_2 \cdot \mathcal{L}$  holds for every  $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Pic}(\pi^{-1}(U))$  and every open neighborhood U of W, then we write  $C_1 \equiv_W C_2$ . We set  $N_1(X/Y; W) := Z_1(X/Y; W) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}$  $\mathbb{R}/\equiv_W$ . Then, by (P4), we can check that  $N_1(X/Y; W)$  is a finite-dimensional  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space (see [Na3, Chapter II. 5.19. Lemma]). When  $N_1(X/Y; W)$  is finite-dimensional, we can define the Kleiman-Mori cone  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$  in  $N_1(X/Y; W)$  for  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W, that is,  $\overline{\text{NE}}(X/Y; W)$  is the closure of the convex cone in  $N_1(X/Y; W)$  generated by projective integral curves C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point in W. Without any difficulties, we can establish Kleiman's ampleness criterion in the complex analytic setting. We further assume that there exists an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta$  on X such that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal. Then we can formulate the cone theorem as usual

$$\overline{\mathrm{NE}}(X/Y;W) = \overline{\mathrm{NE}}(X/Y;W)_{K_X+\Delta \ge 0} + \sum_j R_j$$

and prove the contraction theorem for each  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray  $R_j$  over some open neighborhood of W. This is essentially due to Nakayama (see [Na2]). By the above

observations, we recognize that (P1), (P2), (P3), and (P4) are reasonable. From now on, we usually simply say that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P) if it satisfies (P1), (P2), (P3), and (P4).

**Remark 1.5.** Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then  $D \ge 0$  on  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W)$  means that  $D \cdot C \ge 0$  for every projective integral curve C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point in W. Unfortunately, however, D is not necessarily nef over some open neighborhood of W even when  $D \ge 0$  on  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W)$ . This fact often causes troublesome problems when we discuss the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces.

In this paper, we will prove:

**Theorem 1.6** (Main theorem, see Theorem 1.13 below). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Then Theorems A, B, C, D, E, and F in [BCHM] hold true with some suitable modifications.

For the precise statement, see Theorems A, B, C, D, E, and F in Subsection 1.1 and Theorem 1.13 below. To the best knowledge of the author, our results are new even in dimension three. For projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces, the minimal model program with scaling (see Theorem 1.1) becomes as follows.

**Theorem 1.7** (Minimal model program with scaling for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces, see [BCHM, Corollary 1.4.2]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y. Assume that Y is Stein and that W is a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair such that  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big and that X is Q-factorial over W. If C is an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is kawamata log terminal and it is nef over W. Then we can run the  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C over Y around W. More precisely, we have a finite sequence of flips and divisorial contractions over Y starting from  $(X, \Delta)$ :

$$(X,\Delta) =: (X_0,\Delta_0) \xrightarrow{\varphi_0} (X_1,\Delta_1) \xrightarrow{\varphi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\varphi_{m-1}} (X_m,\Delta_m)$$

where  $\Delta_{i+1} := (\varphi_i)_* \Delta_i$  for every  $i \ge 0$ , such that  $(X_m, \Delta_m)$  is a log terminal model (resp. has a Mori fiber space structure) over some open neighborhood of W when  $K_X + \Delta$ is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective (resp. not  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective). We note that each step  $\varphi_i$  exists only after shrinking Y around W suitably. Hence we have to replace Y with a small Stein open neighborhood of W repeatedly in the above process.

By Theorem 1.7, we can prove:

**Theorem 1.8** ([BCHM, Theorem 1.2]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair, where  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). If either  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big and  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective or  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big, then

- (1)  $K_X + \Delta$  has a log terminal model over some open neighborhood of W,
- (2) if  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big then  $K_X + \Delta$  has a log canonical model over some open neighborhood of W, and
- (3) if  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier, then

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

### MMP FOR PROJECTIVE MORPHISMS

## is a locally finitely generated graded $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

Of course, Theorem 1.8 is an analytic version of Theorem 1.2. We note that this paper is not self-contained. If the proof is essentially the same as the original one for quasiprojective varieties, then we will only explain how to modify arguments in [BCHM] and [HacM] in order to make them work for projective morphisms between analytic spaces satisfying (P). In this paper, we always assume that complex analytic spaces are *Hausdorff* and *second-countable*.

1.9 (Motivation). Let us explain the motivation of this paper. We sometimes have to consider the following setting when we study degenerations of algebraic varieties. Let  $\pi: X \to \Delta$  be a projective morphism from a complex manifold X onto a disc  $\Delta = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\}$  with connected fibers. Suppose that  $\pi$  is smooth over  $\Delta \setminus \{0\}$  and  $K_{X_z} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} 0$  for every  $z \in \Delta \setminus \{0\}$ , where  $X_z = \pi^{-1}(z)$ , and that  $\pi^*0$  is a reduced simple normal crossing divisor on X. Roughly speaking,  $\pi: X \setminus \pi^{-1}(0) \to \Delta \setminus \{0\}$  is a smooth projective family of Calabi–Yau manifolds and  $\pi: X \to \Delta$  is a semistable degeneration. Since  $\Delta$  is not a quasi-projective algebraic variety, we can not directly use [BCHM] for the study of  $\pi: X \to \Delta$ . By using the results established in this paper, after slightly shrinking  $\Delta$  around 0 repeatedly, we can construct a finite sequence of flips and divisorial contractions starting from X:

$$X =: X_0 \dashrightarrow X_1 \dashrightarrow X_2 \dashrightarrow \cdots \dashrightarrow X_m$$

over  $\Delta$  such that  $X_m$  is a minimal model of X over  $\Delta$ . More precisely,  $X_m$  has only terminal singularities and  $K_{X_m}$  is Q-linearly trivial. The above result is a typical application of our result in this paper, which is not covered by [BCHM]. It is a complex analytic generalization of the semistable minimal model program established in [Fu4].

**1.10** (Background, see [Fu5, 3.5, 3.6]). In the traditional framework of the minimal model program, the most important and natural object is a quasi-projective kawamata log terminal pair (see [KMM], [KM], [Matk], [BCHM], [HacM], and so on). From the Hodge theoretic viewpoint, we think that there exists the following correspondence.

Kawamata log terminal pairs $\iff$ Pure Hodge structures

We have already used mixed Hodge structures on cohomology with compact support systematically for the study of minimal models (see [Fu5], [Fu9], and so on). Then we succeeded in greatly expanding the framework of the minimal model program. Roughly speaking, we established the following correspondence.

Quasi-log schemes 
$$\iff$$
 Mixed Hodge structures

For the details of this direction, see also [Fu13], [FFL], [Fu14], and so on.

On the other hand, from the complex analytic viewpoint, we know the following correspondence.

Kawamata log terminal pairs  $\iff$   $L^2$  condition

Hence, it is natural to think that we can generalize the minimal model program for quasiprojective kawamata log terminal pairs established in [BCHM] and [HacM] to the one in the complex analytic setting. We note that the projectivity plays a crucial role in the theory of minimal models. Therefore, it is reasonable to discuss the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces. This naive idea is now realized in this paper.

Unfortunately, we have not established complex analytic methods to treat varieties whose singularities are worse than kawamata log terminal singularities yet. Thus, it is a challenging problem to consider some analytic generalization of the theory of quasi-log schemes (see [Fu9, Chapter 6] and [Fu15]).

**1.11** (How to use (P)). Before we see the main results in Subsection 1.1, let us explain how to use (P) for the reader's convenience. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). We usually consider an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta$  on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. It sometimes happens that some properties hold true only over an open neighborhood Uof W. Since W is a Stein compact subset of Y, we can always take a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood Y' of W in Y satisfying

$$W \subset Y' \Subset U \subset Y.$$

Of course,  $\pi' \colon X' \to Y'$  and W satisfies (P), where  $X' \coloneqq \pi^{-1}(Y')$  and  $\pi' \coloneqq \pi|_{X'}$ . We frequently replace  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  with  $\pi' \colon X' \to Y'$  without mentioning it explicitly. We note that the support of  $\Delta$  is only locally finite by definition. In general, the support of  $\Delta$  may have infinitely many irreducible components. By construction, X' is a relatively compact open subset of X. Hence the support of  $\Delta|_{X'}$  is finite. On the other hand, let Vbe a relatively compact open neighborhood of W in Y. Since Y is Stein, we can take an Oka–Weil domain V' satisfying

$$W \subset V \subset \overline{V} \subset V' \subset \overline{V'} \subset Y.$$

By construction, V' can be seen as a complex analytic subspace of a polydisc. Hence we can take a semianalytic Stein compact subset W' such that

$$W \subset V \subset \overline{V} \subset W' \subset V' \subset \overline{V'} \subset Y.$$

Note that W' satisfies (P4) since it is semianalytic. Therefore,  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W' satisfies (P) and W' contains a given relatively compact open neighborhood V of W. This argument is useful and indispensable when we try to check that some properties hold true over an open neighborhood of W. For example, when we prove that  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over some open neighborhood of W, we sometimes have to consider  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W'.

1.1. Main results. Here, we state the main results of this paper. The following theorems look very similar to those in [BCHM] although they treat complex analytic spaces.

**Theorem A** (Existence of pl-flips, [BCHM, Theorem A]). Let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be an analytic pl-flipping contraction for a purely log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta)$ . Then the flip  $\varphi^+ \colon X^+ \to Z$  of  $\varphi$  always exists.

**Theorem B** (Special finiteness, [BCHM, Theorem B]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W. Let V be a finitedimensional affine subspace of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals, let S be the sum of finitely many prime divisors and let A be a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on Xsuch that the number of the irreducible components of  $\mathrm{Supp} A$  is finite. Let  $(X, \Delta_0)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair such that  $S \leq \Delta_0$ . We fix a finite set  $\mathfrak{C}$  of prime divisors on X. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there are finitely many bimeromorphic maps  $\phi_i: X \dashrightarrow Z_i$  over Y for  $1 \leq i \leq k$  with the following property. If U is an open neighborhood of W and  $\phi: \pi^{-1}(U) \dashrightarrow Z$  is any weak log canonical model over W of  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  such that Z is Q-factorial over W, where  $\Delta \in \mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ , which only contracts elements of  $\mathfrak{C}$  and which does not contract every component of S, then

only contracts elements of  $\mathfrak{C}$  and which does not contract every component of S, then there exists an index  $1 \leq i \leq k$  such that, after shrinking Y and U around W suitably, the induced bimeromorphic map  $\xi: Z_i \dashrightarrow Z$  is an isomorphism in a neighborhood of the strict transform of S.

**Theorem C** (Existence of log terminal models, [BCHM, Theorem C]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$ be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal and that  $\Delta$  is big over Y. If there exists an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on X such that  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \ge 0$ , then  $(X, \Delta)$  has a log terminal model over some open neighborhood of W.

**Theorem D** (Nonvanishing theorem, [BCHM, Theorem D]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that Y is Stein. Assume that  $\Delta$  is big over Y and that  $K_X + \Delta$  is pseudo-effective over Y. Let U be any relatively compact Stein open subset of Y. Then there exists a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$  such that  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)} \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \geq 0$ .

**Theorem E** (Finiteness of models, [BCHM, Theorem E]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). We fix a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $A \geq 0$  on X such that the number of the irreducible components of Supp A is finite. Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  which is defined over the rationals. Suppose that there is a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$ . Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there are finitely many bimeromorphic maps  $\psi_j: X \dashrightarrow Z_j$  over Y for  $1 \leq j \leq l$  with the following property. If U is an open neighborhood of W and  $\psi: \pi^{-1}(U) \dashrightarrow Z$  is a weak log canonical model of  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  over W for some  $\Delta \in \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ , then there exists an index  $1 \leq j \leq l$  and an isomorphism  $\xi: Z_j \to Z$  such that  $\psi = \xi \circ \psi_j$  after shrinking Y and U around W suitably.

**Theorem F** (Finite generation, [BCHM, Theorem F]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta = A + B)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair, where  $A \ge 0$  is a  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor and  $B \ge 0$ . We assume that the number of the irreducible components of Supp  $\Delta$  is finite. If  $K_X + \Delta$  is pseudo-effective over Y, then

(1) After shrinking Y around W suitably, the pair  $(X, \Delta)$  has a log terminal model  $\mu: X \dashrightarrow Z$  over Y. In particular if  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier, then the log canonical ring

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

- (2) Let  $V \subset WDiv_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  be the vector space spanned by the components of  $\Delta$ . Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there is a constant  $\delta > 0$  such that if G is a prime divisor contained in the stable base locus of  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y and  $\Xi \in \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  such that  $\|\Xi - \Delta\| < \delta$ , then G is contained in the stable base locus of  $K_X + \Xi$  over Y.
- (3) Let  $V' \subset V$  be the smallest affine subspace of  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  containing  $\Delta$ , which is defined over the rationals. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a constant  $\eta > 0$  and a positive integer r > 0 such that if  $\Xi \in V'$  is any divisor

and k is any positive integer such that  $\|\Xi - \Delta\| < \eta$  and  $k(K_X + \Xi)/r$  is Cartier, then every component of  $Fix(k(K_X + \Xi))$  is a component of the stable base locus of  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y.

1.2. How to prove the main results. The formulation of Theorem C is not appropriate for our inductive treatment of the main results in this paper. Therefore, we prepare a somewhat artificial statement, which is a slight generalization of Theorem C. We will use it instead of Theorem C in the inductive proof of the main results.

**Theorem G** (Existence of good log terminal models). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Assume that  $\pi: X \to Y^{\flat} \to Y$  such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y. Suppose that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal and that  $\Delta$  is big over Y. If there exists an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on X such that  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \geq 0$ , then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a bimeromorphic contraction  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  over  $Y^{\flat}$  such that  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative, Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W,  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over  $Y^{\flat}$ , where  $\Gamma = \phi_* \Delta$ . This means that  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is a good log terminal model of  $(X, \Delta)$  over  $Y^{\flat}$ .

As an obvious remark, we have:

**Remark 1.12.** If we put  $Y^{\flat} = Y$  in Theorem G, then we obtain Theorem C as a special case of Theorem G. Therefore, it is sufficient to prove Theorem G.

Note that Theorem  $A_n$  refers to Theorem A in the case when the dimension of X is n. In [BCHM] and [HacM], Theorem A, Theorem B, Theorem C, Theorem D, Theorem E, and Theorem F were proved by induction on n as follows.

- Theorem  $F_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $A_n$ .
- Theorem  $E_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $B_n$ .
- Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  imply Theorem  $C_n$ .
- Theorem  $D_{n-1}$ , Theorem  $B_n$  and Theorem  $C_n$  imply Theorem  $D_n$ .
- Theorem  $C_n$  and Theorem  $D_n$  imply Theorem  $E_n$ .
- Theorem  $C_n$  and Theorem  $D_n$  imply Theorem  $F_n$ .

Our strategy in this paper is essentially the same as that of [BCHM]. However, it is slightly simpler. We first note that we can easily check:

- Theorem  $D_n$  holds true for arbitrary n.
- Theorem  $G_n$  implies Theorem  $C_n$  for arbitrary n.

Hence it is sufficient to prove Theorem A, Theorem B, Theorem E, Theorem F, and Theorem G by induction on n as follows.

- Theorem  $F_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $A_n$ .
- Theorem  $E_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $B_n$ .
- Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  imply Theorem  $G_n$ .
- Theorem  $G_n$  implies Theorem  $E_n$ .
- Theorem  $G_n$  implies Theorem  $F_n$ .

Although there are some new difficulties, the proof of each step is similar to the original one in [BCHM] and [HacM]. Precisely speaking, we make great efforts to find a suitable formulation in order to make the original proof work with only some minor modifications.

The correct statement of Theorem 1.6 should be:

**Theorem 1.13** (Main theorem). Theorems A, B, C, D, E, F, and G hold true in any dimension.

1.3. Some other results. We have already known that many results follow from [BCHM]. We can prove that some of them hold true even in the complex analytic setting if we take some suitable modifications.

Once we have Theorem G, it is not difficult to prove the existence of kawamata log terminal flips in the complex analytic setting.

**Theorem 1.14** (Existence of kawamata log terminal flips). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair. Let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be a small projective surjective morphism of normal complex varieties. Then the flip  $\varphi^+ \colon X^+ \to Z$  of  $\varphi$  always exists. This means that there exists the following commutative diagram:



where

(1)  $\varphi^+ \colon X^+ \to Z$  is a small projective morphism of normal complex varieties, and

(2)  $K_{X^+} + \Delta^+$  is  $\varphi^+$ -ample, where  $\Delta^+ := \phi_* \Delta$ .

Note that  $(X^+, \Delta^+)$  is automatically a kawamata log terminal pair.

**Remark 1.15.** Theorem 1.14 generalizes Mori's flip theorem (see [Mo3, (0.4.1) Flip Theorem]). Roughly speaking, Mori coarsely classified three-dimensional flipping contractions analytically and checked the existence of three-dimensional terminal flips.

The next one is a result on partial resolutions of singularities for complex varieties.

**Theorem 1.16** (Existence of canonicalizations). Let X be a complex variety. Then there exists a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $f: Z \to X$ , which is the identity map over a nonempty Zariski open subset where X has only canonical singularities, from a normal complex variety Z with only canonical singularities such that  $K_Z$  is f-ample.

If  $K_X + \Delta$  is not pseudo-effective over Y, then we can run the minimal model program with scaling to get a Mori fiber space.

**Theorem 1.17** ([BCHM, Corollary 1.3.3]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and Wsatisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair such that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W. Suppose that  $K_X + \Delta$  is not pseudo-effective over Y. Then we can run a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ minimal model program and finally obtain a Mori fiber space over some open neighborhood of W.

We can prove the finite generation theorem for kawamata log terminal pairs in full generality in the complex analytic setting.

**Theorem 1.18** ([BCHM, Corollary 1.1.2]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair, where  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier, and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces. Then

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

The original algebraic version of Theorem 1.19 below was first obtained in [Fu4] as an application of [BCHM].

**Theorem 1.19** ([Fu4, Theorem 1.3]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism onto a disc  $Y = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\}$  with connected fibers. Assume that  $(K_X + \Delta)|_F \sim_{\mathbb{R}} 0$  holds for an analytically sufficiently general fiber F of  $\pi$ . We further assume that W is a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian and that X is Q-factorial over W. Then we can run the  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over Y in a neighborhood of W with ample scaling. More precisely, we have a finite sequence of flips and divisorial contractions over Y starting from  $(X, \Delta)$ :

$$(X,\Delta) =: (X_0,\Delta_0) \xrightarrow{\varphi_0} (X_1,\Delta_1) \xrightarrow{\varphi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\varphi_{m-1}} (X_m,\Delta_m),$$

where  $\Delta_{i+1} := (\varphi_i)_* \Delta_i$  for every  $i \ge 0$ , such that  $(X_m, \Delta_m)$  is a log terminal model over some open neighborhood of W. Moreover,  $K_{X_m} + \Delta_m \sim_{\mathbb{R}} (\pi_m)^* D$  for some  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on Y after shrinking Y around W suitably, where  $\pi_m \colon X_m \to Y$ . We note that each step  $\varphi_i$  exists only after shrinking Y around W suitably.

**Remark 1.20.** In Theorem 1.19,  $W = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| \le r\}$  for  $0 \le r < 1$  is a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian.

The following theorem is an analytic version of *dlt blow-ups*. In the recent developments of the minimal model theory for higher-dimensional algebraic varieties, dlt blow-ups are very useful and important.

**Theorem 1.21** (Dlt blow-ups, I). Let X be a normal complex variety and let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let U be any relatively compact Stein open subset of X and let V be any relatively compact open subset of U. Then we can take a Stein compact subset W of U such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian,  $V \subset W$ , and, after shrinking X around W suitably, we can construct a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $f: Z \to X$  from a normal complex variety Z with the following properties:

(1) Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W.

- (2)  $a(E, X, \Delta) \leq -1$  for every *f*-exceptional divisor *E* on *Z*, and (3)  $(Z, \Delta_Z^{<1} + \operatorname{Supp} \Delta_Z^{\geq 1})$  is divisorial log terminal, where  $K_Z + \Delta_Z = f^*(K_X + \Delta)$ .

Note that if  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical then  $\Delta_Z = \Delta_Z^{\leq 1} + \operatorname{Supp} \Delta_Z^{\geq 1}$  holds.

We can use Theorem 1.21 for the study of log canonical singularities, which are not necessarily algebraic. The following result is a generalization of Theorem 1.18 for Kähler manifolds. When Y is a point, Theorem 1.22 is [Fu8, Theorem 1.8].

**Theorem 1.22** (Finite generation for Kähler manifolds, see [Fu8]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X to a complex analytic space Y. Let  $\Delta$  be an effective Q-divisor on X such that  $|\Delta| = 0$  and that  $\operatorname{Supp} \Delta$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X. Then

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

The assumption that  $|\Delta| = 0$  holds in Theorem 1.22 is very important. The following conjecture is widely open even when  $\pi: X \to Y$  is a projective morphism between quasiprojective varieties (see [FG2]).

**Conjecture 1.23.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X to a complex analytic space Y. Let  $\Delta$  be a boundary  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X such that  $\operatorname{Supp} \Delta$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X. Then

$$R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

Let X be a normal complex variety and let  $L \subset K$  be compact subsets of X. Assume that X is Q-factorial at K. Unfortunately, however, X is not necessarily Q-factorial at L. Therefore, the following theorem seems to be much more useful than we expected and is indispensable.

**Theorem 1.24** (Small Q-factorializations). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that there exists  $\Delta$  such that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $f: Z \to X$  from a normal complex variety Z such that Z is projective over Y and is Q-factorial over W.

As an obvious corollary of Theorem 1.24, we have:

**Corollary 1.25.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$ be a log terminal model over W. Let W' be a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $W' \subset W$ and that  $\Gamma(W', \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Then there exists a log terminal model  $\phi': X \dashrightarrow Z'$ over W' after shrinking Y around W' suitably.

We further assume that there is an open neighborhood U of W' such that  $U \subseteq W$ . Then  $\phi' \colon X \dashrightarrow Z'$  is a log terminal model over some open neighborhood of W'.

We can also prove:

**Theorem 1.26.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair and let D be an integral Weil divisor on X. Then  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra.

Theorem 1.26 is a complete generalization of [Kaw2, Theorem 6.1] (see also [Fu8, Theorem 7.2]). The next result will be indispensable for further studies of the minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

**Theorem 1.27** (Dlt blow-ups, II). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, we can construct a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $f: Z \to X$  from a normal complex variety Z with the following properties:

(1) Z is projective over Y and is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W,

(2)  $a(E, X, \Delta) \leq -1$  for every f-exceptional divisor E on Z, and

(3)  $(Z, \Delta_Z^{<1} + \operatorname{Supp} \Delta_Z^{\geq 1})$  is divisorial log terminal, where  $K_Z + \Delta_Z = f^*(K_X + \Delta)$ .

We note that  $\Delta_Z = \Delta_Z^{<1} + \operatorname{Supp} \Delta_{\overline{Z}}^{\geq 1}$  holds when  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical.

We can generalize [Kaw5, Theorem 1] as follows.

**Theorem 1.28** (see [Bir2, Corollary 3.3]). Let  $\pi_1: X_1 \to Y$  and  $\pi_2: X_2 \to Y$  be projective morphisms such that Y is Stein and let W be a Stein compact subset of Y such that

 $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Let  $(X_1, \Delta_1)$  and  $(X_2, \Delta_2)$  be two kawamata log terminal pairs such that  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1$  and  $K_{X_2} + \Delta_2$  are nef over W,  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W,  $X_1$ and  $X_2$  are isomorphic in codimension one, and  $\Delta_2$  is the strict transform of  $\Delta_1$ . Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are connected by a sequence of flops with respect to  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1$ .

**Remark 1.29.** Precisely speaking, the proof of Theorem 1.28 shows that there exists an effective Q-Cartier Q-divisor  $D_1$  on  $X_1$  such that  $(X_1, \Delta_1 + D_1)$  is kawamata log terminal,  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are connected by a finite sequence of flips with respect to  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1 + D_1$ , and  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1$  is numerically trivial over W in each flip.

On the abundance conjecture, we have:

**Theorem 1.30** (Abundance theorem, see Theorem 23.2). Assume that the abundance conjecture holds for projective kawamata log terminal pairs in dimension n.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let Wbe a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Assume that  $K_X + \Delta$ is nef over Y and dim X - dim Y = n. Then  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -semiample over some open neighborhood of W.

**Remark 1.31.** The abundance conjecture for projective kawamata log terminal pairs was completely solved affirmatively in dimension  $\leq 3$ . Therefore, in Theorem 1.30,  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -semiample over some open neighborhood of W when dim  $X - \dim Y \leq 3$ . This result seems to be new even when dim X = 3.

We make some remarks on the proof of our results in this paper.

**Remark 1.32.** We will use the fact that every extremal ray is spanned by a rational curve of low degree (see [BCHM, Theorem 3.8.1] and Theorem 9.2) for the proof of Theorems A, B, C, E, F, and G. Note that in [BCHM] it was only used for the proof of the finiteness of negative extremal rays (see [BCHM, Corollary 3.8.2]). However, it is well known as a part of the cone theorem (see also Theorems 7.2 and 7.3). Therefore, [BCHM] is independent of Mori's bend and break technique, which relies on methods in positive characteristic.

**Remark 1.33.** We can easily reduce Theorem D to the case where Y is a point. In this case, X is projective and then Theorem D becomes a special case of [BCHM, Theorem D].

In [BP, Section 3], Păun proved a slightly weaker version of the nonvanishing theorem for projective varieties (see [BP, Theorem 1.5]). The proof is complex analytic and is independent of the theory of minimal models. By combining it with [CKP, Theorem 0.1 and Corollary 3.3], we can recover the nonvanishing theorem for projective varieties in full generality (see [BCHM, Theorem D]). By adopting this approach, Theorem D in this paper becomes completely independent of the framework of the minimal model program.

Anyway, we can prove Theorem D without any difficulties by using some known results.

**Remark 1.34.** In [CaL], Cascini and Lazić directly proved the finite generation of adjoint rings by using Hironaka's resolution and the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem. Their proof does not use the minimal model program. Then, in [CoL], Corti and Lazić recovered many results on the minimal model program from [CaL, Theorem A]. The author does not know whether this approach works or not in our complex analytic setting.

**Remark 1.35.** In dimension three, some results were formulated and established in the complex analytic setting (see, for example, [Kaw2], [Mo3], and [KM, Chapter 6]). It is

not surprising because the theory of minimal models for 3-folds originally owes to the study of various singularities (see, for example, [Mo1], [Kaw2], and [Mo3]). Although the classification of surface singularities is indispensable for adjunction, we do not need any classifications of higher-dimensional singularities in [BCHM]. Hence, we think that the minimal model program in dimension  $\geq 4$  has been formulated and studied only for algebraic varieties.

We look at the organization of this paper. Section 2 is a long preliminary section, where we will collect and explain some basic definitions and results on complex analytic spaces. We think that the reader can understand that (P4) is reasonable. To the best knowledge of the author, some of the results in this section seem to be new. In Section 3, we will explain singularities of pairs in the complex analytic setting. The definitions of singularities become slightly complicated in the complex analytic setting. In Section 4, we will define Kleiman–Mori cones and establish Kleiman's ampleness criterion in the complex analytic setting. Here, the property (P4) plays a crucial role. Section 5 is a very short section, where we explain only two vanishing theorems. From Section 6 to Section 8, we will establish several basepoint-free theorems, the cone and contraction theorem, and so on, in the complex analytic setting. This part is essentially due to Nakayama (see [Na2]). We note that we have to treat  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors. Therefore, some parts are harder than the classical setting discussed in [Na2]. In Section 9, we will prove that every negative extremal ray is spanned by a rational curve of low degree. Note that we need some result obtained by Mori's bend and break technique, which relies on methods in positive characteristic. The result in this section will play an important role in the subsequent sections. In Sections 11 and 12, we will prepare various basic definitions to establish the main results of this paper. We closely follow the treatment of [BCHM]. However, we have to reformulate some of them in order to make them suitable for our complex analytic setting. Hence we strongly recommend the reader to read these sections carefully. In Section 13, we will explain the minimal model program with scaling in the complex analytic setting in detail. It is very useful for various geometric applications. From Section 14 to Section 19, we will prove Theorems A, B, C, D, E, F, and G. Although there are many technical differences between the original proof for quasi-projective varieties (see [BCHM] and [HacM]) and the one given here in the complex analytic setting, the strategy of the whole proof is the same. In some parts, we will only explain how to modify the original proof in order to make it work in our complex analytic setting. In Section 20, we will prove almost all the theorems given in Section 1. We think that the reader who is familiar with the minimal model program for quasi-projective varieties can understand this section without any difficulties. In the last three sections, we will treat some advanced topics. In Section 21, we will briefly discuss a canonical bundle formula in the complex analytic setting and prove Theorems 1.18 and 1.22. This section needs some deep results on the theory of variations of Hodge structure. Hence the topic in Section 21 is slightly different from the other sections. In Section 22, we will discuss the minimal model program with scaling again. Then we will prove Theorem 1.28 as an easy application. In Section 23, we will explain how to reduce the abundance conjecture for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces to the original abundance conjecture for projective varieties (see Theorem 1.30). Note that we will only treat kawamata log terminal pairs in Section 23. The abundance conjecture for log canonical pairs looks much harder than the one for kawamata log terminal pairs.

As is well known, the recent developments of the theory of minimal models heavily owe to many ideas and results obtained by Shokurov. They are scattered in his papers (see, for example, [Sh1], [Sh2], and [Sh3]). In this paper, we will freely use them without referring to Shokurov's original papers.

Acknowledgments. The author was partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers JP19H01787, JP20H00111, JP21H00974. He would like to thank Hiromichi Takagi for reading the first version of [BCHM] with him at Nagoya in 2006. He thanks Yoshinori Gongyo, Kenta Hashizume, Yuji Odaka, Keisuke Miyamoto, Shigeharu Takayama, and Yuga Tsubouchi very much.

The set of integers (resp. rational numbers, real numbers, complex numbers) is denoted by  $\mathbb{Z}$  (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}$ ). The set of nonnegative integers (resp. positive integers, positive rational numbers, positive real numbers, nonnegative real numbers) is denoted by  $\mathbb{N}$  (resp.  $\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ ,  $\mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ ).

# 2. Preliminaries

In this section, we will collect some basic definitions and explain various standard results. We note that every complex analytic space in this paper is assumed to be *Hausdorff* and *second-countable*. The books [BS], [Fi], and [GuR] are standard references of complex analytic geometry for algebraic geometers. A relatively new book by Noguchi (see [No]) is a very accessible textbook on several complex variables and complex analytic spaces. Demailly's book (see [D]) is also helpful and contains a proof of Grauert's theorem on direct images of coherent sheaves. We will freely use Serre's GAGA principle (see, for example, [Tay, Chapter 13] and [SGA1, Exposé XII]) throughout this paper.

Let us start with the definition of holomorphically convex hulls.

**Definition 2.1** (Holomorphically convex hulls). Let X be an analytic space and let K be a compact subset of X. The holomorphically convex hull  $\widehat{K}$  of K in X is the set

$$\widehat{K} = \left\{ x \in X \ \left| \ |f(x)| \le \sup_{z \in K} |f(z)| \text{ for every } f \in \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \right\}.$$

We note that  $K \subset \widehat{K}$  always holds by definition. A compact subset K of X is said to be holomorphically convex in X if  $\widehat{K} = K$  holds.

Let us recall the definition of *Stein spaces* for the reader's convenience. We note that the analytic space naturally associated to an affine scheme is Stein

**Definition 2.2** (Stein spaces). A complex analytic space X is said to be *Stein* if

- (i) the global sections of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  separate points in X,
- (ii) for each  $x \in X$ , the maximal ideal of  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$  is generated by a set of global sections of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ , and
- (iii) X is holomorphically convex, that is,  $\widehat{K}$  is compact for every compact subset K of X, where  $\widehat{K}$  is the holomorphically convex hull of K in X.

The notion of *Stein compact subsets* plays a crucial role in this paper.

**Definition 2.3** (Stein compact subsets). A compact subset K of a complex analytic space is called *Stein compact* if it admits a fundamental system of Stein open neighborhoods.

The notion of *Oka–Weil domains* is very useful when we construct desired Stein open neighborhoods.

**Definition 2.4** (Oka–Weil domains, see [GuR, Chapter VII, Section A, 2'. Definition]). Let X be a complex analytic space. An *Oka–Weil domain* on X is a relatively compact open subset W such that there exists a holomorphic map  $\varphi$  defined in a neighborhood of  $\overline{W}$ , and with values in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , such that  $\varphi|_W$  is a biholomorphic mapping onto a closed complex analytic subspace of a polydisc in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . We note that W itself is Stein.

By the following lemma, we know that we can find many Stein compact subsets on a given Stein space.

**Lemma 2.5.** Let K be a compact subset of a Stein space X. Let  $\widehat{K}$  be a holomorphically convex hull of K in X Then  $\widehat{K}$  is a Stein compact subset of X.

Proof. Since X is holomorphically convex,  $\widehat{K}$  is a compact subset of X. Let U be any open subset of X with  $\widehat{K} \subset U$ . Then we can take an Oka–Weil domain W of X such that  $\widehat{K} \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset U$  (see [GuR, Chapter VII, Section A, 3. Proposition]). This means that  $\widehat{K}$  admits a fundamental system of Stein open neighborhoods since W is a Stein space. Hence  $\widehat{K}$  is a Stein compact subset of X.

Throughout this paper, we freely use Cartan's Theorems A and B without mentioning it explicitly. We include them here for the reader's convenience.

**Theorem 2.6** (Cartan's Theorems). Let X be a Stein space and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent sheaf on X. Then

- (1) (Cartan's Theorem A).  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{F})$  generates  $\mathcal{F}_x$  at every point  $x \in X$ , and
- (2) (Cartan's Theorem B).  $H^i(X, \mathcal{F}) = 0$  holds for every i > 0.

The following cohomological characterization of Stein spaces is useful and may help algebraic geometers understand the definition of Stein spaces.

**Theorem 2.7.** Let X be a complex analytic space. Then X is Stein if and only if  $H^1(X, \mathcal{F}) = 0$  for every coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on X.

Proof. If X is Stein, then  $H^1(X, \mathcal{F}) = 0$  for every coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on X by Cartan's Theorem B. On the other hand, if  $H^1(X, \mathcal{I}) = 0$  for every coherent ideal sheaf  $\mathcal{I}$  on X, then it is an easy exercise to check that (i) and (ii) in Definition 2.2 hold true. Let K be a compact subset of X. Suppose that the holomorphically convex hull  $\hat{K}$  of K is not compact. Then we can take a discrete sequence  $\{x_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \hat{K}$ . Note that  $V := \{x_k \mid 0 \leq k < \infty\}$  is a closed analytic subspace of X. Hence the defining ideal sheaf  $\mathcal{I}_V$  of V is a coherent sheaf on X. Thus  $H^1(X, \mathcal{I}_V) = 0$  holds by assumption. This implies that the natural map  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X/\mathcal{I}_V)$  is surjective. Therefore, we can take  $f \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  such that  $f(x_n) = n$ . On the other hand,

$$n = |f(x_n)| \le \sup_{x \in K} |f(x)| < \infty$$

for every n since  $x_n \in \widehat{K}$ . This is a contradiction. Thus,  $\widehat{K}$  is always compact, that is, (iii) holds true. We finish the proof.

As an easy consequence of Theorem 2.7, we have:

**Theorem 2.8.** Let  $f: Z \to X$  be a finite morphism between complex analytic spaces. If X is Stein, then so is Z.

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be any coherent sheaf on Z. Since  $f: \mathbb{Z} \to X$  is finite,  $f_*\mathcal{F}$  is coherent and  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}, \mathcal{F}) = H^1(X, f_*\mathcal{F}) = 0$  holds by the Steinness of X. Hence, by Theorem 2.7, Z is Stein.

We have already explained that every Stein space X has many good properties. Unfortunately, however,  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is not noetherian if X does not consist of only finitely many points.

**Example 2.9.** Let X be a Stein space and let  $\{P_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a set of mutually distinct discrete points of X. Then  $Z_n := \{P_n, P_{n+1}, \ldots\}$  can be seen as a closed analytic subspace of X for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $\mathcal{I}_n$  be the defining ideal sheaf of  $Z_n$  on X. It is well known that  $\mathcal{I}_n$  is a coherent sheaf on X. We put  $\mathfrak{a}_n := \Gamma(X, \mathcal{I}_n)$  for every n. Then

$$\mathfrak{a}_0 \subsetneq \mathfrak{a}_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \mathfrak{a}_n \subsetneq \cdots$$

is a strictly increasing sequence of ideals of  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ . This means that  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is not noetherian.

Siu's theorem clarifies the meaning of the condition in (P4).

**Theorem 2.10** ([Si, Theorem 1]). Let K be a Stein compact subset of a complex analytic space X. Then  $K \cap Z$  has only finitely many connected components for any analytic subset Z which is defined over an open neighborhood of K if and only if

$$\mathcal{O}_X(K) = \Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_Y) = \varinjlim_{K \subset U} \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_X),$$

where U runs through all the open neighborhoods of K, is noetherian.

*Proof.* For the details, see, for example, [BS, Chapter V, §3].

One point is a Stein compact subset satisfying (P4).

**Example 2.11.** Let X be a complex analytic space and let P be any point of X. Then P is a Stein compact subset of X and  $\mathcal{O}_{X,P} = \Gamma(P, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian.

The Cantor set is a Stein compact subset which does not satisfy (P4).

**Example 2.12.** We note that  $\mathbb{C}$  is Stein and that any open subset of  $\mathbb{C}$  is also Stein since it is holomorphically convex. We put  $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 2\}$  and consider the Cantor set  $\mathcal{C}$ . It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{C} (\subset [0, 1] \subset X)$  is a Stein compact subset of X and that X is Stein. We can easily check that for any given  $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{C}$  there exists  $x_3 \notin \mathcal{C}$  with  $x_3 \in [x_1, x_2]$ . Hence  $\mathcal{C}$  does not satisfy (P4). Thus,  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is not noetherian by Theorem 2.10. More explicitly, we put

$$\mathfrak{a}_{n} := \left\{ f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \mid f(z) = 0 \text{ for any } z \in \mathcal{C} \cap \left[0, \frac{1}{3^{n}}\right] \right\}$$

for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then we can check that  $\mathfrak{a}_n \subsetneq \mathfrak{a}_{n+1}$  holds for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, we get a strictly increasing sequence of ideals of  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{O}_X)$ :

 $\mathfrak{a}_0 \subsetneq \mathfrak{a}_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \mathfrak{a}_n \subsetneq \cdots$ 

This implies that  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is not noetherian.

We supplement Theorem 2.8.

**Theorem 2.13.** Let  $f: Z \to X$  be a finite morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is Stein. Let K be a Stein compact subset of X such that  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. Then  $f^{-1}(K)$  is a Stein compact subset of Z such that  $\Gamma(f^{-1}(K), \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian.

Proof. Since f is finite,  $f^{-1}(K)$  is a compact subset of Z. Let  $\{U_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be a fundamental system of Stein open neighborhoods of K. By Theorem 2.8, Z is Stein and  $f^{-1}(U_{\lambda})$  is also Stein for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . Hence  $\{f^{-1}(U_{\lambda})\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  is a fundamental system of Stein open neighborhoods of  $f^{-1}(K)$ . On the other hand, since f is finite,  $f_*\mathcal{O}_Z$  is a coherent sheaf on X. By the Stein compactness of K, there exist a Stein open neighborhood U of K and a surjection

$$\mathcal{O}_U^{\oplus N} \to f_*\mathcal{O}_Z|_U \to 0$$

for some positive integer N. This implies the surjection

$$\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_X)^{\oplus N} \to \Gamma(K, f_*\mathcal{O}_Z) \to 0.$$

Hnece  $\Gamma(K, f_*\mathcal{O}_Z)$  is a finitely generated  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_X)$ -module. We note that  $\Gamma(K, f_*\mathcal{O}_Z) = \Gamma(f^{-1}(K), \mathcal{O}_Z)$  and that  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. Thus,  $\Gamma(f^{-1}(K), \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian. This means that  $f^{-1}(K)$  is a Stein compact subset of Z such that  $\Gamma(f^{-1}(K), \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian.

**Remark 2.14.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). As an easy consequence of Theorems 2.8 and 2.13, we usually may assume that  $\pi$  is surjective and that Y is a Stein variety by replacing Y with  $\pi(X)$ . For some purposes, we sometimes replace Y with its normalization and further assume that Y is a normal Stein variety. By taking the Stein factorization of  $\pi: X \to Y$ , we sometimes further assume that  $\pi$  has connected fibers and that Y is a normal Stein variety, that is,  $\pi: X \to Y$  is a contraction of normal complex varieties.

We note:

**Definition 2.15.** A proper morphism  $\pi: X \to Y$  of normal complex varieties is called a *contraction* if  $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$  holds.

When we enlarge a given Stein compact subset satisfying (P4) slightly, we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.16.** Let X be a Stein space and let K be a holomorphically convex compact subset of X. If U is any open neighborhood of K, then there exists an Oka-Weil domain V, defined by global holomorphic functions on X, such that  $K \subset V \subset$  $\overline{V} \subset U$ . Note that V can be seen as a closed complex analytic subspace of a polydisc  $\Delta(0,r) = \{(z_1,\ldots,z_n) \mid |z_i| < r \text{ for } 1 \leq i \leq n\}$  for some r > 0 and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ . We put  $L := V \cap \overline{\Delta}(0,r-\varepsilon)$  with  $0 < \varepsilon < r$ . Then L is compact, semianalytic, and holomorphically convex in V. In particular, L is a Stein compact subset such that  $\Gamma(L, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. Furthermore, if U' is a relatively compact open neighborhood of K in X, then we can choose U, V, and L such that

$$K \subset U' \subset L \subset V \subset \overline{V} \subset U \subset X$$

holds.

Proof. For the existence of a desired Oka–Weil domain V, see, for example, [GuR, Chapter VII, Section A, 3. Proposition]. By definition, L is obviously compact and semianalytic. Since L is defined by  $|z_1| \leq r - \varepsilon, \ldots, |z_n| \leq r - \varepsilon$  such that  $z_i \in \Gamma(V, \mathcal{O}_V)$  for every i, it is easy to see that L is holomorphically convex in V. By Lemma 2.5, L is Stein compact. Since L is compact and semianalytic, it is well known that L satisfies (P4) (see, for example, [BM1, Corollary 2.7 (2)]). Thus,  $\Gamma(L, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian by Theorem 2.10.

Or, by applying [Fr, Théorème (I,9)] to L, we obtain that  $\Gamma(L, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. By the above construction, the last statement is obvious.

We frequently use the following property of coherent sheaves on complex analytic spaces. Lemma 2.17. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent sheaf on a complex analytic space X and let

$$\mathcal{F}_0 \subset \mathcal{F}_1 \subset \mathcal{F}_2 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{F}$$

be an increasing chain of coherent subsheaves. Then this chain is stationary over any relatively compact subset of X.

*Proof.* See, for example, [Fi, 0.40. Proposition and Corollary].

Note that the arguments in [Kau, §2 Basic theorems on coherent  $\mathcal{O}$ -modules] work for Stein compact subsets K satisfying (P4) with obvious modifications.

**Definition 2.18** ( $\mathcal{O}_X$ -exhaustions, see [Kau, 2.9 Definition]). Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module on a complex analytic space X. An  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -exhaustion of  $\mathcal{M}$  is an increasing sequence

 $\mathcal{M}_0 \subset \mathcal{M}_1 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{M}_k \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{M}$ 

of coherent sub- $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules such that  $\mathcal{M} = \bigcup_k \mathcal{M}_k$ .

**Lemma 2.19** (see [Kau, 2.10 Proposition]). Let K be a Stein compact subset of a complex analytic space X such that  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. Let  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{M}'$  be  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules on X which admit  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -exhaustions. If  $\phi \colon \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}'$  is a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -homomorphism, then the induced map  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{M}) \to \Gamma(K, \mathcal{M}')$  is surjective.

*Proof.* For the details, see the proof of [Kau, 2.10 Proposition]. Although K is a polydisc in [Kau], the proof of [Kau, 2.10 Proposition] works in our setting.  $\Box$ 

Since we are working on complex analytic spaces, we note:

**Remark 2.20.** Let  $\mathcal{F}_m$  be a coherent sheaf on a complex analytic space X for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then the natural map

$$\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\Gamma(X,\mathcal{F}_m)\to\Gamma\left(X,\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\mathcal{F}_m\right)$$

is not necessarily an isomorphism. Fortunately,

$$\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\Gamma(K,\mathcal{F}_m)\simeq\Gamma\left(K,\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\mathcal{F}_m\right)$$

holds for any compact subset K of X.

**Example 2.21.** Let X be a noncompact complex analytic space and let  $\{x_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a discrete sequence of X. Let  $\mathbb{C}(x_m) := (i_{x_m})_*\mathbb{C}$  be a skyscraper sheaf, where  $i_{x_m} : x_m \hookrightarrow X$  is the inclusion map. Then  $\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\mathbb{C}(x_m)$  is a coherent sheaf on X. In this case,

$$\Gamma\left(X,\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\mathbb{C}(x_m)\right) = \prod_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\mathbb{C} = \prod_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\Gamma(X,\mathbb{C}(x_m)).$$

Hence, the natural map

$$\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \Gamma(X, \mathbb{C}(x_m)) \to \Gamma\left(X, \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{C}(x_m)\right)$$

is not an isomorphism.

In this paper, we will have to treat graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras on a complex analytic spaces. So we prepare some definitions and basic properties.

**Definition 2.22** (see [Na3, Chapter II. §1. b. Spec and Proj]). Let X be a complex analytic space and let  $\mathbb{C}[x] = \mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_l]$  be the polynomial ring of *l*-variables  $x = (x_1, \dots, x_l)$ . An  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *of finite presentation* if there exists a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_X[x] = \mathcal{O}_X[x_1, \cdots, x_l] = \mathcal{O}_X \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}[x] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}$$

for some l whose kernel is generated by a finite number of polynomials belonging to  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)[x]$ . If  $\mathcal{A}|_{U_{\lambda}}$  is of finite presentation for an open covering  $X = \bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} U_{\lambda}$ , then  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *locally of finite presentation*.

The notion of locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras is indispensable.

**Definition 2.23** (Locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras). Let X be a complex analytic space. An  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_m$  is called a *finitely generated graded*  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra if there exists a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_X[x] = \mathcal{O}_X[x_1, \cdots, x_l] = \mathcal{O}_X \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}[x] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}$$

for some l such that  $x_i$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{A})$  for every i. If  $\mathcal{A}|_{U_{\lambda}}$  is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_{U_{\lambda}}$ -algebra for some open covering  $X = \bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} U_{\lambda}$ , then  $\mathcal{A}$  is called a *locally finitely generated graded*  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra.

We note the following basic property of locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras.

**Lemma 2.24** (see [Na3, Chapter II. 1.6. Corollary]). Let X be a complex analytic space and let  $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_m$  be a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra such that  $\mathcal{A}_m$  are all coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules. Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is locally of finite presentation.

Before we prove Lemma 2.24, we note:

**Remark 2.25.** Any locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_m$  in this paper satisfies the condition that  $\mathcal{A}_m$  is a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . We do not treat the case where  $\mathcal{A}_m$  is not a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module.

Let us prove Lemma 2.24.

Proof of Lemma 2.24. We take an arbitrary point  $P \in X$  and replace X with a small Stein open neighborhood of P. Then we have an exact sequence

$$\phi \colon \mathcal{O}_X[x] \to \mathcal{A} \to 0$$

for  $x = (x_1, \dots, x_l)$  such that  $x_i$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{A})$  for every *i*. We take a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood *U* of *P* and a Stein compact subset *K* of *Y* such that  $U \subset K$  and  $\Gamma(K, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Then

$$\phi(K) \colon \mathcal{O}_X(K)[x] \to \mathcal{A}(K) \to 0$$

is exact by Lemma 2.19. Since  $\mathcal{O}_X(K)$  is noetherian, the kernel of  $\phi(K)$  is generated by weighted homogeneous polynomials  $f_1, \ldots, f_N$  in  $\mathcal{O}_X(K)[x]$ . Hence we obtain a Stein open neighborhood U' of K and a homomorphism

$$\psi := (f_1, \cdots, f_N) \colon \bigoplus_{i=1}^N \mathcal{O}_{U'}[x](-\deg f_i) \to \mathcal{O}_{U'}[x]$$

of graded  $\mathcal{O}_{U'}[x]$ -modules such that the image of  $\psi(K)$  is  $(\text{Ker }\phi)(K)$ . By construction, there exists the following natural surjection

$$\alpha_m \colon (\operatorname{Coker} \psi)_m \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}_m|_{U'}$$

for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $(\operatorname{Coker} \psi)_m$  is the degree m part of  $\operatorname{Coker} \psi$ . By construction again, we can check that  $(\operatorname{Coker} \psi)_m(K) \simeq \mathcal{A}_m(K)$  holds for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies that the kernel of  $\alpha_m$  is zero on U. Hence  $\mathcal{A}|_U$  is of finite presentation. Therefore,  $\mathcal{A}$  is locally of finite presentation.  $\Box$ 

The lemma below is important and will be used repeatedly without mentioning it explicitly. The proof is much harder than that of the corresponding statement for algebraic varieties (see [ADHL, Corollary 1.1.2.6]).

**Lemma 2.26.** Let X be a complex analytic space and let  $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_m$  be a graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra such that  $\mathcal{A}_m$  is a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module for every m and  $\mathcal{A}(U)$  is an integral domain for every nonempty connected open subset U of X. We put  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)} := \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_{dm}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra if and only if so is  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)}$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\mathcal{O}_X(U)$  is not necessarily noetherian, the proof is not so obvious.

**Step 1.** We assume that  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)}$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra. We take an arbitrary point  $P \in X$ . By shrinking X around P, there exists a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra homomorphism

(2.1) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X[x] = \mathcal{O}_X[x_1, \cdots, x_l] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{(d)}$$

for some l such that  $x_i$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{A}^{(d)})$  for every i. We take an open neighborhood U of  $P \in X$  and a Stein compact subset K of X such that  $P \in U \subset K$  and that K satisfies (P4). Without loss of generality, we may assume that K is connected. Since  $\mathcal{O}_X[x_1, \cdots, x_l]$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)}$  admit  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -exhaustions, we obtain the surjection

(2.2) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X(K)[x_1,\cdots,x_l] \to \mathcal{A}^{(d)}(K) \to 0$$

induced by (2.1). This means that  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)}(K)$  is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X(K)$ -algebra. Note that  $\mathcal{O}_X(K)$  is noetherian and that  $\mathcal{A}(K)$  is an integral domain. Therefore, we see that  $\mathcal{A}(K)$  is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}(K)$ -algebra (see, for example, [CaL, Lemma 2.25 (ii)] and [ADHL, Proposition 1.1.2.5]). Since K is a Stein compact subset, for any nonnegative integer m,  $\mathcal{A}_m(K)$  generates  $\mathcal{A}_{m,x}$  for every  $x \in K$ . Hence we can find a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_U$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_U[y] = \mathcal{O}_U[y_1, \cdots, y_k] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}|_U$$

for some k such that  $y_j$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(U, \mathcal{A})$  for every j. This means that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra.

**Step 2.** As in Step 1, we take an arbitrary point  $P \in X$  and shrink X around P. Then there exists a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra homomorphism

(2.3) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X[x] = \mathcal{O}_X[x_1, \cdots, x_l] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}$$

for some l such that  $x_i$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{A})$  for every i. In this case, it is easy to see that there exists a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_X[y] = \mathcal{O}_X[y_1, \cdots, y_k] \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{(d)}$$

for some k such that  $y_j$  is mapped to a homogeneous element of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{A}^{(d)})$  for every j (see, for example, [CaL, Lemma 2.25 (i)] and [ADHL, Proposition 1.1.2.4]). Hence  $\mathcal{A}^{(d)}$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra.

We finish the proof.

In order to construct flips and log canonical models in the category of complex analytic spaces, we need the notion of Projan. For the details of Projan, see [Na3, §1.b. Spec and Proj].

**Remark 2.27** (Projan). Let X be a complex analytic space and let  $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_m$  be a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra such that  $\mathcal{A}_m$  is a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules for every m. Then we can define an analytic space  $\operatorname{Projan}_X \mathcal{A}$  which is proper over X. More generally, we can define  $\operatorname{Projan}_X \mathcal{A}$  under a weaker assumption that  $\mathcal{A}$  is locally of finite presentation. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module. We note that  $\operatorname{Projan}_X \operatorname{Sym} \mathcal{F}$  is usually denoted by  $\mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{F})$ , where  $\operatorname{Sym} \mathcal{F} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{Sym}^m \mathcal{F}$ .

Now we can define projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

**Definition 2.28.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism of complex analytic spaces and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle on X. Then  $\mathcal{L}$  is said to be  $\pi$ -very ample or relatively very ample over Y if  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -free, that is,  $\pi^*\pi_*\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}$  is surjective, and the induced morphism  $X \to \mathbb{P}_Y(f_*\mathcal{L})$  over Y is a closed embedding. A line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X is called  $\pi$ -ample or ample over Y if for any point  $y \in Y$  there are an open neighborhood U of y and a positive integer m such that  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is relatively very ample over U. Let D be a Cartier divisor on X. Then we say that D is  $\pi$ -very ample,  $\pi$ -free, and  $\pi$ -ample if the line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is so, respectively. We note that  $\pi$  is said to be projective when there exists a  $\pi$ -ample line bundle on X.

For the basic properties of  $\pi$ -ample line bundles, see [BS, Chapter IV] and [Na3, Chapter II. §1. c. Ample line bundles].

**Definition 2.29** (Semiampleness). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism of complex analytic spaces and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle on X. If there exist an open covering  $Y = \bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} U_{\lambda}$  and positive integers  $m_{\lambda}$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m_{\lambda}}|_{\pi^{-1}(U_{\lambda})}$  is  $\pi|_{\pi^{-1}(U_{\lambda})}$ -free for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , then  $\mathcal{L}$  is called  $\pi$ -semiample or relatively semiample over Y. Let D be a Cartier divisor on X. If  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -semiample, then D is called  $\pi$ -semiample or relatively semiample over Y.

Here, we recall the precise definition of *bimeromorphic maps* for the sake of completeness.

**Definition 2.30** (Meromorphic maps). A meromorphic map  $f: X \to Y$  of complex analytic varieties is defined by the graph  $\Gamma_f \subset X \times Y$  such that  $\Gamma_f$  is a subvariety of  $X \times Y$ and that the first projection is an isomorphism over a Zariski open dense subset of X. Note that a Zariski open subset is the complement of an analytic subset. If further the second projection  $\Gamma_f \to Y$  is proper and is an isomorphism over a Zariski open dense subset of Y, then  $f: X \to Y$  is called a bimeromorphic map. We say that a bimeromorphic map  $f: X \to Y$  of normal complex varieties is a bimeromorphic contraction if  $f^{-1}$  does not contract any divisors. If in addition  $f^{-1}$  is also a bimeromorphic contraction, then we say that f is a small bimeromorphic map. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a bimeromorphic morphism of complex varieties, equivalently,  $f: X \to Y$  is a bimeromorphic map of normal complex varieties and the first projection  $\Gamma_f \to X$  is an isomorphism. Then, we put  $\operatorname{Exc}(f) := \{x \in X \mid f \text{ is not an isomorphism at } x\}$  and call it the exceptional locus of f.

**Remark 2.31.** Let X be a complex analytic space and let U be a Zariski open subset of X. Let V be a Zariski open subset of U. Unfortunately, V is not necessarily a Zariski open subset of X. This is because the analytic subset  $\Gamma := U \setminus V$  of U can not always be extended to an analytic subset of X.

In this paper, we discuss the minimal model program. Therefore, we need  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors and  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors.

**Definition 2.32** (Divisors,  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors, and  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors). Let X be a normal complex variety. A *prime divisor* on X is an irreducible and reduced closed subvariety of codimension one. An  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on X is a formal sum

$$D = \sum_{i} a_i D_i,$$

where  $D_i$  is a prime divisor on X with  $D_i \neq D_j$  for  $i \neq j$ ,  $a_i \in \mathbb{R}$  for every i, and the support

$$\operatorname{Supp} D := \bigcup_{a_i \neq 0} D_i$$

is a closed analytic subset of X. In other words, the formal sum  $\sum_i a_i D_i$  is locally finite. If  $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$  (resp.  $a_i \in \mathbb{Q}$ ) for every *i*, then D is called a *divisor* (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*divisor*) on X. Note that a divisor is sometimes called an *integral Weil divisor* in order to emphasize the condition that  $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$  for every *i*. If  $0 \leq a_i \leq 1$  (resp.  $a_i \leq 1$ ) holds for every *i*, then an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D is called a *boundary* (resp. *subboundary*)  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor.

Let  $D = \sum_{i} a_i D_i$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $D_i$  is a prime divisor for every *i* with  $D_i \neq D_j$  for  $i \neq j$ . The round-down  $\lfloor D \rfloor$  of D is defined to be the divisor

$$\lfloor D \rfloor = \sum_{i} \lfloor a_i \rfloor D_i.$$

The round-up and the fractional part of D are defined to be

$$\lceil D \rceil := -\lfloor -D \rfloor$$
, and  $\{D\} := D - \lfloor D \rfloor$ ,

respectively. We put

$$D^{=1} = \sum_{a_i=1} D_i, \quad D^{<1} := \sum_{a_i<1} a_i D_i, \text{ and } D^{\geq 1} := \sum_{a_i\geq 1} a_i D_i.$$

We sometimes use

$$D_{+} := \sum_{a_{i}>0} a_{i} D_{i}, \text{ and } D_{-} := -\sum_{a_{i}<0} a_{i} D_{i} \ge 0.$$

By definition,  $D = D_+ - D_-$  holds.

Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X and let x be a point of X. If D is written as a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear) combination of Cartier divisors on some open neighborhood of x, then D is said to be  $\mathbb{R}$ -*Cartier at* x (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*Cartier at* x). If D is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier) at x for every  $x \in X$ , then D is said to be  $\mathbb{R}$ -*Cartier* (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*Cartier*). Note that a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D is automatically a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor by definition. If D is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear) combination of Cartier divisors on X, then we sometimes say that D is a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -*Cartier*  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor (resp. globally  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*Cartier*  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor).

Example 2.33 below shows a big difference between divisors on algebraic varieties and those on complex analytic spaces.

**Example 2.33** (Weierstrass). Let D be a divisor on  $\mathbb{C}$ . We note that Supp D may be any discrete subset of  $\mathbb{C}$ . By the classical Weierstrass theorem, we can construct a meromorphic function f on  $\mathbb{C}$  such that div(f) = D.

**Definition 2.34.** Let X be a normal variety. A real vector space spanned by the prime divisors on X is denoted by  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . It has a canonical basis given by the prime divisors. Let D be an element of  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . Then the sup norm of D with respect to this basis is denoted by ||D||. Note that an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D is an element of  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  if and only if  $\operatorname{Supp} D$  has only finitely many irreducible components.

We need the notion of semiample Q-divisors.

**Definition 2.35** (Relatively semiample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal variety. A  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor D on X is called a  $\pi$ -semiample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X if it is a finite  $\mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ -linear combination of  $\pi$ -semiample Cartier divisors on X.

The following lemma is very important.

**Lemma 2.36.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal complex variety and let D be a  $\pi$ -semiample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X. Then  $\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor mD \rfloor)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. In particular, if  $\mathcal{L}$ is a  $\pi$ -ample line bundle on X, then  $\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \pi_*\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

*Proof.* Throughout this proof, we fix a point  $y \in Y$  and repeatedly shrink Y around y. In Step 1, we will reduce the problem to the case where  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. In Step 2, we will prove the desired finite generation.

Step 1. By shrinking Y around y, we may assume that there exists a positive integer d such that  $\mathcal{O}_X(dD)$  is  $\pi$ -free. By Lemma 2.26, we may further assume that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -free by replacing D with dD. We consider a contraction morphism over Y associated to  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ and take the Stein factorization. Then there exist a contraction morphism  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$ over Y with  $\varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$  and some  $\pi_Z$ -ample line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on Z, where  $\pi_Z \colon Z \to Y$  is the structure morphism, such that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D) \simeq \varphi^*\mathcal{L}$ . Since  $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \simeq (\pi_Z)_*\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$  holds for every m, we may further assume that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -ample by replacing X and  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ with Z and  $\mathcal{L}$ , respectively.

**Step 2.** From now on, we assume that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. By Lemma 2.26, we may further assume that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  is  $\pi$ -very ample. Therefore, after shrinking Y around y suitably, there exists the following commutative diagram



such that  $\mathcal{O}_X(D) \simeq \iota^* p_2^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^N}(1)$ . We put  $\mathcal{N} := p_2^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^N}(1)$ . Then there exists a positive integer  $m_0$  such that  $(p_1)_* \mathcal{N}^{\otimes m} \to \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is surjective for every  $m \geq m_0$ . We note that

$$(p_1)_*\mathcal{N}^{\otimes m}\simeq (p_1)_*p_2^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^N}(1)\simeq \mathcal{O}_Y[X_0,\cdots,X_N]_m,$$

where  $\mathcal{O}_Y[X_0, \dots, X_N]_m$  is the degree *m* part of  $\mathcal{O}_Y[X_0, \dots, X_N]$ . Since  $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -module for every  $0 \leq m < m_0$ , after replacing *Y* with a small Stein open

neighborhood of y if necessary, we see that there is a surjective  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_Y[X_0,\cdots,X_N,X_{N+1},\cdots,X_{N+M}] \twoheadrightarrow \bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD)$$

for some M such that each  $X_i$  is mapped to an element of  $H^0(Y, \pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(m_iD))$  for some  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$ . This means that  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra.

By Step 1 and Step 2,  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor mD \rfloor)$  and  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_* \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$  are both locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebras.

For almost all applications, we may assume that any  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor has finitely many components by the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.37.** Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor) on a normal complex variety X. Let U be any relatively compact open subset of X. Then D is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear ( $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear) combination of Cartier divisors in a neighborhood of  $\overline{U}$ , that is, D is a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor (globally  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor) in a neighborhood of  $\overline{U}$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that D is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of prime divisors by shrinking X. We write  $D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i D_i$ , where  $a_i \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $D_i$  is a prime divisor for every i with  $D_i \neq D_j$  for  $i \neq j$ . We consider the following  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space

$$V = \{x_1 D_1 + \dots + x_k D_k \mid x_i \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for every } i\} \simeq \mathbb{R}^k.$$

We take an arbitrary point  $x \in X$ . Then there exists an open neighborhood  $U_x$  of x such that  $D|_{U_x}$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors. Hence we can find an affine subspace  $V^x$  of V defined over the rationals such that  $D \in V^x$  and that any member of  $V^x$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier in a neighborhood of x. Since U is relatively compact, there exists an affine subspace  $\Sigma$  of V defined over the rationals such that  $D \in \Sigma$  and that every element of  $\Sigma$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier in a neighborhood of  $\overline{U}$ . Hence, by the standard argument, we can write D as a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors in a neighborhood of  $\overline{U}$ . When D is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor, it can be written as a finite  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors in a neighborhood of  $\overline{U}$ . Thus, we get the desired statement.

The definition of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factoriality is very subtle.

**Definition 2.38** (Q-factoriality, see [Na2, Definition 4.13]). Let X be a normal complex variety and let K be a compact subset of X. Then X is said to be Q-factorial at K if every prime divisor defined on an open neighborhood U of K is Q-Cartier at any point  $x \in K$ .

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism and let W be a compact subset of Y. If X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial at  $\pi^{-1}(W)$ , then we usually say that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W.

**Remark 2.39.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism and let W be a compact subset of Y. We take a compact subset W' of Y with  $W' \subset W$ . It is very important to note that X is not necessarily Q-factorial over W' even if X is Q-factorial over W. This is because there may exist a divisor defined over an open neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(W')$  which can not be extended to a divisor defined over an open neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(W)$ .

We adopt the following definition of *linear*,  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*linear*, and  $\mathbb{R}$ -*linear equivalences* in this paper. Although it may be somewhat artificial, it is sufficient for our minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

**Definition 2.40** (Linear,  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear, and  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear equivalences). Two  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are said to be *linearly equivalent* if  $D_1 - D_2$  is a principal Cartier divisor. The linear equivalence is denoted by  $D_1 \sim D_2$ . Two  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are said to be  $\mathbb{R}$ -linearly equivalent (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linearly equivalent) if  $D_1 - D_2$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linearly combination of principal Cartier divisors. When  $D_1$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -linearly (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linearly) equivalent to  $D_2$ , we write  $D_1 \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D_2$  (resp.  $D_1 \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} D_2$ ).

**Example 2.41.** Let X be a noncompact complex manifold with dim X = 1. Then it is known that X is always Stein. We assume that  $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}) = 0$  holds. Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that Supp D is finite. Then  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} 0$ , that is, D is  $\mathbb{R}$ -linearly trivial. On the other hand, if Supp D is not finite, then D is not necessarily  $\mathbb{R}$ -linearly trivial in the sense of Definition 2.40. As in Example 2.33, if D is an integral Weil divisor on X, then  $D \sim 0$  always holds.

We will use the following lemma in the proof of Theorem F (3).

**Lemma 2.42** (see [Kaw2, Lemma 1.12] and [Na3, Chapter II. 2.12. Lemma]). Let X be a normal complex variety with only rational singularities and let K be a compact subset of X. Let  $D_i$  be an integral Weil divisor on X such that  $D_i$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier at K for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . Then there exists a positive integer m such that  $mD_i$  is Cartier on some open neighborhood of K for every  $1 \leq i \leq k$ .

Proof. We take an arbitrary point  $x \in K$ . By [Na3, Chapter II. 2.12. Lemma] (see [Kaw2, Lemma 1.12]), there exists a positive integer  $m_x$  such that  $m_x D_i$  is Cartier at x for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . This means that there exists an open neighborhood  $U_x$  of x such that  $m_x D_i$  is Cartier on  $U_x$  for every  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . Since K is compact, we can take a positive integer m and an open neighborhood U of K such that  $mD_i$  is Cartier for every  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . This is what we wanted.

In this paper, we usually consider the case where the base space Y is Stein and the morphism  $\pi: X \to Y$  is projective. In this setting, we have many good properties.

**Remark 2.43.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a normal complex variety X to a Stein space Y. We take a  $\pi$ -ample line bundle  $\mathcal{A}$  on X. Let  $\omega_X$  be the canonical sheaf of X (see Definition 3.1 below). Since there exists a sufficiently large positive integer m such that  $H^0(X, \omega_X \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes m}) \sim H^0(Y, \pi, (\omega_X \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes m})) \neq 0$ 

and

$$(11, \omega_X \otimes \mathcal{V} \mathcal{V}) = 11 \quad (1, \pi_*(\omega_X \otimes \mathcal{V} \mathcal{V})))$$

$$H^0(X, \mathcal{A}^{\otimes m}) \simeq H^0(Y, \pi_*\mathcal{A}^{\otimes m}) \neq 0,$$

we can always take a Weil divisor  $K_X$  on X satisfying  $\omega_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$ . As usual, we call it the *canonical divisor* of X. More generally, let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle (resp. reflexive sheaf of rank one) on X. By the same argument as above, we can take a Cartier (resp. Weil) divisor D on X such that  $\mathcal{L} \simeq \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ .

**2.44** (Ample, semiample, big, pseudo-effective, and nef  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors). In our framework of the minimal model program for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces, we have to use  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors. Hence we need the following definitions: Definitions 2.45, 2.46, 2.47, and 2.48. We state them explicitly here for the sake of completeness.

**Definition 2.45** (Ample and semiample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors and  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors, see Definition 2.35). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces. A finite  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ -linear (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ -linear) combination of  $\pi$ -ample Cartier divisors is called a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ divisor (resp.  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor). A finite  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ -linear (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ -linear) combination of

 $\pi$ -semiample Cartier divisors is called a  $\pi$ -semiample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor (resp.  $\pi$ -semiample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor).

In this paper, we adopt the following definition of big  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors.

**Definition 2.46** (Bigness). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal complex variety. When Y is Stein, an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D is said to be *big over* Y or  $\pi$ -*big* if  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} A + B$ , where A is a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor and B is an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor. In general, if  $D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is big over U for any Stein open subset of Y, then D is said to be *big over* Y or  $\pi$ -*big*. We note that D is not necessarily  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier.

**Definition 2.47** (Pseudo-effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal complex variety. An  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ divisor D on X is said to be *pseudo-effective over* Y or  $\pi$ -*pseudo-effective* if D + A is big over Y for every  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor A on X.

**Definition 2.48** (Nefness). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal complex variety and let W be a compact subset of Y. Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. If  $D \cdot C \geq 0$  for every projective integral curve C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point, then D is said to be  $\pi$ -nef or nef over Y. If  $D \cdot C \geq 0$  for every projective integral curve C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point of W, then D is said to be nef over W or  $\pi$ -nef over W.

Let us recall the definition of *analytically meagre subsets*. As we saw in Remark 2.31, the notion of Zariski open subsets does not work well in the category of complex analytic spaces. So we frequently have to use analytically meagre subsets.

**Definition 2.49** (Analytically meagre subsets). A subset S of a complex analytic space X is said to be *analytically meagre* if

$$\mathcal{S} \subset \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} Y_n,$$

where each  $Y_n$  is a locally closed analytic subset of X of codimension  $\geq 1$ .

**Definition 2.50** (Analytically sufficiently general points and fibers). Let X be a complex analytic space. We say that a property P holds for an analytically sufficiently general point  $x \in X$  when P holds for every point x contained in  $X \setminus S$  for some analytically meagre subset S of X.

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a morphism of analytic spaces. Similarly, we say that a property P holds for an *analytically sufficiently general fiber* of  $f: X \to Y$  when P holds for  $f^{-1}(y)$  for every  $y \in Y \setminus S$ , where S is some analytically meagre subset of Y.

We sometimes use the notion of general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors.

**Definition 2.51.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a normal variety X to a Stein space Y. Let A be a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X. We say that A is a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X if there exist

- (i) a large and divisible positive integer k such that kA is  $\pi$ -very ample,
- (ii) a finite-dimensional linear subspace V of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(kA))$  which generates  $\mathcal{O}_X(kA)$ , and
- (iii) some analytically meagre subset  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\Lambda := (V \setminus \{0\})/\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ ,

such that  $A = \frac{1}{k}A'$  for some  $A' \in \Lambda \setminus \mathcal{S}$ . Note that  $\Lambda \simeq \mathbb{P}^N$  for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Remark 2.52.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a normal complex variety X to a Stein space Y. Let  $\sigma: Z \to X$  be a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety Z and let  $\Sigma$  be a simple normal crossing divisor on Z. Let  $\{p_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a set of points of X. Let A be a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor in the sense of Definition 2.51. Then, by Bertini's theorem (see [Man, (II.5) Theorem] and [Fu11, Theorem 3.2]), we may assume that  $\sigma_*^{-1}A = \sigma^*A$  holds,  $\Sigma + A'$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on Z, where  $A = \frac{1}{k}A'$  as in Definition 2.51, and  $p_i \notin \text{Supp } A$  for every i, and so on.

The final result in this section is a very useful lemma. We will repeatedly use this lemma in the subsequent sections.

**Lemma 2.53** ([BCHM, Lemma 3.2.1] and [HasH, Lemma 2.10]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex varieties such that X is normal and that Y is Stein. Let D be a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor, that is, a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors on X. Let F be an analytically sufficiently general fiber of  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Assume that  $D' := D|_F \sim_{\mathbb{R}} B' \geq 0$  holds for some  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor B' on F. Then there exists a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor B on X such that  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} B \geq 0$ .

We closely follow the proof of [HasH, Lemma 2.10]. In the proof of Lemma 2.53, we will freely use the semicontinuity theorem and the base change theorem described in [BS, Chapter III], whose proof is much harder than the proof of the corresponding statements for algebraic varieties (see [Har, Chapter III, Section 12]).

**Definition 2.54** (Iitaka–Kodaira dimensions). Let X be a normal projective variety and let D be a Q-Cartier Q-divisor on X. Then  $\kappa(X, D)$  denotes the *Iitaka–Kodaira dimension* of D.

Proof of Lemma 2.53. We can take a nonempty Zariski open subset U of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  is flat over U.

**Step 1.** We fix a representation  $D = \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i D_i$  of D as a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors. Since F is an analytically sufficiently general fiber of  $\pi: X \to Y$ , we may assume that  $D_i|_F$  are well defined as integral Weil divisors for all i. For any closed point  $y \in U$ , the fiber of  $\pi$  over y is denoted by  $X_y$ . For any  $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, \ldots, p_n) \in \mathbb{Q}^n$ , we set  $D_{\mathbf{p}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i D_i$ . We fix a positive integer  $k_{\mathbf{p}}$  such that  $k_{\mathbf{p}} D_{\mathbf{p}}$  is Cartier. For every  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbb{Q}^n$  and every  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ , we put

$$S_{\boldsymbol{p},m} = \left\{ z \in U \mid \dim H^0(X_y, \mathcal{O}_{X_y}(mk_{\boldsymbol{p}}D_{\boldsymbol{p}}|_{X_y})) = 0 \right\}.$$

Then  $S_{p,m} = \emptyset$  holds or  $U \setminus S_{p,m} = \emptyset$  is analytically meagre by the upper semicontinuity theorem. We set

$$J := \{ (\boldsymbol{p}, m) \mid \boldsymbol{p} \in \mathbb{Q}^n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}, S_{\boldsymbol{p}, m} \neq \emptyset \},\$$

and put

$$W = \bigcap_{(\boldsymbol{p},m)\in J} S_{\boldsymbol{p},m}.$$

Then  $U \setminus W$  is analytically meagre. Hence  $Y \setminus W$  is also analytically meagre. We may assume that  $F = X_{y_0}$  for some  $y_0 \in W$  since F is an analytically sufficiently general fiber of  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Then, for any Q-Cartier Q-divisor  $D_{p'}$  associated to  $p' = (p'_1, \ldots, p'_n) \in \mathbb{Q}^n$ , an inequality  $\kappa(F, D_{p'}|_F) \geq 0$  holds if and only if  $D_{p'} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} E_{p'}$  for some  $E_{p'} \geq 0$ . Indeed,  $\kappa(F, D_{p'}|_F) \geq 0$  if and only if  $y_0 \notin S_{p',m}$  for some m. By the above definitions of W and J, the condition  $y_0 \notin S_{p',m}$  is equivalent to  $S_{p',m} = \emptyset$  since  $y_0 \in W$ . Since  $k_{p'}D_{p'}$  is a Cartier divisor and Y is Stein, by the construction of  $S_{p',m}$ , it is easy to check that  $S_{p',m} = \emptyset$  for some m if and only if  $D_{p'} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} E_{p'}$  for some  $E_{p'} \geq 0$ .

**Step 2.** From our assumption that  $D' \sim_{\mathbb{R}} B' \geq 0$ , there are positive real numbers  $a_1, \ldots, a_s$ , effective integral Weil divisors  $E_1, \ldots, E_s$  on F, real numbers  $b_1, \ldots, b_t$ , and meromorphic functions  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_t$  on F such that

$$D|_{F} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i} D_{i}|_{F} = \sum_{j=1}^{s} a_{j} E_{j} + \sum_{k=1}^{t} b_{k} \cdot \operatorname{div}(\phi_{k})$$

holds as  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors on F. We consider the following set

$$\left\{ \boldsymbol{v}' = \left( (r'_i)_i, (a'_j)_j, (b'_k)_k \right) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0})^s \times \mathbb{R}^t \middle| \sum_{i=1}^n r'_i D_i |_F = \sum_{j=1}^s a'_j E_j + \sum_{k=1}^t b'_k \cdot \operatorname{div}(\phi_k) \right\},\$$

which contains  $\boldsymbol{v} := ((r_i)_i, (a_j)_j, (b_k)_k)$ . Since all  $D_i|_F$  are well defined as integral Weil divisors, we can find positive real numbers  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{l_0}$  and rational points  $\boldsymbol{v}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{v}_{l_0}$  in the above set such that  $\sum_{l=1}^{l_0} \alpha_l = 1$  and  $\sum_{l=1}^{l_0} \alpha_l \boldsymbol{v}_l = \boldsymbol{v}$ . This shows that there are  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors  $D^{(1)}, \ldots, D^{(l_0)}$  on X such that  $\sum_{l=1}^{l_0} \alpha_l D^{(l)} = D$  and  $\kappa(F, D^{(l)}|_F) \geq 0$  for every  $1 \leq l \leq l_0$ . We note that each  $D^{(l)}$  is a finite  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear combination of Cartier divisors by construction. By the argument in Step 1, for every  $1 \leq l \leq l_0$ , there exists a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $E^{(l)} \geq 0$  on X with  $D^{(l)} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} E^{(l)}$ . We put  $B = \sum_{l=1}^{l_0} \alpha_l E^{(l)}$ . Then we have  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} B \geq 0$ .

We finish the proof.

We close this section with an important remark on [BCHM, Lemma 3.2.1].

**Remark 2.55.** In [BCHM], [BCHM, Lemma 3.2.1] plays a crucial role. We think that the quasi-projectivity is indispensable in the framework of [BCHM] since we have to assume that U is quasi-projective in [BCHM, Lemma 3.2.1]. Let  $\pi: X \to U$  be a projective morphism of normal complete algebraic varieties with connected fibers such that X is a smooth projective variety and  $\operatorname{Pic}(U) = \{0\}$ . Let D be a Cartier divisor on X such that -D is effective,  $D \neq 0$ , and  $\pi(D) \subsetneq U$ . Then there exists no effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor B on X satisfying  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R},U} B \geq 0$ . This means that [BCHM, Lemma 3.2.1] does not always hold true without assuming the quasi-projectivity of U.

## 3. Singularities of pairs

In this section, we will define singularities of pairs in the complex analytic setting. The definition is essentially the same as the one for algebraic varieties.

**Definition 3.1** (Singularities of pairs). Let X be a normal complex variety. The canonical sheaf  $\omega_X$  of X is the unique reflexive sheaf whose restriction to  $X_{\rm sm}$  is isomorphic to the sheaf  $\Omega_{X_{\rm sm}}^n$ , where  $X_{\rm sm}$  is the smooth locus of X and  $n = \dim X$ . Let  $\Delta$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. We say that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at  $x \in X$  if there exist an open neighborhood  $U_x$  of x and a Weil divisor  $K_{U_x}$  on  $U_x$  with  $\mathcal{O}_{U_x}(K_{U_x}) \simeq \omega_X|_{U_x}$  such that  $K_{U_x} + \Delta|_{U_x}$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at x. We simply say that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier when  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at any point  $x \in X$ . Unfortunately, we can not define  $K_X$  globally with  $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X) \simeq \omega_X$ . It only exists locally on X. However, we use the symbol  $K_X$  as a formal divisor class with an isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X) \simeq \omega_X$  and call it the canonical divisor of X if there is no danger of confusion.

Let  $f: Y \to X$  be a proper bimeromorphic morphism between normal complex varieties. Suppose that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier in the above sense. We take a small Stein open subset

U of X where  $K_U + \Delta|_U$  is a well-defined  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on U. In this situation, we can define  $K_{f^{-1}(U)}$  and  $K_U$  such that  $f_*K_{f^{-1}(U)} = K_U$ . Then we can write

$$K_{f^{-1}(U)} = f^*(K_U + \Delta|_U) + E_U$$

as usual. Note that  $E_U$  is a well-defined  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on  $f^{-1}(U)$  such that  $f_*E_U = \Delta|_U$ . Then we have the following formula

$$K_Y = f^*(K_X + \Delta) + \sum_E a(E, X, \Delta)E$$

as in the algebraic case. We note that  $\sum_{E} a(E, X, \Delta)E$  is a globally well-defined  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on Y such that  $(\sum_{E} a(E, X, \Delta)E)|_{f^{-1}(U)} = E_U$  although  $K_X$  and  $K_Y$  are well defined only locally.

If  $\Delta$  is a boundary  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor and  $a(E, X, \Delta) \geq -1$  holds for any  $f: Y \to X$  and every f-exceptional divisor E, then  $(X, \Delta)$  is called a *log canonical* pair. If  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical and  $a(E, X, \Delta) > -1$  for any  $f: Y \to X$  and every f-exceptional divisor E, then  $(X, \Delta)$  is called a *purely log terminal* pair. If  $(X, \Delta)$  is purely log terminal and  $\lfloor \Delta \rfloor = 0$ , then  $(X, \Delta)$  is called a *kawamata log terminal* pair. When  $\Delta = 0$  and  $a(E, X, 0) \geq 0$  (resp. > 0) for any  $f: Y \to X$  and every f-exceptional divisor E, we simply say that X has only canonical singularities (resp. terminal singularities).

Let X be a normal variety and let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$ is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. The image of E with  $a(E, X, \Delta) \leq -1$  for some  $f: Y \to X$  is called a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta)$ . The image of E with  $a(E, X, \Delta) = -1$  for some  $f: Y \to X$  such that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical around general points of f(E) is called a log canonical center of  $(X, \Delta)$ . When  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical, a closed subset of X is a log canonical center of  $(X, \Delta)$  if and only if it is a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta)$  by definition. In the above setting,  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal if and only if there are no non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$ .

**Remark 3.2.** If we only assume that  $\Delta$  is a subboundary  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X in the above definition of log canonical pairs and kawamata log terminal pairs, then  $(X, \Delta)$  is said to be a *sub log canonical pair* and *sub kawamata log terminal pair*, respectively. We will use sub log canonical pairs and sub kawamata log terminal pairs in Section 21.

**Remark 3.3.** Let X be a normal algebraic variety and let  $\Delta$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let  $X^{an}$  be the complex analytic space naturally associated to X and let  $\Delta^{an}$  be the  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X associated to  $\Delta$ . Then  $(X^{an}, \Delta^{an})$  is terminal, canonical, kawamata log terminal, purely log terminal, and log canonical in the sense of Definition 3.1 if and only if  $(X, \Delta)$  is terminal, canonical, kawamata log terminal, purely log terminal, canonical, kawamata log terminal, purely log terminal, canonical, kawamata log terminal, purely log terminal, multiple terminal, purely log terminal, and log canonical in the usual sense, respectively. For the details, see, for example, [Matk, Proposition 4-4-4].

In this paper, we need the following local definition of *log canonical singularities* and *kawamata log terminal singularities*.

**Definition 3.4.** Let X be a normal complex variety and let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. We say that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) at  $x \in X$  if there exits an open neighborhood  $U_x$  of x such that  $(U_x, \Delta|_{U_x})$  is a log canonical pair (resp. kawamata log terminal pair). We note that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) in the sense of Definition 3.1 if and only if  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) at any point x of X.

Let K be a compact subset of X. Then we say that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) at K if  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) at any point x of K. We note that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal) at K if and only if there exits an open neighborhood U of K such that  $(U, \Delta|_U)$  is log canonical (resp. kawamata log terminal).

The following lemma is very fundamental.

**Lemma 3.5** ([BCHM, Lemma 3.7.2]). Let X be a normal complex variety and let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $WDiv_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals. Let K be a compact subset of X. Then

$$\mathcal{L}(V;K) := \{ \Delta \in V \mid K_X + \Delta \text{ is log canonical at } K \}$$

is a rational polytope. Moreover, there exists an open neighborhood U of K such that  $(U, \Delta|_U)$  is log canonical for every  $\Delta \in \mathcal{L}(V; K)$ .

Proof. We note that the set of divisors  $\Delta$  such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at K forms an affine subspace V' of V. Since V is defined over the rationals, we can easily see that V' is also defined over the rationals (see the proof of Lemma 2.37). Hence, by replacing V with V', we may assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at K for every  $\Delta \in V$ . Since V is finite-dimensional, there is an open neighborhood U' of K such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier on U' for every  $\Delta \in V$ . By replacing X with U', we may assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier for every  $\Delta \in V$ . Let  $\Theta$  be the union of the support of any element of V. By shrinking X around K, we can take a projective birational morphism  $f: Y \to X$  from a smooth complex variety Y such that Exc(f) and  $\text{Exc}(f) \cup \text{Supp } f_*^{-1}\Theta$  are simple normal crossing divisors on Y. Thus, we can easily check that  $\mathcal{L}(V; K)$  is a rational polytope. Let  $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_k$  be the vertices of  $\mathcal{L}(V; K)$ . Then  $(X, \Delta_i)$  is log canonical on some open neighborhood  $U_i$  of K for every i. We put  $U := \bigcap_{i=1}^k U_i$ . Then  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical on U for every  $\Delta \in \mathcal{L}(V; K)$ . Hence U is a desired open neighborhood of K.

We note the following elementary property. We explicitly state it for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 3.6.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair and let C be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta + C)$  is log canonical. Let  $\varepsilon$  be any positive real number such that  $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ . Then V is a log canonical center of  $(X, \Delta)$  if and only if V is a log canonical center of  $(X, \Delta + (1 - \varepsilon)C)$ .

*Proof.* This is obvious by definition.

The definition of *divisorial log terminal pairs* is very subtle. We adopt the following definition, which is suitable for our purposes.

**Definition 3.7** (Divisorial log terminal pairs). Let X be a normal complex variety and let  $\Delta$  be a boundary  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. If there exists a proper bimeromorphic morphism  $f: Y \to X$  from a smooth complex variety Y such that  $\operatorname{Exc}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Exc}(f) \cup \operatorname{Supp} f_*^{-1}\Delta$  are simple normal crossing divisors on Y and that the discrepancy coefficient  $a(E, X, \Delta) > -1$  holds for every f-exceptional divisor E, then  $(X, \Delta)$  is called a divisorial log terminal pair.

**Remark 3.8.** By definition, we can easily check that a divisorial log terminal pair is a log canonical pair. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair and let U be any relatively compact open subset of X. Then we can easily check that  $(U, \Delta|_U)$  is a divisorial log terminal pair.

The morphism f in Definition 3.7 can be taken as a composite of blow-ups over any relatively compact open subset.

**Lemma 3.9.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair. Then there exists a morphism  $\sigma: Z \to X$  such that, for any relatively compact open subset X' of X,

$$g := \sigma|_{\sigma^{-1}(X')} \colon Z' := \sigma^{-1}(X') \to X'$$

is a composite of a finite sequence of blow-ups,  $\operatorname{Exc}(g)$  and  $\operatorname{Exc}(g) \cup \operatorname{Supp} g_*^{-1}\Delta$  are simple normal crossing divisors on Z',  $a(E, X', \Delta|_{X'}) > -1$  holds for every g-exceptional divisor E. In particular, we can take an effective divisor F on Z' such that  $\operatorname{Exc}(g) = F$  and that -F is g-very ample.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to apply the resolution of singularities explained in [BM2, Sections 12 and 13]. For the details, see [BM2, Theorems 13.3 and 12.4]. See also [Kol2, 3.44 (Analytic spaces)], [W], and [Kol3, Theorem 10.45 and Proposition 10.49].  $\Box$ 

Our definition of divisorial log terminal pairs is compatible with the usual definition of divisorial log terminal pairs for algebraic varieties.

**Lemma 3.10.** Let X be a normal algebraic variety and let  $\Delta$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let  $X^{\operatorname{an}}$  be the complex analytic space naturally associated to X and let  $\Delta^{\operatorname{an}}$  be the  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X associated to  $\Delta$ . Then  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal in the usual sense if and only if  $(X^{\operatorname{an}}, \Delta^{\operatorname{an}})$  is divisorial log terminal in the sense of Definition 3.7.

Sketch of Proof of Lemma 3.10. If  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal in the usual sense, then it is obvious that  $(X^{\operatorname{an}}, \Delta^{\operatorname{an}})$  is divisorial log terminal in the sense of Definition 3.7. From now on, we assume that  $(X^{\operatorname{an}}, \Delta^{\operatorname{an}})$  is divisorial log terminal in the sense of Definition 3.7. Let  $f: Y \to X^{\operatorname{an}}$  be a projective morphism from a smooth complex variety as in Definition 3.7. We put  $Z' := f(\operatorname{Exc}(f))$ , which is a closed analytic subset of  $X^{\operatorname{an}}$ . Then  $X^{\operatorname{an}} \setminus Z'$  is smooth and the support of  $\Delta^{\operatorname{an}}|_{X^{\operatorname{an}}\setminus Z'}$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on  $X^{\operatorname{an}} \setminus Z'$ . We can check that if  $g: V \to X$  is a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth complex variety V and E is a prime divisor on V such that  $g(E) \subset Z'$  then  $a(E, X, \Delta) > -1$  holds by the proof of [KM, Proposition 2.40]. Let Z be the smallest closed algebraic subset of X such that  $X \setminus Z$  is smooth and the support of  $\Delta|_{X \setminus Z}$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on  $X \setminus Z$ . Then  $Z \subset Z'$  holds by definition. Hence, as in the proof of [Matk, Proposition 4-4-4], we see that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal in the usual sense.

Of course, Definition 3.7 is not analytically local.

**Example 3.11.** Let X be a smooth algebraic surface and let C be an irreducible curve on X with only one singular point P. Assume that P is a node. It is obvious that  $(X \setminus P, C|_{X \setminus P})$  is divisorial log terminal, but (X, C) is not divisorial log terminal. However, there exists a small open neighborhood U of P such that  $(U, C|_U)$  is divisorial log terminal in the sense of Definition 3.7. Note that  $C|_U$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on U if U is a small open neighborhood of P in X.

The final theorem in this section is more or less well known to the experts. We will use it in the proof of Theorem F (3).

**Theorem 3.12** (see [KMM, Theorem 1-3-6] and [Na3, Chapter VII. §1]). If  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal, then X has only rational singularities.

*Proof.* The arguments in [Fu9, 3.14 Elkik–Fujita vanishing theorem] work with some minor modifications if we use Grothendieck duality for proper morphisms of complex analytic spaces (see [RRV]). We note that we have necessary vanishing theorems in the complex analytic setting (see Section 5 below).  $\Box$ 

# 4. Cones

In this section, we will define various cones and explain Kleiman's ampleness criterion for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces.

Throughout this section, let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y. Let  $Z_1(X/Y; W)$  be the free abelian group generated by the projective integral curves C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point of W. Let Ube any open neighborhood of W. Then we can consider the following intersection pairing

$$\cdot : \operatorname{Pic}(\pi^{-1}(U)) \times Z_1(X/Y;W) \to \mathbb{Z}$$

given by  $\mathcal{L} \cdot C \in \mathbb{Z}$  for  $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Pic}(\pi^{-1}(U))$  and  $C \in Z_1(X/Y; W)$ . We say that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over W when  $\mathcal{L} \cdot C = 0$  for every  $C \in Z_1(X/Y; W)$ . We take  $\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2 \in \operatorname{Pic}(\pi^{-1}(U))$ . If  $\mathcal{L}_1 \otimes \mathcal{L}_2^{-1}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over W, then we write  $\mathcal{L}_1 \equiv_W \mathcal{L}_2$  and say that  $\mathcal{L}_1$  is numerically equivalent to  $\mathcal{L}_2$  over W. We put

$$\widetilde{A}(U,W) := \operatorname{Pic}(\pi^{-1}(U)) / \equiv_W$$

and define

$$A^{1}(X/Y;W) := \lim_{W \subset U} \widetilde{A}(U,W),$$

where U runs through all the open neighborhoods of W. The following lemma due to Nakayama is a key result of the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces.

**Lemma 4.1** (Nakayama's finiteness, see [Na3, Chapter II. 5.19. Lemma]). Assume that  $W \cap Z$  has only finitely many connected components for every analytic subset Z defined over an open neighborhood of W. Then  $A^1(X/Y;W)$  is a finitely generated abelian group.

*Proof.* For the details, see the proof of [Na3, Chapter II. 5.19. Lemma] and Theorem 4.7 in Subsection 4.1 below.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 4.2.** Note that [Na3, Chapter II. 5.19. Lemma], that is, Lemma 4.1 above, is a correction of [Na2, Proposition 4.3 and Lemma 4.4]. In Lemma 4.1, W is not assumed to be Stein compact. Here, we only assume that W is a compact subset of Y satisfying (P4). We will discuss Lemma 4.1 in detail in Subsection 4.1 below.

Under the assumption of Lemma 4.1, we can define the relative Picard number  $\rho(X/Y; W)$  to be the rank of  $A^1(X/Y; W)$ . We put

$$N^1(X/Y;W) := A^1(X/Y;W) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A_1(X/Y; W)$  be the image of

$$Z_1(X/Y; W) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}} \left( A^1(X/Y; W), \mathbb{Z} \right)$$

given by the above intersection pairing. Then we set

$$N_1(X/Y;W) := A_1(X/Y;W) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}.$$

As usual, we can define the *Kleiman–Mori cone* 

$$\overline{\mathrm{NE}}(X/Y;W)$$

of  $\pi: X \to Y$  over W, that is,  $\operatorname{NE}(X/Y; W)$  is the closure of the convex cone in  $N_1(X/Y; W)$  spanned by the projective integral curves C such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point of W. We also define  $\operatorname{Amp}(X/Y; W)$  to be the cone in  $N^1(X/Y; W)$  generated by line bundles L such that  $L|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is  $\pi$ -ample for some open neighborhood U of W. An element  $\zeta \in N^1(X/Y; W)$  is called  $\pi$ -nef over W or nef over W if  $\zeta \geq 0$  on  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y; W)$ . Even when  $\zeta$  is nef over W, it is not clear whether  $\zeta$  is nef over some open neighborhood of W or not.

**Remark 4.3** (see [Le, Theorem 1.2]). There exist a projective surjective morphism of algebraic varieties  $\pi: X \to Y$  and an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on X such that  $\{y \in Y \mid D \mid_{X_y} \text{ is nef}\}$  is not Zariski open. This means that the nefness is not an open condition. For a criterion of openness of a family of nef line bundles, see [Mw].

On the other hand, for  $\zeta \in N^1(X/Y; W)$ ,  $\zeta|_{X_w}$  is ample for every  $w \in W$  if and only if  $\zeta$  is ample over some open neighborhood of W. This is because the ampleness is an open condition (see, for example, [KM, Proposition 1.41] and [Na2, Proposition 1.4]). Note that Kleiman's ampleness criterion holds true in our complex analytic setting.

**Theorem 4.4** (Kleiman's criterion, see [Na2, Proposition 4.7]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that W satisfies (P4). Then we have

 $\operatorname{Amp}(X/Y;W) = \left\{ \zeta \in N^1(X/Y;W) \,|\, \zeta > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W) \setminus \{0\} \right\}.$ 

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 4.4. We note that the ample cone is an open convex cone in  $N^1(X/Y; W)$ . Hence we can easily check that it is contained in the right hand side. Therefore, it is sufficient to prove the opposite inclusion. We take a  $\pi$ -ample Cartier divisor A on X. Let  $\zeta$  be an element of  $N^1(X/Y; W)$  such that  $\zeta > 0$  on  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y; W) \setminus \{0\}$ . Then  $\zeta - \varepsilon A > 0$  on  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y; W) \setminus \{0\}$  for some small positive rational number  $\varepsilon$ . This implies that  $(\zeta - \varepsilon A)|_{\pi^{-1}(w)}$  is nef for every  $w \in W$ . Since  $A|_{\pi^{-1}(w)}$  is ample,  $\zeta|_{\pi^{-1}(w)} = (\zeta - \varepsilon A)|_{\pi^{-1}(w)} + A|_{\pi^{-1}(w)}$  is ample for every  $w \in W$ . We note that we can use Kleiman's ampleness criterion on  $\pi^{-1}(w)$  since  $\pi^{-1}(w)$  is projective. Hence, by the standard argument (see, for example, [FMi, Section 6]), we can write  $\zeta$  as a finite  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ -linear combination of  $\pi$ -ample Cartier divisors over some open neighborhood of W. This is what we wanted.

We can define *movable cones* in our complex analytic setting (see [Kaw2, Section 2]).

**Definition 4.5** (see [Fu4, Definition 2.1]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that X is a normal complex variety. A Cartier divisor D on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ , where U is some open neighborhood of W, is called  $\pi$ -movable over W if  $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(U)}(D) \neq 0$  and if the cokernel of the natural homomorphism  $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(U)}(D) \to \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(U)}(D)$  has a support of codimension  $\geq 2$ . We define  $\overline{\text{Mov}}(X/Y; W)$  as the closure of the convex cone in  $N^1(X/Y; W)$  generated by the classes of  $\pi$ -movable Cartier divisors over W. Note that  $\overline{\text{Mov}}(X/Y; W)$  is usually called the movable cone of  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W.

We can easily see that a kind of negativity lemma holds.

**Lemma 4.6** (Negativity lemma, see [Fu14, Lemma 3.8]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism of normal complex varieties and let W be a compact subset of Y. Let E be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $E \in \overline{\text{Mov}}(X/Y; W)$ . Let Ube any open subset of Y with  $U \subset W$ . If  $-\pi_* E|_U$  is effective, then  $-E|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is effective. *Proof.* For the details, see the proof of [Fu14, Lemma 3.8].

We will use Lemma 4.6 in order to terminate minimal model programs with scaling.

4.1. Nakayama's finiteness. In this subsection, we give a detailed proof of Nakayama's finiteness (see Lemma 4.1), which is the starting point of the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces, for the sake of completeness. We will closely follow Nakayama's original proof in [Na3]. The reader who is not interested in the proof can skip this subsection.

Let us recall the statement of Nakayama's finiteness for the reader's convenience.

**Theorem 4.7** (Nakayama's finiteness, see Lemma 4.1 and [Na3, Chapter II. 5.19. Lemma]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y. Assume that  $W \cap Z$  has only finitely many connected components for every analytic subset Z defined over an open neighborhood of W. Then  $A^1(X/Y;W)$  is a finitely generated abelian group.

In this subsection, an  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle on a complex analytic space X means an element of  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ . For simplicity of notation, we write the group law of  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$  additively.

**Definition 4.8.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces. An  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X is called  $\pi$ -ample if it is a finite  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ -linear combination of  $\pi$ -ample line bundles on X. Let Z be any subset of Y. An  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X is called  $\pi$ -nef over Z and  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over Z if  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_y}$  is nef and numerically trivial for every  $y \in Z$ , respectively, where  $X_y := \pi^{-1}(y)$ .

Let us see numerically trivial  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundles on smooth projective varieties.

**4.9** (Characterization of numerically trivial  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundles on smooth projective varieties). Let X be a smooth projective variety. We consider the following long exact sequence:

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*) \xrightarrow{c_1} H^2(X, \mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

given by  $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X^* \to 0$ . The image of

$$c_1: \operatorname{Pic}(X) \simeq H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*) \to H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$$

is denoted by NS(X). It is usually called the *Neron–Severi group* of X. We note that a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X is numerically trivial if and only if  $c_1(\mathcal{L})$  is a torsion element in NS(X) (see, for example, [La1, Corollary 1.4.38]). Hence  $c_1$  induces the following isomorphism:

$$\operatorname{Pic}(X) \equiv \longrightarrow \operatorname{NS}(X) / (\operatorname{torsion}),$$

where  $\equiv$  denotes the *numerical equivalence*. As usual, we put

$$N^1(X) = \{ \operatorname{Pic}(X) / \equiv \} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}.$$

Let us consider an  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X. We can define the first Chern class  $c_1(\mathcal{L})$  in  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of line bundles. If  $\mathcal{L}$  is numerically trivial, then it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{L}$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of numerically trivial line bundles on X. Therefore,  $\mathcal{L}$  is numerically equivalent to zero, that is,  $\mathcal{L} \equiv 0$ , if and only if  $c_1(\mathcal{L}) = 0$  in  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ .

Let us start with the following basic properties of ample and nef  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundles. We can check them without any difficulties.

**Lemma 4.10** (see [Na3, Chapter II. 5.14. Lemma]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that Y is irreducible and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle on X.

- (1) Assume that  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  is ample for some  $y_0 \in Y$ . Then there exists an open neighborhood U of  $y_0$  such that  $\mathcal{L}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is ample over U and that  $Y \setminus U$  is an analytically meagre subset of Y.
- (2) Assume that  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  is nef for some  $y_0 \in Y$ . Then there exists an analytically meagre subset S such that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -nef over  $Y \setminus S$  with  $y_0 \notin S$ .
- (3) Assume that  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  is numerically trivial for some  $y_0 \in Y$ . Then there exists an analytically meagre subset S such that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $Y \setminus S$  with  $y_0 \notin S$ .

Proof. (1) We can write  $\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i \mathcal{L}_i$  such that  $a_i \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_i|_{X_{y_0}}$  is an ample line bundle for every *i*. If  $U_i$  is a desired open neighborhood of  $y_0$  for  $\mathcal{L}_i$ , then  $U := \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} U_i$ has the desired property for  $\mathcal{L}$ . Hence it is sufficient to prove this statement under the assumption that  $\mathcal{L}$  is a line bundle. In this case, it is well known that there exists an open neighborhood V of  $y_0$  such that  $\mathcal{L}|_{\pi^{-1}(V)}$  is  $\pi$ -ample over V (see, for example, [KM, Proposition 1.41] and [Na2, Proposition 1.4]). Therefore, if m is a sufficiently large positive integer, then  $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m} \to \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$  is surjective on a neighborhood of  $X_{y_0}$ . We put  $Y^{\dagger} := Y \setminus \pi$  (Supp (Coker  $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m} \to \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$ )). Then  $Y^{\dagger}$  is a Zariski open subset of Yand  $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m} \to \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$  is surjective over  $Y^{\dagger}$ . We consider the induced map  $\varphi : X^{\dagger} :=$  $\pi^{-1}(Y^{\dagger}) \to \mathbb{P}_{Y^{\dagger}}((\pi_* \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m})|_{Y^{\dagger}})$  over  $Y^{\dagger}$ . Since m is sufficiently large, we may assume that  $\varphi$  is a closed embedding over some open neighborhood of  $y_0$ . In particular,  $\varphi$  is flat in a neighborhood of  $X_{y_0}$ . Hence, there exists a Zariski open subset U of  $Y^{\dagger}$  such that  $\varphi$  is flat and finite over U (see [BS, Chapter V. Theorem 4.5]). This implies that  $\mathcal{L}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is ample over U. We can check that U is an open neighborhood of  $y_0$  with the desired properties.

(2) We take an ample line bundle  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then  $(m\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{A})|_{X_{y_0}}$  is ample for every positive integer m. By (1), we can take an open neighborhood  $U_m$  of  $y_0$  such that  $(m\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{A})|_{\pi^{-1}(U_m)}$ is ample over  $U_m$  and that  $Y \setminus U_m$  is an analytically meagre subset for every m. We put  $\mathcal{S} := \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} (Y \setminus U_m)$ . Then  $\mathcal{S}$  is an analytically meagre subset and  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -nef over  $Y \setminus \mathcal{S}$ . By construction,  $y_0 \notin \mathcal{S}$ . This is what we wanted.

(3) By assumption,  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  and  $-\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  are both nef. By (2), there exists analytically meagre subsets  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  such that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -nef over  $Y \setminus S_1$  and  $-\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -nef over  $Y \setminus S_2$ . We put  $S := S_1 \cup S_2$ . Then S is also an analytically meagre subset and  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $Y \setminus S$  with  $y_0 \notin S$ .

**Remark 4.11.** In Lemma 4.10 (2) and (3), we can write  $Y \setminus S = \bigcap_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} U_i$  such that  $U_i$  is an open neighborhood of  $y_0$  and  $Y \setminus U_i$  is an analytically meagre subset for every  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ .

The following lemma is a key lemma for the proof of Nakayama's finiteness.

**Lemma 4.12** (see [Na3, Chapter II. 5.14. Lemma]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism between complex manifolds such that Y is connected and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle on X. Assume that  $\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}$  is numerically trivial for some  $y_0 \in Y$ . Then  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over Y.

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.10 (3), there exists an analytically meagre subset S such that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $Y \setminus S$ . Therefore, it is sufficient to prove the statement under the extra assumption that Y is a polydisc and  $y_0$  is its origin. We can define the first

Chern class  $c_1(\mathcal{L})$  in  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear combination of line bundles. It is sufficient to prove that  $c_1(\mathcal{L}) = 0$  in  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ . Since  $\pi$  is smooth and proper, X is diffeomorphic to  $Y \times F$ , where  $F := X_{y_0}$ , and  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  is diffeomorphic to the first projection  $p_1 \colon Y \times F \to Y$  (see, for example, [Kod, Theorem 2.5]). On the other hand,

(4.1) 
$$H^2(Y \times F, \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^2(F, \mathbb{R})$$

holds as a very special case of Künneth formula (see, for example, [BT, (5.9)]), which can be checked by Poincaré's lemma. By the isomorphism  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^2(Y \times F, \mathbb{R})$ and (4.1),  $c_1(\mathcal{L}) = p_2^* c_1(\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}})$ , where  $p_2 \colon Y \times F \to F$  is the second projection. Since  $c_1(\mathcal{L}|_{X_{y_0}}) = 0$ , we obtain  $c_1(\mathcal{L}) = 0$ . This implies that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over Y. This is what we wanted.

By Lemmas 4.10 and 4.12, we can prove:

**Theorem 4.13** (see [Na3, Chapter II. 5.14. Lemma]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism between normal complex varieties and let W be a compact subset of W. For a point  $y_0 \in W$ , after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a Zariski open subset U of Y containing  $y_0$  having the following property: If an  $\mathbb{R}$ -line bundle on X is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over the point  $y_0 \in Y$ , then it is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over U.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will repeatedly shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By taking a resolution of singularities, we have a projective surjective morphism  $X_0 \to X$  from a smooth complex variety  $X_0$ . Let  $\pi_0$  be the composition of  $X_0 \to X$  and  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Let  $Y_1 \subset Y$  be an analytic subset such that dim  $Y_1 < \dim Y$ ,  $Y \setminus Y_1$  is smooth, and  $\pi_0$  is smooth over  $Y \setminus Y_1$ . Let  $X_1 \to \pi_0^{-1}(Y_1)$  be a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth complex analytic space  $X_1$  obtained by taking resolutions of singularities of irreducible components of  $\pi_0^{-1}(Y_1)$ . Then we obtain a sequence of analytic subsets

$$Y =: Y_0 \supset Y_1 \supset \cdots \supset Y_l \supset Y_{l+1}$$

and projective surjective morphisms  $\pi_i \colon X_i \to Y_i$ , and projective surjective morphisms  $X_i \to \pi_{i-1}^{-1}(Y_i)$  for  $1 \le i \le l$  such that

- (i)  $\dim_y Y_i < \dim_y Y_{i+1}$  holds at any point  $y \in Y_i$ ,
- (ii)  $Y_i \setminus Y_{i+1}$  is smooth,
- (iii)  $\pi_i$  is smooth over  $Y_i \setminus Y_{i+1}$ ,
- (iv)  $\pi_i$  is nothing but the composition  $X_i \to \pi_{i-1}^{-1}(Y_i) \to Y_i$ ,
- (v)  $\pi_i$  is projective, and
- (vi)  $y_0 \in Y_l \setminus Y_{l+1}$ .

Let S be any connected component of  $Y_i \setminus Y_{i+1}$  for some  $i \leq l$  such that  $y_0 \notin \overline{S}$ , where  $\overline{S}$  is the topological closure of S in Y. We note that  $\overline{S}$  is an analytic subset of Y by Remmert's extension theorem (see, for example, [GrR, Chapter 9, §4, 2. Extension Theorem for Analytic Sets] and [No, Theorem 6.8.1]) since  $\dim_y Y_{i+1} < \dim_y Y_i$  holds at any point  $y \in Y_{i+1}$ . Let  $U \subset Y$  be the Zariski open subset whose complement is the union of all such  $\overline{S}$  for all i and of  $Y_{l+1}$ . By Lemma 4.10 (3), there exists an analytically meagre subset S of Y such that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $Y \setminus S$  with  $y_0 \notin S$ . Let T be any connected component of  $Y_i \setminus Y_{i+1}$  for some  $i \leq l$  with  $y_0 \in \overline{T}$ . Then  $T \cap (Y \setminus S) \neq \emptyset$  by Remark 4.11. Thus, by Lemma 4.12,  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over U. This is what we wanted.
Let us prove Theorem 4.7. In the proof of Theorem 4.7, we will use the argument in the proof Theorem 4.13.

*Proof of Theorem 4.7.* As in the proof of Theorem 4.13, we construct a finite sequence of analytic subsets

$$Y =: Y_0 \supset Y_1 \supset \cdots \supset Y_k$$

and projective surjective morphisms  $\pi_i \colon X_i \to Y_i$  satisfying (i)–(v) in the proof of Theorem 4.13. Let  $W_{i,j}$  be the connected components of  $W \cap Y_i$  for  $1 \leq j \leq k_i$ . We take a point  $w_{i,j} \in W_{i,j} \setminus Y_{i+1}$  for any (i, j) with  $W_{i,j} \not\subset Y_{i+1}$ . Then it is sufficient to show that

(4.2) 
$$A^{1}(X/Y;W) \to \bigoplus \operatorname{NS}\left(\pi_{i}^{-1}(w_{i,j})\right) / (\operatorname{torsion})$$

is injective, where NS  $(\pi_i^{-1}(w_{i,j}))$  is the Neron–Severi group of  $\pi_i^{-1}(w_{i,j})$ . Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ , where U is an open neighborhood of W. We will prove that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over W under the assumption that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over all  $w_{i,j}$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $w_{i,j}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $U_{i,j} \setminus Y_{i+1}$ by Lemma 4.12, where  $U_{i,j}$  is the connected component of  $Y_i \cap U$  containing  $w_{i,j}$ . We note that  $W \cap Y_i \subset \bigcup_j U_{i,j}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\pi$ -numerically trivial over  $W = \bigcup_i W \cap Y_i$ . This is what we wanted, that is, (4.2) is injective. Therefore, we obtain that  $A^1(X/Y;W)$  is a finitely generated abelian group since it is a subgroup of  $\bigoplus NS(\pi_i^{-1}(w_{i,j}))/(torsion)$ .  $\Box$ 

## 5. VANISHING THEOREMS

In this section, we will treat some vanishing theorems. Fortunately, the necessary vanishing theorems have already been established. We explain only two vanishing theorems here for the reader's convenience. The first one is the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem for projective morphisms between complex varieties.

**Theorem 5.1** (Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem for projective morphisms of complex varieties). Let X be a smooth complex variety and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex varieties. Assume that D is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that D is  $\pi$ -nef and  $\pi$ -big and that Supp $\{D\}$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X. Then  $R^i\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(K_X + \lceil D \rceil) = 0$  for every i > 0.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 5.1. When D is a Q-divisor, this statement is well known. It follows from [Na2, Theorem 3.4], [Fu6, Corollary 1.4], and so on. Let  $y \in Y$  be any point. It is sufficient to prove that  $R^i \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(K_X + \lceil D \rceil) = 0$  holds for i > 0 on some open neighborhood  $U_y$  of y. Therefore, we will freely shrink Y around y without mentioning it explicitly. We take a projective bimermorphic morphism  $f: Z \to X$  and can reduce the problem to the case where D is a Q-divisor which is ample over Y. This reduction step is well known (see, for example, Step 2 in the proof of [Na2, Theorem 3.4], the proof of [KMM, Theorem 1-2-3], and so on). Hence we obtain the desired vanishing theorem.  $\Box$ 

The second one is essentially the same as the first one. However, we think that this formulation is useful for some applications.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex varieties. Let D be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier integral Weil divisor on X such that  $D - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. Then  $R^i \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(D) = 0$  holds for every i > 0.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 5.2. By Lemma 3.9 and Theorem 5.1, the proof of [KMM, Theorem 1-2-5] works. For the details, see [KMM].  $\hfill \Box$ 

The reader can find various useful vanishing theorems for projective morphisms between complex varieties in [Fu6], [FMa], [Matm], [Fu11], and so on.

## 6. Basepoint-free theorems, I

In this section, we will collect some necessary basepoint-free theorems for Cartier divisors.

Let us start with Shokurov's nonvanishing theorem for smooth projective varieties, which can be proved by using Hironaka's resolution of singularities and the Kawamata– Viehweg vanishing theorem.

**Theorem 6.1** (Shokurov's nonvanishing theorem). Let X be a smooth projective variety and let D be a nef Cartier divisor on X. Let A be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $pD+A-K_X$ is ample for some positive integer p,  $\lceil A \rceil \ge 0$ , and  $\operatorname{Supp}\{A\}$  is a simple normal crossing divisor. Then there exists some positive integer  $m_0$  such that  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(mD + \lceil A \rceil)) \neq 0$ holds for every integer  $m \ge m_0$ .

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 6.1. By perturbing the coefficients of A slightly, we may assume that A is a Q-divisor. Then this statement is a special case of [KMM, Theorem 2-1-1] because  $pD + A - K_X$  is automatically nef and big. For the details, see the proof of [KMM, Theorem 2-1-1].

The following formulation of the basepoint-free theorem is suitable for our purposes in this paper. It is the well-known Kawamata–Shokurov basepoint-free theorem when  $\pi: X \to Y$  is algebraic.

**Theorem 6.2** (Basepoint-free theorem). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a normal complex variety to a complex analytic space Y and let  $\Delta$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal. Let D be a  $\pi$ -nef Cartier divisor on X such that  $aD - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample for some positive integer a. Then, for any relatively compact open subset U of Y, there exists a positive integer  $m_0$ , which depends on U, such that

$$\pi^*\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$$

is surjective over U for every integer  $m \ge m_0$ .

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 6.2. By Lemma 3.9 and Theorem 6.1, the proof of [KMM, Theorem 3-1-1] works over U. Note that we can not consider the generic fiber of  $\pi^{-1}(U) \rightarrow U$  since it is a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces. Therefore, we apply Theorem 6.1 to an analytically sufficiently general fiber of  $\pi^{-1}(U) \rightarrow U$  when we prove  $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \neq 0$  for every large positive integer m. For the details, see the proof of [KMM, Theorem 3-1-1].

**Remark 6.3.** If  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal in Theorem 6.2, then the same statement holds under a slightly weaker assumption that  $aD - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -nef and  $\pi$ -big. This is almost obvious by the proof of Theorem 6.2 (see also the proof of [KMM, Theorem 3-1-1]).

In this paper, the following variant of the basepoint-free theorem is indispensable. Theorem 6.4 is Kollár's effective basepoint-freeness for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces. **Theorem 6.4** (Effective basepoint-free theorem, see [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1]). Fix a positive integer n. Then there exists a positive integer m with the following properties.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a normal complex variety X to a complex analytic space Y and let D be a  $\pi$ -nef Cartier divisor on X such that  $D - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -nef and  $\pi$ -big, where  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal with dim X = n.

Then, mD is  $\pi$ -free, that is,

$$\pi^*\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$$

is surjective.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 6.4. It is sufficient to prove the statement over any small relatively compact Stein open subset U of Y. We will freely replace Y with a small open subset without mentioning it explicitly. By the standard argument (see, for example, the proof of [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1]), we may further assume that  $D - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample and that  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier. The modified basepoint-freeness method explained in [Kol1, 2.1] works with some minor modifications. Note that we treat a projective morphism  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Therefore, when we prove that some sheaf is not zero, we restrict it to an analytically sufficiently general fiber. We can not use the generic fiber since we consider projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces. For the details, see [Kol1, Section 2].

Theorem 6.5 below is essentially due to Nakayama (see [Na2, Theorem 4.10]), which will play a crucial role in this paper.

**Theorem 6.5** (see [Na2, Theorem 4.10]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism between complex analytic spaces and let W be a Stein compact subset of Y and let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair. Let D be a Cartier divisor on X. Assume that D is nef over W, that is,  $D \cdot C \ge 0$  for every projective curve C such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point of W. We further assume that  $aD - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample for some positive real number a. Then there exist an open neighborhood U of W and a positive integer  $m_0$  such that

$$\pi^*\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$$

is surjective over U for every integer  $m \geq m_0$ .

Before we prove Lemma 6.5, we prepare an easy lemma. We describe it for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism between complex varieties and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle on X. Assume that  $\mathcal{L}|_{\pi^{-1}(y_0)}$  is nef for some  $y_0 \in Y$ . Then there exists an analytically meagre subset S such that  $\mathcal{L}|_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$  is nef for every  $y \in Y \setminus S$ .

Proof of Lemma 6.6. We take a  $\pi$ -ample line bundle  $\mathcal{H}$  on X. Then  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathcal{H}|_{\pi^{-1}(y_0)}$  is ample for every  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ . For each n, there exist a positive integer  $m_n$  and an open neighborhood  $U_n$  of  $y_0$  such that

$$\pi^*\pi_*(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes nm_n}\otimes\mathcal{H}^{\otimes m_n})\to\mathcal{L}^{\otimes nm_n}\otimes\mathcal{H}^{\otimes m_n}$$

is surjective on  $\pi^{-1}(U_n)$  since  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathcal{H}$  is ample over some open neighborhood of  $y_0$  (see, for example, [Na2, Proposition 1.4]). We put

$$\mathcal{F}_n := \operatorname{Coker} \left( \pi^* \pi_* (\mathcal{L}^{\otimes nm_n} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{\otimes m_n}) \to \mathcal{L}^{\otimes nm_n} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{\otimes m_n} \right).$$

Then  $\pi_*\mathcal{F}_n$  is a coherent sheaf on Y and  $\mathcal{S}_n := \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}_n$  is a closed analytic subset of Y with  $y_0 \notin \mathcal{S}_n$ . By construction,  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes nm_n} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{\otimes m_n}$  is  $\pi$ -free over  $Y \setminus \mathcal{S}_n$ . In particular,

 $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathcal{H}$  is  $\pi$ -nef over  $Y \setminus \mathcal{S}_n$ . We put  $\mathcal{S} := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} \mathcal{S}_n$ . If  $(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathcal{H}) \mid_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$  is nef for every  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ , then  $\mathcal{L} \mid_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$  is nef. Therefore,  $\mathcal{S}$  is the desired analytically meagre subset of Y.

Let us see the proof of Theorem 6.5.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 6.5. Let B be a Cartier divisor on X such that B is nef over W and let A be any  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then A+B is  $\pi$ -ample over some open neighborhood of W. By this easy observations, we see that the usual proof of the basepoint-free theorem (see Sketch of Proof of Theorem 6.2) works over some open neighborhood U of W. We note that we can use the nonvanishing theorem (see Theorem 6.1) on an analytically sufficiently general fiber by Lemma 6.6. Of course, we may have to replace U with a smaller open neighborhood of W finitely many times throughout the proof.

We will treat some basepoint-free theorems for  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier divisors in Section 8.

# 7. Cone and contraction theorem

This section will be devoted to the cone and contraction theorem for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

Let us start with the rationality theorem. We need the following formulation. The proof is essentially the same as that for algebraic varieties.

**Theorem 7.1** (Rationality theorem, see [Na2, Theorem 4.11]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal and that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$  is Cartier in a neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(W)$  for some positive integer a. Let H be a  $\pi$ -ample Cartier divisor on X. Assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is not  $\pi$ -nef over W. Then

$$r := \max\{t \in \mathbb{R} \mid H + t(K_X + \Delta) \text{ is } \pi\text{-nef over } W\}$$

is a positive rational number. Furthermore, expressing r/a = u/v with  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  and (u, v) = 1, we have  $v \leq a(d+1)$ , where  $d = \max_{w \in W} \dim \pi^{-1}(w)$ .

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 7.1. The proof of [KMM, Theorem 4-1-1] works with some minor modifications. As usual, we will freely replace Y with a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of W throughout this proof. By an easy reduction argument, we may further assume that H is  $\pi$ -very ample. We put

$$M(x,y) := xH + ya(K_X + \Delta)$$

and

$$\Lambda(x,y) := \operatorname{Supp}\left(\operatorname{Coker} \pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(M(x,y)) \to \mathcal{O}_X(M(x,y))\right)$$

It is not difficult to see that  $\Lambda(x, y)$  is the same subset of X for (x, y) sufficiently large and 0 < ya - xr < 1. We call it  $\Lambda_0$ . Moreover, let  $I \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  be the set of (x, y) for which 0 < ya - xr < 1 and  $\Lambda(x, y) = \Lambda_0$ . Then I contains all sufficiently large (x, y) with 0 < ya - xr < 1 (for the details, see Claim 1 in the proof of [Fu5, Theorem 15.1]). If  $r \notin \mathbb{Q}$  or v > r(d+1), then we can find (x', y') sufficiently large and 0 < y'a - x'r < 1 with  $\Lambda(x', y') \subseteq \Lambda_0$  (for the details, see the proof of [KMM, Theorem 4-1-1] or Step 7–Step 11 in [KM, Section 3.4]). This is a contradiction. Hence, we get the desired properties of r. We note that we can not consider generic fibers. Therefore, when we check that some sheaf is not a zero sheaf in the above argument, we restrict it to an analytically sufficiently general fiber. It is very well known that the cone and contraction theorem is a consequence of the rationality theorem (see Theorem 7.1) and the basepoint-free theorem (see Theorem 6.5).

**Theorem 7.2** (Cone and contraction theorem, see [Na2, Theorem 4.12]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Then we have

$$\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W) = \overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W)_{K_X + \Delta \ge 0} + \sum_j R_j$$

with the following properties.

- (1) Let A be a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then there are only finitely many  $R_j$ 's included in  $(K_X + \Delta + A)_{<0}$ . In particular, the  $R_j$ 's are discrete in the half space  $(K_X + \Delta)_{<0}$ .
- (2) Let R be a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a contraction morphism  $\varphi_R \colon X \to Z$  over Y satisfying:
  - (i) Let C be a projective integral curve on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point in W. Then  $\varphi_R(C)$  is a point if and only if  $[C] \in R$ .
  - (ii)  $\mathcal{O}_Z \xrightarrow{\sim} (\varphi_R)_* \mathcal{O}_X.$
  - (iii) Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a line bundle on X such that  $\mathcal{L} \cdot C = 0$  for every curve C with  $[C] \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then there is a line bundle  $\mathcal{M}$  on Z such that  $\mathcal{L} \simeq \varphi_B^* \mathcal{M}$ .

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 7.2. When  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier in a neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(W)$ , we have the desired properties as a consequence of the rationality theorem (see Theorem 7.1) and the basepoint-free theorem (see Theorem 6.5). This part is well known (for the details, see, for example, [KMM, Theorem 4-2-1]). From now on, we assume that  $K_X + \Delta$ is R-Cartier but is not Q-Cartier. As usual, we will freely shrink Y around W without mentioning it explicitly. By the standard argument, we can find effective Q-divisors  $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_k$  on X and positive real numbers  $r_1, \ldots, r_k$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^k r_i = 1$  such that  $K_X + \Delta_i$ is Q-Cartier and  $(X, \Delta_i)$  is divisorial log terminal for every i and that  $\sum_{i=1}^k r_i \Delta_i = \Delta$ holds. Let R be a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(W/Y;W)$ . Then there exists some  $i_0$  such that R is a  $(K_X + \Delta_{i_0})$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$ . We have already known that extremal rays are discrete in the half space  $(K_X + \Delta_i)_{<0}$  for every i hold true even when  $K_X + \Delta$  is only R-Cartier.  $\Box$ 

In this paper, we sometimes treat log canonical pairs. Thus, we need:

**Theorem 7.3.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair. Let  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). We assume that there exists  $\Delta_0$  on X such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. Let A be a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then there are only finitely many  $(K_X + \Delta + A)$ -negative extremal rays of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ .

Let R be a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ . Then the contraction morphism  $\varphi_R: X \to Z$  associated to R as in Theorem 7.2 (2) exists.

*Proof.* We take a sufficiently small positive rational number  $\varepsilon$  and consider

$$K_X + \Delta + A = K_X + (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta + \varepsilon\Delta_0 + (A - \varepsilon(\Delta_0 - \Delta)).$$

Since  $\varepsilon$  is sufficiently small,  $A - \varepsilon(\Delta_0 - \Delta)$  is still  $\pi$ -ample. On the other hand, the pair  $(X, (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta + \varepsilon\Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. Hence, by Theorem 7.2 (1), there are

only finitely many  $(K_X + \Delta + A)$ -negative extremal rays. Let R be a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ . Then we can see it as a  $(K_X + (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta + \varepsilon\Delta_0)$ -negative extremal ray for some small positive rational number  $\varepsilon$ . Therefore, by Theorem 7.2 (2), we have the desired contraction morphism  $\varphi_R \colon X \to Z$ .

## 8. BASEPOINT-FREE THEOREMS, II

In this section, we will treat basepoint-free theorems for  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors. We note that the use of  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors is indispensable in the theory of minimal models.

**Theorem 8.1** (Basepoint-free theorem for  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors, see [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of normal complex variety X to a complex analytic space Y and let W be a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let D be a  $\pi$ -nef  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $aD - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -nef and  $\pi$ -big for some positive real number a, where  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal.

Then there exists an open neighborhood U of W such that  $D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is semiample over U.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 8.1. By replacing D with aD, we may assume that a = 1. We take a small Stein open neighborhood U' of W and a Stein compact subset W' of Y such that  $\Gamma(W', \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian and  $U' \subset W'$ . Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W' without mentioning it explicitly. By the standard argument (see, for example, the proof of [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1]), we may further assume that  $D - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample and  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier. We take a small  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor A on X such that  $D - (K_X + \Delta + A)$  is still  $\pi$ -ample. By the cone theorem (see Theorem 7.2 (1)), there are only finitely many  $(K_X + \Delta + A)$ -negative extremal rays of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W')$ . Hence, we can write  $D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i D_i$ , where  $r_i$  is a positive real number,  $D_i$  is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X which is nef over W', and  $D_i - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample for every i (for the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1]). We replace Y with U'. Then, by the usual basepoint-free theorem (see Theorem 6.2),  $D_i|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is semiample over U for some U and every i. This implies that  $D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is semiample over U.

We used the cone theorem (see Theorem 7.2) in the above proof of Theorem 8.1. So it is much deeper than the usual basepoint-free theorem for Cartier divisors (see Theorem 6.2).

By combining Lemma 6.5 with the argument in the proof of Theorem 8.1, we have:

**Theorem 8.2.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism of complex analytic spaces and let  $y \in Y$  be a point. Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on Xsuch that D is numerically trivial over y, that is,  $D \cdot C = 0$  for every projective curve Con X such that  $\pi(C) = y$ . Assume that  $aD - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -nef for some positive real number a, where  $(X, \Delta)$  is a kawamata log terminal pair. Then  $\pi_*D$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at y.

Proof. We put  $W = \{y\}$ . Then W is a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. We will freely shrink Y around W without mentioning it explicitly. As in the proof of Theorem 8.1, we may assume that a = 1 and  $D - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. By using the cone theorem as in the proof of Theorem 8.1, we can write  $D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i D_i$ , where  $r_i$  is a positive real number,  $D_i$  is numerically trivial over y, and  $D_i - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample for every i. By replacing  $D_i$  with  $m_i D_i$  for some positive integer  $m_i$ , we may further assume that  $D_i$  is a Cartier divisor on X for every i. Then, by Theorem 6.5,  $\pi_* D_i$  is Q-Cartier for every i. Hence  $\pi_* D$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. This is what we wanted.

The final theorem in this section is suitable for our framework of the minimal model program. We only assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier and is nef over W in Theorem 8.3. The conclusion says that it is semiample over some open neighborhood of W.

**Theorem 8.3.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta)$ be a log canonical pair. Assume that there exists  $\Delta_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. We further assume that  $\Delta = A + B$ , where A is  $\pi$ -ample,  $A \ge 0$ , and  $B \ge 0$ . If  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over W, then there exists an open neighborhood U of W such that  $K_X + \Delta$ is semiample over U.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By assumption, we can take  $\Delta'$  such that  $(X, \Delta')$  is kawamata log terminal and  $K_X + \Delta' \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + \Delta$ . Hence, by replacing  $\Delta$  with  $\Delta'$ , we may assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal. Then (X, B) is kawamata log terminal and  $2(K_X + \Delta) - (K_X + B)$ is ample over Y. We take a general  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor H on X such that (X, B + H)is kawamata log terminal and that  $2(K_X + \Delta) - (K_X + B + H)$  is still ample over Y. As in the proof of [BCHM, Theorem 3.9.1], by using Theorem 7.3, we take positive real numbers  $r_1, \ldots, r_k$  and Q-divisors  $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_k$  such that  $K_X + \Delta_i$  is nef over W and  $2(K_X + \Delta_i) - (K_X + B + H)$  is ample over Y for every i and that  $\sum_{i=1}^k \Delta_i = \Delta$ . By Theorem 6.5, we obtain that  $K_X + \Delta_i$  is  $\pi$ -semiample for every i. This means that  $K_X + \Delta$ is semiample over Y. This is what we wanted.

We close this section with conjectures related to Theorem 8.3.

9

**Conjecture 8.4.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces. We put

$$\mathfrak{M} := \{ y \in Y \mid (K_X + \Delta) \mid_{\pi^{-1}(y)} is nef \}.$$

Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is open.

If we can establish the minimal model program for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces in full generality, then we see that Conjecture 8.4 holds true.

**Remark 8.5.** In Conjecture 8.4, it is sufficient to prove that  $\mathfrak{N}$  contains an open neighborhood of  $y_0$  under the assumption that  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(y_0)}$  is nef. We take an open neighborhood U of  $y_0$  and a Stein compact subset W of Y such that  $y_0 \in U \subset W$  and that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. We will freely shrink Y around W. By Theorem 1.27, we can reduce the problem to the case where X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal. Then we run a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over Y around W. Note that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective since  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(y_0)}$  is nef. If the above minimal model program terminates after finitely many steps, then it is easy to see that  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over some open neighborhood of  $y_0$ . Hence Conjecture 8.4 would be absolutely correct.

Conjecture 8.4 is also related to the following abundance conjecture for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces.

**Conjecture 8.6** (Abundance conjecture). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces. Assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -nef, that is,  $(K_X + \Delta) \cdot C \geq 0$  for every projective integral curve C on X such that  $\pi(C)$  is a point. Then  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -semiample.

As is well known, the abundance conjecture (see Conjecture 8.6) is widely open even when Y is a point. We will treat the abundance conjecture in Section 23.

## 9. Lengths of extremal rational curves

In this paper, we will repeatedly use the fact that every extremal ray is spanned by a rational curve of low degree, which is essentially due to Kawamata (see [Kaw3, Theorem 1]). Note that Kawamata's result comes from the result obtained by Mori's bend and break technique, which relies on methods in positive characteristic.

**Theorem 9.1** (see [Kaw3, Theorem 1] and [Fu14, Theorem 1.12]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair and let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that  $-(K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\varphi$ -ample. Let P be an arbitrary point of Z. Let E be any positive-dimensional irreducible component of  $\varphi^{-1}(P)$ . Then E is covered by possibly singular rational curves  $\ell$  with

$$0 < -(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \ell \le 2 \dim E.$$

In particular, E is uniruled.

Here, we quickly reduce Theorem 9.1 to [Fu14, Theorem 1.12]. So we use the framework of quasi-log schemes.

Proof of Theorem 9.1. If  $\varphi(X) = P$ , then E = X holds. In this case, the statement follows from [Fu14, Theorem 1.12] since  $[X, K_X + \Delta]$  is a quasi-log scheme. From now on, we may assume that  $\varphi(X) \neq P$ . We shrink Z around P. Then we can take an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier divisor B on Z such that  $(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$  is kawamata log terminal outside  $\varphi^{-1}(P)$  and that E is a log canonical center of  $(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$ . We consider the non-kawamata log terminal locus  $V := \text{Nklt}(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$ . Note that  $\varphi(V) = P$ . Let  $f: Y \to X$  be a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety Y such that  $K_Y + \Delta_Y = f^*(K_X + \Delta + \varphi^*B)$  and that  $\text{Supp } \Delta_Y$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on Y. We put  $U := \Delta_Y^{=1}$  and  $(K_Y + \Delta_Y)|_U = K_U + \Delta_U$  by adjunction. Note that U is projective since  $\varphi \circ f(U) = P$ . We consider the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_Y(-\lfloor \Delta_Y \rfloor) \to \mathcal{O}_Y(-\lfloor \Delta_Y \rfloor + U) \to \mathcal{O}_U(\lceil -\Delta_U^{<1} \rceil - \lfloor \Delta_U^{>1} \rfloor) \to 0.$$

By the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem (see Theorem 5.1),  $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(-\lfloor \Delta_Y \rfloor) = 0$ . Then we have the following commutative diagram:

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}(X, \Delta + \varphi^* B) \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{NLC}}(X, \Delta + \varphi^* B) \longrightarrow f_* \mathcal{O}_U(\lceil -\Delta_U^{<1} \rceil - \lfloor \Delta_U^{>1} \rfloor) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}(X, \Delta + \varphi^* B) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_V \longrightarrow 0,$$

where  $\mathcal{J}(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-\lfloor\Delta_Y\rfloor)$  is the multiplier ideal sheaf of  $(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$ and  $\mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{NLC}}(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-\lfloor\Delta_Y\rfloor + U)$ , which is called the *non-lc ideal sheaf* of  $(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$ , is an ideal sheaf that defines the non-log canonical locus of  $(X, \Delta + \varphi^*B)$ . Hence  $\mathcal{J} := f_*\mathcal{O}_U(\lceil -\Delta_U^{<1} \rceil - \lfloor\Delta_U^{>1} \rfloor)$  is an ideal sheaf on V such that

$$\mathcal{O}_X/\mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{NLC}}(X,\Delta+\varphi^*B)=\mathcal{O}_V/\mathcal{J}.$$

Therefore, since U is projective,

$$(V, (K_X + \Delta + \varphi^* B)|_V, f \colon (U, \Delta_U) \to V)$$

gives a quasi-log scheme structure on  $[V, (K_X + \Delta + \varphi^* B)|_V]$  (see [Fu10, Theorem 4.9]) such that E is a qlc stratum of  $[V, (K_X + \Delta + \varphi^* B)|_V]$  by construction. Then, by [Fu14, Theorem 1.12], E is covered by rational curves  $\ell$  with

$$0 < -(K_X + \Delta + \varphi^* B) \cdot \ell \leq 2 \dim E$$

and is uniruled. Since  $\varphi^* B \cdot \ell = 0$ , we obtain the desired statement.

By combining Theorem 9.1 with a standard argument, we have the following theorem, which is well known when  $f: X \to Y$  is a projective morphism between quasi-projective varieties.

**Theorem 9.2** (see [BCHM, Theorem 3.8.1]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that  $(X, \Delta)$  is a log canonical pair. Suppose that there is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. If R is a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ , then there exists a rational curve  $\ell$  spanning R such that

$$0 < -(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \ell \le 2 \dim X.$$

Proof. By assumption, we can find  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors  $\Delta_i$  with  $\lim_{i\to\infty} \Delta_i = \Delta$  such that  $(X, \Delta_i)$  is kawamata log terminal. By replacing  $\pi$  by the contraction defined by the extremal ray R, we may further assume that  $-(K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. By Theorem 9.1, for some  $P \in Y$ , we can find a rational curve  $\ell_i$  in  $\pi^{-1}(P)$  such that

$$0 < -(K_X + \Delta_i) \cdot \ell_i \le 2 \dim X$$

for every  $i \gg 0$ . We note that  $\pi^{-1}(P)$  is projective. We take a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor A on X such that  $-(K_X + \Delta + A)$  is also  $\pi$ -ample. In particular,  $-(K_X + \Delta_i + A)$  is  $\pi$ -ample for every  $i \gg 0$ . Hence

$$0 < A \cdot \ell_i = (K_X + \Delta_i + A) \cdot \ell_i - (K_X + \Delta_i) \cdot \ell_i < 2 \dim X.$$

This means that the curves  $\ell_i$  belong to a bounded family. Thus, possibly passing to a subsequence, we may assume that  $\ell = \ell_i$  is constant. Therefore, we have

$$-(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \ell = \lim_{i \to \infty} -(K_X + \Delta_i) \cdot \ell \le 2 \dim X$$

This is what we wanted.

The following easy observation is very useful.

**Theorem 9.3.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair. Let  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi \colon X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). We assume that there exists  $\Delta_0$  on X such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. Suppose that

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y. Let H be a general h-ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  with  $H \cdot C > 2 \dim X$  for every projective curve C such that h(C) is a point. Let R be a  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$  and let  $\varphi_R \colon X \to Z$  be the contraction morphism
over Y associated to R. Then  $\varphi_R \colon X \to Z$  is a contraction morphism over  $Y^{\flat}$ , that is,  $Z \to Y$  factors through  $Y^{\flat}$ .

Proof. We note that we can see R as a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W)$ since  $g^*H$  is nef over Y. Therefore, by Theorem 9.2, R is spanned by a rational curve  $\ell$  on X such that  $0 < -(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \ell \leq 2 \dim X$ . If  $g(\ell)$  is a curve, then  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H) \cdot \ell > 0$ since  $\ell \cdot g^*H > 2 \dim X$ . Therefore, this means that  $g(\ell)$  is a point. Hence, the contraction morphism  $\varphi_R \colon X \to Z$  exists over  $Y^{\flat}$ .

The next lemma is an easy consequence of Theorem 9.3. We will repeatedly use it in the subsequent sections.

**Lemma 9.4.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal and that X is Q-factorial over W. Suppose that

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y. Let H be a general h-ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  with  $H \cdot C > 2 \dim X$  for every projective curve C such that h(C) is a point. Let

$$(X_0, \Delta_0) \xrightarrow{\phi_0} (X_1, \Delta_1) \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} (X_i, \Delta_i) \xrightarrow{\phi_i} \cdots$$

be a  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ -minimal model program over Y starting from  $(X_0, \Delta_0) := (X, \Delta)$ . Then it is a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over  $Y^{\flat}$ .

*Proof.* We apply Theorem 9.3 to each extremal contraction. Then we can see that it is a minimal model program over  $Y^{\flat}$ .

By combining Theorem 9.2 with Theorem 8.1, we have:

**Theorem 9.5.** Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y. Assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal such that  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big. We further assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is g-nef. Then there exists an open neighborhood U of W such that  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is semiample over  $h^{-1}(U)$ .

Proof. We take a relatively compact Stein open subset U' of Y and a Stein compact subset W' of Y such that  $W \subset U' \subset W'$  and  $\Gamma(W', \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. From now on, we will freely shrink Y around W' suitably without mentioning it explicitly. Since  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big, there exists  $\Delta'$  such that  $\Delta' \sim_{\mathbb{R}} \Delta$ ,  $\Delta' = A+B$ ,  $A \geq 0$ , A is  $\pi$ -maple,  $B \geq 0$ , and  $(X, \Delta')$  is kawamata log terminal. Let H be a general h-ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  with  $H \cdot C > 2 \dim X$  for every projective curve C such that h(C) is a point. Then  $K_X + \Delta + g^*H$  is nef over W'. Hence  $2(K_X + \Delta + g^*H) - (K_X + B)$  is  $\pi$ -ample. We apply Theorem 8.1 to  $K_X + \Delta + g^*H$  over U'. Then there exists an open neighborhood U of W such that  $K_X + \Delta + g^*H$  is semiample over U. This implies that  $K_X + \Delta$  is semiample over  $h^{-1}(U)$ .

# 10. Real linear systems, stable base loci, and augmented base loci

In the theory of minimal models, we have to treat  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors. Throughout this section, we always assume that  $\pi: X \to Y$  is a projective morphism of normal varieties and let W be a Stein compact subset of Y. We further assume that Y is Stein for simplicity. An  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X may have infinitely many irreducible components. Hence we frequently have to restrict it to a relatively compact open subset of X in order to make the number of the irreducible components finite.

Let us start with the definition of *real linear systems* and *stable base loci*.

**Definition 10.1** (Real linear systems and stable base loci). Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then we put

$$|D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}} = \{C \ge 0 \mid C \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D\}$$

and call it the *real linear system* associated to D over Y. We sometimes simply write  $|D|_{\mathbb{R}}$  to denote  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}}$  if there is no danger of confusion. The *stable base locus* of D over Y is the Zariski closed subset  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)$  given by the intersection of the support of the elements of  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}}$ . If  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}} = \emptyset$ , then we put  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y) = X$ . Similarly, we consider

$$|D/Y|_{\mathbb{Q}} = \{C \ge 0 \mid C \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} D\}.$$

and define the Zariski closed subset  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  as the intersection of the support of the elements of  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . If  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{Q}} = \emptyset$ , then we put  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} = X$ . We note that the inclusion  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y) \subset \mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  holds since  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset |D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

We make an important remark on the definition of  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)$  and  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{O}}$ .

**Remark 10.2** (see [BCHM, Remark 3.5.2]). In Definition 10.1,  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)$  and  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  are only defined as closed analytic subsets.

We will repeatedly use the following basic property of  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)$  implicitly.

**Lemma 10.3.** Let U be any Stein open subset of Y. If  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} C \geq 0$ , then  $D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)} \sim_{\mathbb{R}} C|_{\pi^{-1}(U)} \geq 0$  obviously holds. Hence the inclusion

$$\mathbf{B}(D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U) \subset \mathbf{B}(D/Y)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$$

always holds true.

*Proof.* This is obvious.

When we treat Q-divisors, we need:

**Lemma 10.4** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.5.3]). Let D be an integral Weil divisor. Then we have the following inclusions

$$\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \supset \mathbf{B}(D/Y),$$

and

$$\mathbf{B}(D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U)_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset \mathbf{B}(D/Y)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$$

for any relatively compact Stein open subset U of Y.

Proof. Since  $|D/Y|_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset |D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}}$ , the first inclusion  $\mathbf{B}(D/Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \supset \mathbf{B}(D/Y)$  is obvious. We take  $x \in \pi^{-1}(U)$  such that  $x \notin \mathbf{B}(D/Y)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$ . Then, by the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 3.5.3], we can check that  $x \notin \mathbf{B}(D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . Hence the desired second inclusion  $\mathbf{B}(D|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U)_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset \mathbf{B}(D/Y)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  holds.

Although it may be dispensable, as in the algebraic case, we have:

**Lemma 10.5.** Let A be any  $\pi$ -ample divisor on X and let U be any relatively compact open subset of Y. Then  $\mathbf{B}((D - \varepsilon A)/Y)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is independent of  $\varepsilon$  if  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ .

*Proof.* It is sufficient to note that

$$\mathbf{B}((D-\varepsilon_1 A)/Y) \subset \mathbf{B}((D-\varepsilon_2 A)/Y)$$

holds for  $0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2$  by definition. On a relatively compact open subset  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ , the loci  $\mathbf{B}((D - \varepsilon A)/Y)$  stabilize for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$  (see Lemma 2.17).

Let us define *augmented base loci*.

**Definition 10.6** (Augmented base loci). The *augmented base locus* of D over Y is the Zariski closed subset

$$\mathbf{B}_{+}(D/Y) := \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \mathbf{B}((D - \varepsilon A)/Y),$$

where A is some  $\pi$ -ample divisor on X. It is not difficult to see that  $\mathbf{B}_+(D/Y)$  is independent of the choice of A. We note that D is  $\pi$ -big if and only if  $\mathbf{B}_+(D/Y) \subsetneq X$ holds.

We recall the definition of *fixed divisors*. We need it in Theorem F (3).

**Definition 10.7.** Let D be an integral Weil divisor on X. We put

$$|D| := \{ C \ge 0 \, | \, C \sim D \}.$$

Then Fix(D) denotes the *fixed divisor* of D so that

$$|D| = |D - \operatorname{Fix}(D)| + \operatorname{Fix}(D),$$

where the base locus of |D - Fix(D)| contains no divisors. If Fix(D) = 0, then D is said to be *mobile*.

Since we are mainly interested in the minimal model program over some open neighborhood of W, the following definition is useful.

**Definition 10.8** (Stable base divisors). A divisor E defined on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ , where U is an open neighborhood of W, is called a *stable base divisor of* D *near* W if  $E|_{\pi^{-1}(U')} \subset \mathbf{B}(D|_{\pi^{-1}(U')}/U')$  holds for any Stein open neighborhood U' of W with  $U' \subset U$ .

For our purposes, we have to reformulate [BCHM, Proposition 3.5.4] as follows. We will use Lemma 10.9 in the proof of Theorem G.

**Lemma 10.9** (see [BCHM, Proposition 3.5.4]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of normal complex varieties and let W be a Stein compact subset of Y. Let  $D \ge 0$  be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Then, after replacing Y with a Stein open neighborhood of W suitably, we can find  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors M and F on X such that

- (1)  $M \ge 0$  and  $F \ge 0$ ,
- (2)  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} M + F$ ,
- (3) every component of  $\operatorname{Supp} F$  is a stable base divisor of D near W,
- (4) if B is a component of  $\operatorname{Supp} M$ , then some multiple is mobile.

*Proof.* The proof of [BCHM, Proposition 3.5.4, Lemma 3.5.5, and Lemma 3.5.6] works in our setting with some minor modifications. As we mentioned above, an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X may have infinitely many irreducible components. Therefore, we have to replace Y with a relatively compact open neighborhood of W in the proof of this lemma. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Proposition 3.5.4].

## 11. Some basic definitions and properties, I

In this section, we will explain some basic definitions which are indispensable for the main results and their proof.

Let us start with the definition of *D*-nonpositivity and *D*-negativity.

**Definition 11.1** ([BCHM, Definition 3.6.1]). Let  $\phi: X \to Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction of normal complex varieties and let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $D' := \phi_* D$  is also  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. We say that  $\phi$  is *D*-nonpositive (resp. *D*-negative) if for some common resolution  $p: V \to X$  and  $q: V \to Y$ , we may write

$$p^*D = q^*D' + E$$

where E is effective and q-exceptional (resp. E is effective, q-exceptional, and the support of E contains the strict transform of the  $\phi$ -exceptional divisors).

The so-called *negativity lemma* (see, for example, [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.2]) holds true in our complex analytic setting. This is because everything follows from the negative definiteness of intersection form of contractible curves on surfaces (see, for example, [Matk, Theorem 4-6-1]). Therefore, from now on, we will freely use the negativity lemma for projective morphisms of normal complex varieties. Note that the results obtained in [BCHM, Lemmas 3.6.2, 3.6.3, and 3.6.4] hold true in our complex analytic setting with some obvious modifications.

Let us define *semiample models* and *ample models* following [BCHM].

**Definition 11.2** ([BCHM, Definition 3.6.5]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X.

Let  $f: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction over Y after shrinking Y around W suitably.

• We say that  $f: X \to Z$  is a semiample model of D over some open neighborhood of W if, after shrinking Y around W suitably, Z is a normal variety and is projective over Y, f is D-nonpositive, and  $H := f_*D$  is semiample over Y.

Let  $g: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a meromorphic map over Y after shrinking Y around W suitably.

• We say that  $g: X \to Z$  is the ample model of D over some open neighborhood of W if, after shrinking Y around W suitably, Z is a normal variety and is projective over Y, and there exists an ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor H over Y on Z such that if  $p: V \to X$  and  $q: V \to Z$  resolve the indeterminacy of g then q is a contraction morphism and we can write  $p^*D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} q^*H + E$ , where  $E \geq 0$  and  $B \geq E$  holds for every  $B \in |p^*D/Y|_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

The basic properties of semiample models and ample models are summarized as follows.

**Lemma 11.3** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.6]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X.

- (1) If  $g_i: X \to X_i$ , i = 1, 2, are two ample models of D over some open neighborhood of W, then there exists an isomorphism  $\chi: X_1 \to X_2$  over some open neighborhood of W such that  $g_2 = \chi \circ g_1$ .
- (2) If f: X --→ Z is a semiample model of D over some open neighborhood of W, then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, the ample model g: X --→ Z' of D over some open neighborhood of W exists and g = h ∘ f, where h: Z → Z' is a contraction morphism and f\*D ~<sub>ℝ</sub> h\*H holds such that H is an ℝ-divisor on Z' which is ample over some open neighborhood of W.
- (3) If  $f: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is a bimeromorphic map over some open neighborhood of W, then f is the ample model of D over some open neighborhood of W if and only if f is a

semiample model of D over some open neighborhood of W and  $f_*D$  is ample over some open neighborhood of W.

*Proof.* For the details, see the proof of (1), (3), and (4) in [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.6].

The definition of *weak log canonical models* and *log terminal models* becomes subtle in our complex analytic setting.

**Definition 11.4** ([BCHM, Definition 3.6.7]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y. Suppose that  $K_X + \Delta$ is log canonical and let  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction of normal complex varieties over Y after shrinking Y around W suitably, where Z is projective over Y. We set  $\Gamma = \phi_* \Delta$ .

- (i) Z is a weak log canonical model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over W if  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -nonpositive over some open neighborhood of W and  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is nef over W.
- (ii) Z is a weak log canonical model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W if, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -nonpositive and  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is nef over Y.
- (iii) Z is a log terminal model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over W if  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative over some open neighborhood of W,  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is divisorial log terminal,  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is nef over W, and Z is Q-factorial over W.
- (iv) Z is a log terminal model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W if, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative,  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is divisorial log terminal,  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is nef over Y, and Z is Q-factorial over W.
- (v) Z is a good log terminal model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W if, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative,  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is divisorial log terminal,  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over Y, and Z is Q-factorial over W.

We further assume that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P).

(vi) Z is the log canonical model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W if  $\phi$  is the ample model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W.

We give some remarks on Definitions 11.2 and 11.4.

**Remark 11.5** (see [BCHM, Remark 3.6.8]). A log terminal model is sometimes simply called a *log minimal model* or a *minimal model*.

**Remark 11.6.** In Definitions 11.2 and 11.4, we only require that  $f: X \to Z$ ,  $g: X \to Z$ , and  $\phi: X \to Z$  exist after replacing Y with a small open neighborhood of W suitably. If there is no danger of confusion, then we simply say that  $\phi: X \to Z$  is a log terminal model (weak log canonical model, log canonical model, and so on) for  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y when it is a log terminal model (weak log canonical model (weak log canonical model, and so on) for  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W.

In our complex analytic setting, the definition of *Mori fiber spaces* becomes as follows.

**Definition 11.7** (Mori fiber spaces). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $f: X \to Z$  be a projective morphism of normal complex varieties over Y. Then  $f: (X, \Delta) \to Z$  is a Mori fiber space over Y if

(i) X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W,

50

- (ii) f is a contraction morphism associated to a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{\text{NE}}(X/Y; W)$ , and
- (iii)  $\dim Z < \dim X$ .

**.** .

The following definition is essentially the same as [BCHM, Definition 1.1.4]. However, we need some modifications since we treat only curves mapped to points in W by  $\pi$ .

**Definition 11.8** ([BCHM, Definition 1.1.4]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal variety and let W be a compact subset of Y. Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of the real vector space  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ spanned by the prime divisors on X. We fix an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $A \ge 0$  on X such that  $\operatorname{Supp} A$ has only finitely many irreducible components and define

$$V_{A} = \{ \Delta \mid \Delta = A + B, B \in V \},$$
  

$$\mathcal{L}_{A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)) = \{ \Delta = A + B \in V_{A} \mid K_{X} + \Delta \text{ is log canonical at } \pi^{-1}(W) \text{ and } B \ge 0 \},$$
  

$$\mathcal{E}_{A,\pi}(V; W) = \{ \Delta \in \mathcal{L}_{A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)) \mid K_{X} + \Delta \text{ is pseudo-effective over some open neighborhood of } W \},$$
  

$$\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V; W) = \{ \Delta \in \mathcal{L}_{A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)) \mid K_{X} + \Delta \text{ is nef over } W \}, \text{ and}$$
  

$$\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}(V; W) = \{ \Delta \in \mathcal{L}_{A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)) \mid K_{X} + \Delta \text{ is nef over some open neighborhood of } W \}.$$

Given a bimeromorphic contraction  $\phi: X \to Z$  after shrinking Y around W suitably, define

$$\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W) = \left\{ \Delta \in \mathcal{E}_{A,\pi}(V;W) \middle| \begin{array}{c} \phi \text{ is a weak log canonical model for } (X,\Delta) \\ \text{over } W \end{array} \right\},$$

and

$$\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W) = \left\{ \Delta \in \mathcal{E}_{A,\pi}(V;W) \mid \begin{array}{c} \phi \text{ is a weak log canonical model for } (X,\Delta) \\ \text{over some open neighborhood of } W \end{array} \right\}.$$

Given a meromorphic map  $\psi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  after shrinking Y around W suitably, define

$$\mathcal{A}_{\psi,A,\pi}(V;W) = \left\{ \Delta \in \mathcal{E}_{A,\pi}(V;W) \middle| \begin{array}{c} \psi \text{ is the ample model for } (X,\Delta) \\ \text{over some open neighborhood of } W \end{array} \right\}.$$

We make some elementary remarks.

**Remark 11.9.** By the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 3.5, we can check that  $\mathcal{L}_A(V;\pi^{-1}(W))$  in Definition 11.8 is a polytope. We further assume that A is a Q-divisor and that V is defined over the rationals. Then  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  is a rational polytope.

**Remark 11.10.** By definition, it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  and  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  are closed subsets of  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ .

We note the following elementary fact.

**Remark 11.11.** In Definition 11.8, let S be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that Supp S has only finitely many irreducible components. If  $\operatorname{Supp} A$  and  $\operatorname{Supp} B$  have no common irreducible components for every  $B \in V$ , then

$$\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V;\pi^{-1}(W)) = \mathcal{L}_S(V_A;\pi^{-1}(W))$$

holds. Of course, if Supp S and Supp B have no common irreducible components for every  $B \in V$ , then

$$\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V;\pi^{-1}(W)) = \mathcal{L}_A(V_S;\pi^{-1}(W))$$

holds.

From now on, we assume that S is reduced. We put

 $V' := \{B \in V \mid \text{Supp } B \text{ and } \text{Supp } S \text{ have no common irreducible components} \}.$ 

Then V' is an affine subspace of V such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V;\pi^{-1}(W)) = \mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V';\pi^{-1}(W)) = \mathcal{L}_A(V'_S;\pi^{-1}(W))$$

There are no difficulties to adapt [BCHM, Lemmas 3.6.9, 3.6.10, and 3.6.11] to our complex analytic setting. Roughly speaking, they are easy consequences of the negativity lemma. Hence we omit the details here. On the other hand, [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12] is subtle and needs some reformulation for our purposes. We will discuss it in Section 12.

**11.12** (see [BCHM, Lemmas 3.7.3, 3.7.4, and 3.7.5]). Note that [BCHM, Lemmas 3.7.3, 3.7.4, and 3.7.5] are very important. We need them to reduce various problems for log canonical pairs to simpler ones for kawamata log terminal pairs. We state them here explicitly in our complex analytic setting for the sake of completeness. In the following three lemmas 11.13, 11.14, and 11.15, we assume that  $\pi: X \to Y$  is a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces such that X is a normal variety and Y is Stein and that W is a Stein compact subset of Y.

**Lemma 11.13** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.7.3]). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of WDiv<sub>R</sub>(X) and let  $A \ge 0$  be a  $\pi$ -big  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. Let  $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  be a polytope.

If  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$  for every  $\Delta \in \mathcal{C}$ , then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, we can find a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ divisor A' on X, a finite-dimensional affine subspace V' of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , and a translation

$$L: \operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X) \to \operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X),$$

by an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor T with  $T \sim_{\mathbb{R}} 0$  such that  $L(\mathcal{C}) \subset \mathcal{L}_{A'}(V'; \pi^{-1}(W))$  and  $(X, \Delta - A)$  and  $(X, L(\Delta))$  have the same non-kawamata log terminal centers. Furthermore, if A is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor, then we may assume that  $T \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} 0$  holds.

**Lemma 11.14** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.7.4]). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of WDiv<sub>R</sub>(X), which is defined over the rationals, and let A be a general  $\pi$ -ample Qdivisor on X. Let S be a finite sum of prime divisors on X such that each irreducible component of S intersects with  $\pi^{-1}(W)$ . Suppose that there exists a divisorial log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$  with  $S = \lfloor \Delta_0 \rfloor$  and let  $G \ge 0$  be any divisor whose support does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta_0)$ .

Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, we can find a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor A' on X, and affine subspace V' of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals, and a rational affine linear isomorphism

$$L\colon V_{S+A}\to V'_{S+A'}$$

such that

- L preserves Q-linear equivalence,
- $L(\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)))$  is contained in the interior of  $\mathcal{L}_{S+A'}(V'; \pi^{-1}(W))$ ,
- for any  $\Delta \in L(\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)))$ ,  $K_X + \Delta$  is divisorial log terminal and  $\lfloor \Delta \rfloor = S$ , and
- for any  $\Delta \in L(\mathcal{L}_{S+A}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)))$ , the support of  $\Delta$  contains the support of G.

**Lemma 11.15** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.7.5]). Let  $(X, \Delta = A + B)$  be a log canonical pair, where  $A \ge 0$  and  $B \ge 0$ .

If A is  $\pi$ -big and  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$  and there exists a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$ , then we can find a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta' = A' + B')$ , where  $A' \geq 0$  is a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ divisor on X,  $B' \geq 0$ , and  $K_X + \Delta' \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + \Delta$ . If in addition A is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor, then  $K_X + \Delta' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} K_X + \Delta$ .

Here we omit the proof of Lemmas 11.13, 11.14, and 11.15. This is because there are no difficulties to translate the proof of [BCHM, Lemmas 3.7.3, 3.7.4, and 3.7.5] into our complex analytic setting.

In this paper, we are mainly interested in kawamata log terminal pairs  $(X, \Delta)$  such that  $\Delta$  is big over Y. For such pairs, we have some good properties.

**Lemma 11.16** ([BCHM, Lemma 3.9.3]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that  $(X, \Delta)$  is a kawamata log terminal pair, where  $\Delta$  is  $\pi$ -big. If  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is a weak log canonical model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over W, then

- (1)  $\phi$  is a weak log canonical model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W,
- (2)  $\phi$  is a semiample model over some open neighborhood of W,
- (3) after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a contraction morphism  $h: Z \to Z'$  such that  $K_Z + \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{R}} h^*H$ , for some  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor H on Z', which is ample over Y, where  $\Gamma = \phi_*\Delta$ , and
- (4) the ample model  $\psi: X \dashrightarrow Z'$  of  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W exists.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W without mentioning it explicitly. We put  $\Gamma = \phi_* \Delta$ . Then  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is kawamata log terminal by the negativity lemma. Since  $\Delta$  is big, we can write  $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{R}} A + B$  such that A is ample over  $Y, A \ge 0$ ,  $B \ge 0$ , and (Z, A + B) is kawamata log terminal. Then, by Theorem 8.3, we can check that  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over Y. This means that  $\phi$  is a weak log canonical model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y and that  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over Y. Hence we obtain (1) and (2). Since  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over Y, we get a contraction morphism  $h: Z \to Z'$  such that  $\psi := h \circ \phi: X \dashrightarrow Z'$  is the ample model of  $(X, \Delta)$  (see Lemma 11.3 (2)). Therefore, we have (3) and (4).

The following theorem is very important.

**Theorem 11.17** ([BCHM, Theorem 3.11.1]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals. Fix a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor A on X. Suppose that there exists a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$ . Then  $\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}(V; W) = \mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V; W)$  holds and the set of hyperplanes  $\mathbb{R}^{\perp}$  is finite in  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ , as  $\mathbb{R}$  ranges over the set of extremal rays of  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y; W)$ . In particular,  $\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}(V; W) = \mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V; W)$  is a rational polytope.

Sketch of Proof of Theorem 11.17. By Theorem 8.3,  $K_X + \Delta$  is semiample over some open neighborhood of W for every  $\Delta \in \mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$ . In particular,  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over some open neighborhood of W. This implies that  $\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}(V;W) = \mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  holds. On the other hand, the proof of [BCHM, Theorem 3.11.1] works by Theorem 7.3. Hence we see that  $R^{\perp}$  is finite in  $\mathcal{L}_A(V;\pi^{-1}(W))$  and  $\mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  is a rational polytope.  $\Box$  We prepare an easy lemma.

**Lemma 11.18.** In Theorem 11.17, we consider  $\Delta_1, \Delta_2 \in \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ . Let  $f_i: X \to Z_i$  be a contraction morphism between normal varieties over Y such that  $K_X + \Delta_i \sim_{\mathbb{R}} f_i^* D_i$  for some  $g_i$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $D_i$  on  $Z_i$ , where  $g_i: Z_i \to Y$  is the structure morphism, for i = 1, 2. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i)  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$  belong to the same interior of a unique face of  $\mathcal{N}^{\sharp}_{A_{\pi}}(V;W)$ .
- (ii)  $Z_1$  and  $Z_2$  are isomorphic over some open neighborhood of W.

Proof. We note that  $\Delta_1, \Delta_2 \in \mathcal{N}_{A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V; W)$ . If (ii) holds, then (i) obviously holds true. From now on, we will prove (ii) under the assumption that (i) holds. Let  $\overline{Z}$  be the image of the map  $(f_1, f_2): X \to Z_1 \times_Y Z_2$  given by  $x \mapsto (f_1(x), f_2(x))$  Let  $p_i: \overline{Z} \to Z_i$  be the projection for i = 1, 2. We take any point  $z_i \in g_i^{-1}(W)$ . Then we can easily see that  $p_i^{-1}(z_i)$  is a point by (i). By using the Stein factorization (see, for example, [BS, Chapter III, Corollary 2.13]),  $p_i: \overline{Z} \to Z_i$  is an isomorphism over some open neighborhood of  $g_i^{-1}(W)$ . Hence  $Z_1$  and  $Z_2$  are isomorphic over some open neighborhood of W. This is what we wanted.

As an easy consequence of Theorem 11.17, we have:

**Corollary 11.19** ([BCHM, Corollary 3.11.2]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $WDiv_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals. Fix a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor A on X. Suppose that there exists a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$ . Let  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be any bimeromorphic contraction over Y. Then we obtain:

(1)  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  holds and  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$  is a rational polytope. Moreover, we have:

(2) There are finitely many contraction morphisms  $f_i: Z \to Z_i$  over  $Y, 1 \le i \le k$ , such that if  $f: Z \to Z'$  is any contraction morphism over Y and there is an  $\mathbb{R}$ divisor D on Z', which is ample over Y, such that  $K_Z + \Gamma := \phi_*(K_X + \Delta) \sim_{\mathbb{R}} f^*D$ for some  $\Delta \in \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$ , then there is an index  $1 \le i \le k$  and an isomorphism  $\eta: Z_i \to Z'$  such that  $f = \eta \circ f_i$ .

Note that in (2) we require that  $f_i$ , f, D, and  $\eta$  exist only after shrinking Y around W suitably.

The proof of [BCHM, Corollary 3.11.2] works with some minor modifications.

Sketch of Proof of Corollary 11.19. Note that  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  is a rational polytope. Therefore, its span is an affine subspace of  $V_A$ , which is defined over the rationals. By replacing V, we may assume that  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  spans  $V_A$ . To prove that  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  is a rational polytope, we may work locally about a divisor  $\Delta \in \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$ . By Lemma 11.14, we may assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal. In this case,  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is automatically kawamata log terminal. We put  $C := \phi_* A$ . Then C is big over Y. Let  $V^{\dagger} \subset \operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(Z)$  be the image of V. By Lemmas 11.13 and 11.14, we can reduce the problem to the case where C is a  $\psi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor and  $\Gamma$  belongs to the interior of  $\mathcal{L}_C(V^{\dagger}; \psi^{-1}(W))$ , where  $\psi: Z \to Y$  is the structure morphism. By Theorem 11.17,  $\mathcal{N}_{C,\psi}^{\sharp}(V^{\dagger},W) = \mathcal{N}_{C,\psi}(V^{\dagger},W)$  is a rational polytope. Hence we can easily check that  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$  holds and  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  is a rational polytope. Thus we obtain (1). Let  $f: Z \to Z'$  be a contraction morphism over some open neighborhood of W such that  $\phi_*(K_X + \Delta) = K_Z + \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{R}} f^*D$  for some  $\psi'$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on Z', where  $\psi': Z' \to Y$  is the structure morphism. Then  $\Gamma$  belongs to the interior of a unique face G of  $\mathcal{N}_{C,\psi}^{\sharp}(V^{\dagger};W) = \mathcal{N}_{C,\psi}(V^{\dagger};W)$ . Note that  $\Delta$  belongs to the interior of a unique face F of  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$  and G is determined by F. Thus we can check that (2) holds true by Lemma 11.18.

**11.20** (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.10.11]). When we run a minimal model program, we have to check that several properties are preserved by flips and divisorial contractions.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal and that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W. Let  $\varphi: X \to Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction morphism over Y associated to a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ . Let A be a  $\pi$ -big  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$ .

**Lemma 11.21** (Divisorial contractions). In the above setting, we further assume that  $\varphi$  is divisorial. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, we have the following properties.

- (1) Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W.
- (2)  $(Z, \Gamma)$  is divisorial log terminal, where  $\Gamma := \varphi_* \Delta$ .
- (3)  $\operatorname{Exc}(\varphi)$  is a prime divisor on X.
- (4)  $\rho(Z/Y; W) = \rho(X/Y; W) 1.$
- (5)  $\mathbf{B}_{+}(\varphi_{*}A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(Z, \Gamma)$ .

**Lemma 11.22** (Flips). In the above setting, we further assume that  $\varphi$  is a flipping contraction and that the flip  $\varphi^+: X^+ \to Z$  of  $\varphi$  exists.



Then, after shrinking Y and W suitably, we have the following properties.

(1)  $X^+$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W.

- (2)  $(X^+, \Delta^+)$  is divisorial log terminal, where  $\Delta^+ := \phi_* \Delta$ .
- (3)  $\rho(X^+/Y;W) = \rho(Z/Y;W) + 1 = \rho(X/Y;W).$
- (4)  $X^+$  is projective over Y.
- (5)  $\mathbf{B}_{+}(\phi_{*}A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X^{+}, \Delta^{+})$ .

Proof of Lemmas 11.21 and 11.22. The proof for algebraic varieties works with only some obvious modifications even in the complex analytic setting. Here, we will only prove (5). There are no difficulties to prove the other properties. Let  $f: X \dashrightarrow X'$  denote the divisorial contraction  $\varphi: X \to Z$  in Lemma 11.21 or the flip  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow X^+$  in Lemma 11.22. We will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. We take a general  $\pi'$ -ample Q-divisor C on X', where  $\pi': X' \to Y$  is the structure morphism. We may assume that  $\mathbf{B}((A - \varepsilon f_*^{-1}C)/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$  for some  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ . Therefore, we have an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on X such that  $D \sim_{\mathbb{R}} A - \varepsilon f_*^{-1}C$  and that  $(X, \Delta' := \Delta + \varepsilon' D)$  is a divisorial log terminal pair for  $0 < \varepsilon' \ll 1$ . Note that if  $0 < \varepsilon' \ll 1$  then R is still a  $(K_X + \Delta')$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ . Therefore,  $(X', f_*\Delta' = f_*\Delta + \varepsilon' f_*D)$  is still a divisorial log terminal pair. Hence the support of  $f_*D$  contains no non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X', f_*\Delta)$ .

Since  $f_*A \sim_{\mathbb{R}} f_*D + \varepsilon C$ ,  $\mathbf{B}_+(f_*A/Y)$  contains no non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X', f_*\Delta')$ . This is what we wanted.

# 12. Some basic definitions and properties, II

In this section, we will treat [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12] in the complex analytic setting. We change the formulation suitable for our complex analytic setting. The main result of this section is Lemma 12.3. For the proof of Lemma 12.3, we prepare two lemmas.

Let us start with small projective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorializations (see Theorem 1.24).

**Lemma 12.1** (Small projective Q-factorializations). Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with dim X = n and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $f: X' \to X$  such that X' is projective over Y and that X' is Q-factorial over W.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By taking a resolution, we have a bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $g: V \to X$  such that V is smooth, V is projective over Y, and  $\operatorname{Exc}(g)$  and  $\operatorname{Exc}(g) \cup \operatorname{Supp} g_*^{-1}\Delta$  are simple normal crossing divisors on V. Then we can take an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta_V$  on V such that  $(V, \Delta_V)$  is kawamata log terminal and that  $K_V + \Delta_V =$  $g^*(K_X + \Delta) + E$ , where  $E \geq 0$  and  $\operatorname{Supp} E = \operatorname{Exc}(g)$ . We take a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor H on X such that  $K_X + \Delta + H \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \geq 0$ . We apply Theorem  $G_n$  to  $K_V + \Delta_V + g^*H \sim_{\mathbb{R}} g^*D + E \geq 0$ . Then we get a bimeromorphic contraction  $\phi: V \dashrightarrow X'$ over X such that X' is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W, X' is projective over Y, and  $K_{X'} + \Gamma$  is nef over Y, where  $\Gamma := \phi_* \Delta_V$ . By the negativity lemma, we see that  $f: X' \to X$  is small. This is what we wanted.  $\Box$ 

By combining Lemma 12.1 with Theorem 8.2, we have:

## **Lemma 12.2.** Assume that Theorem $G_n$ holds true.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with dim X = n and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction of normal complex varieties over Y such that  $(Z, \Delta_Z)$  is kawamata log terminal for some  $\Delta_Z$ . We consider the following commutative diagram:



where p and q are projective bimeromorphic morphisms and V is a normal complex variety. Let H be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on Z such that  $H' := p_*q^*H$  is also  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. Let B be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that B is numerically equivalent to H' over W. Then  $\phi_*B := q_*p^*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier over some open neighborhood of W and is numerically equivalent to H over W.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove that  $\phi_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier over some open neighborhood of W, equivalently,  $\phi_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at any point z of  $(\pi')^{-1}(W)$ . We will freely shrink Y

around W without mentioning it explicitly. By applying Lemma 12.1 to  $\pi': Z \to Y$ , we can construct a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $f: Z' \to Z$  such that Z' is projective over Y and that Z' is Q-factorial over W. By replacing V, we may assume that  $q: V \to Z$  factors through Z'. Hence we have the following commutative diagram.



Since Z' is Q-factorial over W, we may assume that  $\phi'_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on Z'. We put  $K_{Z'} + \Delta_{Z'} = f^*(K_Z + \Delta_Z)$ . Then  $(Z', \Delta_{Z'})$  is kawamata log terminal since f is small. Note that  $\phi'_*B$  is numerically equivalent to  $f^*H$  over W by construction. Therefore,  $\phi'_*B$ is numerically trivial over z for any  $z \in (\pi')^{-1}(W)$ . Since  $f: Z' \to Z$  is bimeromorphic, by replacing Z with a small Stein open neighborhood of some  $z \in (\pi')^{-1}(W)$ , we can take  $\Theta$  on Z' such that  $(Z', \Theta)$  is kawamata log terminal and that  $-(K_{Z'} + \Theta)$  is ample over Z. Hence, by Theorem 8.2,  $\phi_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier at z. Note that W is compact. Therefore, this means that  $\phi_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier over some open neighborhood of W. This is what we wanted.  $\Box$ 

The following lemma is essentially the same as [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12]. We note that we do not assume that A is  $\pi$ -ample in Lemma 12.3 (see Remark 12.4 below).

**Lemma 12.3** ([BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P) and that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and has only kawamata log terminal singularities. Let  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a bimeromorphic contraction over Y and let A be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that Supp A has only finitely many irreducible components. We assume one of the following conditions:

(i) Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W, or

(ii) Theorem  $G_n$  holds, where  $n = \dim X$ .

If V is any finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  such that  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ spans  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  modulo numerical equivalence over W and  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  intersects the interior of  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ , then

$$\mathcal{W}^{\sharp}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W) = \overline{\mathcal{A}}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$$

holds, where  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$  is the closure of  $\mathcal{A}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$ .

Let us prove Lemma 12.3.

Proof of Lemma 12.3. It is easy to see that

$$\mathcal{W}^{\sharp}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W) \supset \mathcal{A}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$$

holds. Since  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  is closed, it follows that

$$\mathcal{W}^{\sharp}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W) \supset \overline{\mathcal{A}}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W).$$

In order to prove the opposite inclusion, it is sufficient to prove that a dense subset of  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$  is contained in  $\mathcal{A}_{\phi,A,\pi}(V;W)$ .

From now on, we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. We take  $\Delta$  belonging to the interior of  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W)$ . We put  $\Gamma := \phi_*\Delta$ . Then  $(Z,\Gamma)$ is a weak log canonical model of  $(X,\Delta)$  over W by definition. Since  $\mathcal{L}_A(V;\pi^{-1}(W))$  spans  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  modulo numerical equivalence over W, we can find  $\Delta_0 \in \mathcal{L}_A(V;\pi^{-1}(W))$  such that  $\Delta_0 - \Delta$  is numerically equivalent over W to  $\mu\Delta$  for some  $\mu > 0$ . We consider

$$\Delta' := \Delta + \varepsilon \left( (\Delta_0 - \Delta) - \mu \Delta \right) = (1 - \varepsilon) \nu \Delta + \varepsilon \Delta_0,$$

where

$$\nu = \frac{1 - \varepsilon - \varepsilon \mu}{1 - \varepsilon} < 1.$$

Hence,  $\Delta'$  is numerically equivalent to  $\Delta$  over W and if  $\varepsilon > 0$  is sufficiently small then  $\Delta'$  is effective. Since  $(X, \nu \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal, it follows that  $(X, \Delta')$  is also kawamata log terminal. We put  $\Gamma' := \phi_* \Delta'$ . If (i) holds, then  $K_Z + \Gamma'$  is obviously  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. If (ii) holds, then we can check that  $K_Z + \Gamma'$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier by Lemma 12.2.

Let H be a general  $\pi'$ -ample Q-divisor on Z, where  $\pi' \colon Z \to Y$  is the structure morphism. Let  $p \colon U \to X$  and  $q \colon U \to Z$  resolve the indeterminacy locus of  $\phi$ . We put  $H' \coloneqq p_*q^*H$ . It is obvious that  $\phi$  is H'-nonpositive. We take  $\Delta_1 \in \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  such that  $B \coloneqq \Delta_1 - \Delta$  is numerically equivalent to  $\eta H'$  over W for some  $\eta > 0$ . By replacing H with  $\eta H$ , we may assume that  $\eta = 1$ . If (i) holds, then  $\phi_*B$  is obviously  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier. If (ii) holds, then we can check that  $\phi_*B$  is  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier by Lemma 12.2. Therefore, we obtain that  $\phi$  is  $(K_X + \Delta + \lambda B)$ -nonpositive and  $\phi_*(K_X + \Delta + \lambda B)$  is ample over Y for every  $\lambda > 0$ . On the other hand, we have

$$\Delta + \lambda B = \Delta + \lambda (\Delta_1 - \Delta) = (1 - \lambda) \Delta + \lambda \Delta_1 \in \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$$

for every  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . This implies that  $\phi$  is the ample model of  $K_X + \Delta + \lambda B$  over Y for every  $\lambda \in (0, 1]$ .

We close this section with a useful remark.

**Remark 12.4.** In Lemma 12.3, we further assume that A = S + A', where S is reduced and  $A' \ge 0$  is a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X, and that V is defined over the rationals. We put

 $V' := \{B \in V \mid \text{Supp } B \text{ and } \text{Supp } S \text{ have no common irreducible components} \}$ 

as in Remark 11.11. Hence V' is also defined over the rationals. Then we have

$$\mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}^{\sharp}(V';W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A',\pi}^{\sharp}(V'_{S};W)$$
$$= \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A',\pi}(V'_{S};W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}(V';W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}(V;W)$$

by Remark 11.11 and Corollary 11.19 (1). In particular,

$$\mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}^{\sharp}(V;W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,S+A',\pi}(V;W)$$

is a rational polytope since  $\mathcal{W}_{\phi,A',\pi}^{\sharp}(V'_{S};W) = \mathcal{W}_{\phi,A',\pi}(V'_{S};W)$  is a rational polytope by Corollary 11.19 (1).

## 13. MINIMAL MODEL PROGRAM WITH SCALING

In this section, we will explain the minimal model program with scaling. It is very important for various geometric applications. **13.1** (Minimal model program with scaling). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Precisely speaking, X is a normal complex variety, Y is a Stein space, and W is a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair such that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and let C be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta + C)$  is log canonical and that  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is nef over W. We assume that one of the following conditions hold.

- (i)  $\Delta = S + A + B$ ,  $S = \lfloor \Delta \rfloor$ ,  $A \ge 0$  is  $\pi$ -big,  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$ , and  $B \ge 0$ .
- (ii) C is  $\pi$ -big and  $\mathbf{B}_+(C/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$ .

We recall the following elementary fact for the reader's convenience.

**Remark 13.2.** Assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  and  $(X, \Delta + C)$  are both log canonical and that C is effective. Then V is a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta)$  if and only if V is a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta + \varepsilon C)$  for every  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ .

Although we have already treated more general lemmas, we explicitly state an easy lemma for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 13.3.** Suppose that (i) holds true. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, we can find  $\Delta'$  such that  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + \Delta'$ ,  $\Delta' = A' + B'$ ,  $A' \geq 0$  is a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor,  $B' \geq 0$ , and  $(X, \Delta')$  is kawamata log terminal. Suppose that (ii) holds true. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, for any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ , there exists  $\Delta'$  such that  $K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + \Delta'$ ,  $\Delta' = A' + B'$ ,  $A' \geq 0$  is a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor,  $B' \geq 0$ , and  $(X, \Delta')$  is kawamata log terminal.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W without mentioning it explicitly. We assume that (i) holds. By the assumption on  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$ , we can write  $A \sim_{\mathbb{R}} A_1 + A_2$  such that  $A_1$  is a  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor on X and  $A_2$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$ . Then  $K_X + S + A + B \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + S + B + (1-\alpha)A + \alpha A_2 + \alpha A_1$  such that  $(X, S + B + (1-\alpha)A + \alpha A_2)$  is divisorial log terminal for some positive rational number  $\alpha$  with  $0 < \alpha \ll 1$ . By replacing A and B with  $\alpha A_1$  and  $B + (1-\alpha)A + \alpha A_2$ , respectively, we may assume that A itself is a  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor. Since  $\beta S + \frac{1}{2}A$  is  $\pi$ -ample for some rational number  $\beta$  with  $0 < \beta \ll 1$ , we can take  $A_3 \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \beta S + \frac{1}{2}A$  such that  $K_X + (1-\beta)S + \frac{1}{2}A + B + A_3$  is kawamata log terminal. If we put  $A' = \frac{1}{2}A$  and  $B' = (1-\beta)S + \frac{1}{2}A + B + A_3$ , then  $\Delta' = A' + B'$  satisfies the desired properties. From now on, we assume that (ii) holds. We note that V is a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta)$  if and only if V is a non-kawamata log terminal center of  $(X, \Delta + \varepsilon C)$  for  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ . Therefore, we can apply the above argument to  $\Delta + \varepsilon C$ . Thus we have a desired divisor  $\Delta'$  on X.

We put

$$\lambda := \inf \{ \mu \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \, | \, K_X + \Delta + \mu C \text{ is nef over } W \}$$

If  $\lambda = 0$ , equivalently,  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over W, then we stop. In this case,  $(X, \Delta)$  itself is a log terminal model of  $(X, \Delta)$  over W. If further (i) holds true, then  $(X, \Delta)$  is a log terminal model of  $(X, \Delta)$  over some open neighborhood of W by Theorem 8.3 (see also Lemma 11.16). Moreover, it is a good log terminal model of  $(X, \Delta)$  over some open neighborhood of W. **Lemma 13.4.** If  $\lambda > 0$  holds, then there exists a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$  such that  $(K_X + \Delta + \lambda C) \cdot R = 0$ .

Proof. If (i) holds, then there are only finitely many  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal rays by Theorems 7.2 and 7.3. Hence it is not difficult to find a desired extremal ray R. If (ii) holds, then we consider  $K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C$  for  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . By Lemma 13.3, after shrinking Yaround W suitably,  $K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C \sim_{\mathbb{R}} K_X + \Delta'$  such that  $(X, \Delta')$  is kawamata log terminal,  $\Delta' = A' + B', A' \ge 0$  is a  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor, and  $B' \ge 0$ . Hence, by Theorem 7.3, there are only finitely many  $(K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C)$ -negative extremal rays. Thus, we can easily take a desired extremal ray R.

From now on, we assume that  $\lambda > 0$  holds. Let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be the extremal contraction over Y defined by R (see Theorems 7.2 and 7.3). We note that in general the contraction morphism  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  over Y exists only after shrinking Y around W suitably. If  $\varphi$  is not birational, then we have a Mori fiber space over Y (see Definition 11.7) and we stop.

**Lemma 13.5.** Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true.

Let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be a flipping contraction associated to a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{\text{NE}}(X/Y; W)$  with dim X = n. Then the flip  $\varphi^+ \colon X^+ \to Z$  exists.

Proof. For the details, see Theorem 17.9 and its proof.

If  $\varphi$  is birational, then either  $\varphi$  is divisorial and we replace X by Z or  $\varphi$  is small, that is, flipping, and we replace X by the flip  $X^+$  (see Lemmas 11.21 and 11.22). In either case,  $K_X + \Delta + \lambda C$  is nef over W and  $K_X + \Delta$  is divisorial log terminal. Hence we may repeat the process under the assumption that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true for  $n = \dim X$ . In this way, we obtain a sequence of flips and divisorial contractions starting from  $X_0 := X$ :

$$X_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} X_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} X_i \xrightarrow{\phi_i} X_{i+1} \xrightarrow{\phi_{i+1}} \cdots,$$

and a real numbers

$$1 \ge \lambda =: \lambda_0 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \cdots$$

such that  $K_{X_i} + \Delta_i + \lambda_i C_i$  is nef over W, where  $\Delta_i := (\phi_{i-1})_* \Delta_{i-1}$  and  $C_i := (\phi_{i-1})_* C_{i-1}$ for every  $i \ge 1$ . We note that each step  $\phi_i$  exists only after shrinking Y around Wsuitably. We can easily check that each step of this minimal model program preserves the conditions (i) and (ii) by the negativity lemma (see, for example, Lemmas 11.21, 11.22 and [BCHM, Lemma 3.10.11]). The above minimal model program is usually called the minimal model program with scaling over Y around W. We sometimes simply say that it is a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling. If (i) holds true and  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$ does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta + C)$ , then this minimal model program always terminates after finitely many steps under the assumption that Theorem E holds true.

**Theorem 13.6.** Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  and Theorem  $E_n$  hold true, where  $n = \dim X$ . Suppose that (i) holds. We further assume that  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any nonkawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta + C)$ . Then the minimal model program with scaling explained above always terminates after finitely many steps.

Proof. By the proof of Lemma 13.3, we may assume that  $\Delta = A + B$ ,  $A \ge 0$  is a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor,  $B \ge 0$ ,  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal, and  $(X, \Delta + C)$  is still log canonical. By construction, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $(X_i, \Delta_i + \lambda_i C_i)$  is a weak log canonical model of  $(X, \Delta + \lambda_i C)$  over W for every *i*. By Theorem E<sub>n</sub> and the negativity

lemma (see [BCHM, Lemma 3.10.12]), we know that there are no infinite sequences of flips and divisorial contractions. This is what we wanted.  $\hfill \Box$ 

If C is  $\pi$ -ample, then we can run a minimal model program with scaling of C by (ii). We conjecture that the minimal model program with scaling always terminates after finitely many steps. Unfortunately, however, this conjecture is still widely open. The following easy lemma is useful for some geometric applications (see [Fu4]).

**Lemma 13.7.** Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  and Theorem  $E_n$  hold true, where  $n = \dim X$ .

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair such that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and let  $C \ge 0$  be a  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta + C)$  is log canonical and that  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is nef over W. We consider a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C over Y around W starting from  $(X_0, \Delta_0) := (X, \Delta)$ :

$$X_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} X_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} X_i \xrightarrow{\phi_i} X_{i+1} \xrightarrow{\phi_{i+1}} \cdots,$$

with

$$1 \ge \lambda =: \lambda_0 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \cdots$$

such that  $K_{X_i} + \Delta_i + \lambda_i C_i$  is nef over W,  $\Delta_i := (\phi_{i-1})_* \Delta_{i-1}$ , and  $C_i := (\phi_{i-1})_* C_{i-1}$  for every  $i \ge 1$ . We further assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective. Then there exists  $i_0$ such that  $K_{X_{i_0}} + \Delta_{i_0} \in \overline{\text{Mov}}(X_{i_0}/Y; W)$ .

Proof. If the minimal model program terminates after finitely many steps, then  $K_{i_0} + \Delta_{i_0}$ is nef over W for some  $i_0$  since  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective. This means that  $K_{X_{i_0}} + \Delta_{i_0} \in \overline{\text{Mov}}(X_{i_0}/Y; W)$ .

From now on, we assume that the minimal model program does not terminate. We put  $\lambda_{\infty} := \lim_{i \to \infty} \lambda_i \ge 0$ . If  $\lambda_{\infty} > 0$ , then the given minimal model program can be seen as a  $(K_X + \Delta + \frac{\lambda_{\infty}}{2}C)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C. Without loss of generality, we may assume that C does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta + C)$  since C is  $\pi$ -ample. Hence, by Theorem 13.6, it must terminate. This is a contradiction. Therefore, we may assume that  $\lambda_{\infty} = 0$ . By replacing  $(X, \Delta)$  with  $(X_{i_0}, \Delta_{i_0})$  for some  $i_0$ , we may further assume that every step of the  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program is a flip. Let  $G_i$  be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $X_i$  such that  $G_i$  is ample over Y. We assume that  $G_{iX} \to 0$  in  $N^1(X/Y; W)$  for  $i \to \infty$ , where  $G_{iX}$  is the strict transform of  $G_i$  on X. We note that  $K_{X_i} + \Delta_i + \lambda_i C_i + G_i$  is ample over some open neighborhood of W for every i. Since  $X \xrightarrow{--} X_i$  is an isomorphism in codimension one, the strict transform  $K_X + \Delta + \lambda_i C + G_{iX}$  is in  $\overline{Mov}(X/Y; W)$  for every i. By taking  $i \to \infty$ , we obtain  $K_X + \Delta \in \overline{Mov}(X/Y; W)$ . This is what we wanted.  $\Box$ 

Anyway, if Theorem  $G_n$  and Theorem  $E_n$  hold true, then we can run the minimal model program with scaling explained in this section in dimension n, although we do not know whether it terminates or not.

# 14. Nonvanishing theorem; $D_n$

One of the most difficult results in [BCHM] is the nonvanishing theorem (see [BCHM, Theorem D]). Fortunately, we can generalize it for projective morphisms of complex varieties without any difficulties. For a completely different approach to the nonvanishing theorem (see [BCHM, Theorem D]), see [BP, Section 3] and [CKP, Theorem 0.1 and Corollary 3.3].

**Theorem 14.1** (Nonvanishing theorem, [BCHM, Theorem D]). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair and let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex varieties such that Y is Stein. Assume that  $\Delta$  is big over Y and that  $K_X + \Delta$  is pseudo-effective over Y. Let U be any relatively compact Stein open subset of Y. Then there exists a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$  such that  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)} \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \geq 0$ .

Proof. By Lemma 2.37,  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}$  is a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ . We take an analytically sufficiently general fiber F of  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Then  $(F, \Delta|_F)$  is kawamata log terminal,  $(K_X + \Delta)|_F = K_F + \Delta|_F$ ,  $\Delta|_F$  is big, and  $K_F + \Delta|_F$  is pseudo-effective. Hence, by the nonvanishing theorem for projective varieties (see [BCHM, Theorem D]), there exists an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D' on F such that  $K_F + \Delta|_F \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D' \geq 0$ . By Lemma 2.53, we can find a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$  with  $(K_X + \Delta)|_{\pi^{-1}(U)} \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \geq 0$ . This is what we wanted.

**Remark 14.2.** In [BCHM, Section 6], Birkar, Cascini, Hacon, and M<sup>c</sup>Kernan proved [BCHM, Theorem  $D_n$ ] by using [BCHM, Theorems  $B_n$ ,  $C_n$ , and  $D_{n-1}$ ].

We close this section with a very important conjecture.

**Conjecture 14.3** (Nonvanishing conjecture). Let X be a smooth projective variety such that  $K_X$  is pseudo-effective. Then there exists a positive integer m such that

$$H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(mK_X)) \neq 0.$$

For the details of Conjecture 14.3, see [Has]. Note that if Conjecture 14.3 holds true then the existence problem of minimal models for projective log canonical pairs is completely solved (see [Has]).

15. Existence of analytic pl-flips; 
$$F_{n-1} \Rightarrow A_n$$

In this section, we will see that [HacM] works with some minor modifications for projective morphisms between complex analytic spaces.

Let us start with the definition of *analytic pl-flipping contractions*.

**Definition 15.1** (Analytic pl-flipping contractions). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a purely log terminal pair and let  $\varphi \colon X \to Z$  be a projective morphism of complex varieties. Then  $\varphi$  is called an *analytic pl-flipping contraction* if  $\Delta$  is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor and

- (i)  $\varphi$  is small,
- (ii)  $-(K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\varphi$ -ample,

(iii)  $S = |\Delta|$  is irreducible and -S is  $\varphi$ -ample, and

(iv)  $a(K_X + \Delta) \sim bS$  holds for some positive integers a and b.

**Remark 15.2.** Here, we replaced the condition that the relative Picard number is one in the usual definition of pl-flipping contractions for algebraic varieties with (iv) in Definition 15.1. This is because the definition of relative Picard numbers is not so clear in the setting of Definition 15.1. Moreover, (iv) is sufficient for the proof of the existence of pl-flips.

We can define *analytic pl-flips*.

**Definition 15.3** (Analytic pl-flip). Let  $\varphi: (X, \Delta) \to Z$  be an analytic pl-flipping contraction as in Definition 15.1. The *flip* of  $\varphi: (X, \Delta) \to Z$  is a small projective morphism  $\varphi^+: X^+ \to Z$  from a normal complex variety  $X^+$  such that  $K_{X^+} + \Delta^+$  is  $\varphi^+$ -ample, where  $\Delta^+$  is the strict transform of  $\Delta$ . This flip is sometimes called the *(analytic) pl-flip*  of  $\varphi: (X, \Delta) \to Z$ . It is not difficult to see that the existence of  $\varphi^+: (X^+, \Delta^+) \to Z$  is equivalent to the condition that

$$\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X + \Delta) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Z$ -algebra. The flip  $\varphi^+$  of  $\varphi$  is nothing but

$$X^{+} = \operatorname{Projan}_{Z} \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X}(\lfloor m(K_{X} + \Delta) \rfloor) \to Z$$

We prepare an easy but important lemma.

**Lemma 15.4.** Let  $\varphi : (X, \Delta) \to Z$  be an analytic pl-flipping contraction as in Definition 15.1. We put  $T := \varphi(S)$ . Then T is normal and  $\varphi : S \to T$  has connected fibers, that is,  $\mathcal{O}_T \xrightarrow{\sim} \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_S$  holds. Hence, for any open subset U of Z such that  $T|_U$  is connected,  $T|_U$ and  $S|_{\varphi^{-1}(U)}$  are normal irreducible varieties.

*Proof.* In this proof, we do not need (iv) in Definition 15.1. We will only use (i), (ii), and (iii). We note that  $\varphi$  is bimeromorphic by (i). We consider the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_X(-S) \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_S \to 0.$$

Since  $-S - (K_X + \Delta)$  is  $\varphi$ -ample and  $(X, \Delta)$  is purely log terminal, we obtain  $R^1 \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X(-S) = 0$ . This implies that

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_Y(-T) = \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X(-S) \to \mathcal{O}_Y \to \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_S \to 0$$

is exact. Hence we get  $\mathcal{O}_T \xrightarrow{\sim} \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_S$ . Therefore, T is normal and  $\varphi \colon S \to T$  has connected fibers. Note that every normal complex variety is locally irreducible. Thus,  $T|_U$  is a normal irreducible complex variety. So,  $S|_{\varphi^{-1}(U)}$  is also a normal irreducible variety.  $\Box$ 

15.5 (Theorem  $F_{n-1} \Rightarrow$  Theorem  $A_n$ ). From now on, let us see how to modify some arguments in [HacM].

**Step 1** (see [HacM, Section 3]). Let  $\varphi: (X, \Delta) \to Z$  be an analytic pl-flipping contraction with dim X = n. In order to prove the existence of the flip of  $\varphi$ , it is sufficient to check that

$$\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X+\Delta)\rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Z$ -algebra. Therefore, we take an arbitrary point  $z \in Z$  and assume that Z is a Stein open neighborhood of z by shrinking Z (see Lemma 15.4). We can always take a Stein compact subset W of Z containing z such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian.

The preliminary results in [HacM, Section 3] hold with some minor modifications with the aid of Lemma 2.26. Hence, the existence problem of the flip  $\varphi^+$  can be reduced to the condition that the restricted algebra is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_{\varphi(S)}$ -algebra.

Step 2 (see [HacM, Section 4]). As in Step 1, we consider a projective morphism  $\pi: X \to Z$  of normal complex varieties such that Z is Stein and that there exists a Stein compact subset W of Z such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian. We take a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood U of W in Z. Then every argument in [HacM, Section 4] works in a neighborhood of  $\pi: \pi^{-1}(\overline{U}) \to \overline{U}$ . This means that we can define multiplier ideal sheaves (see [HacM, Definition-Lemma 4.2]) and check the basic properties. Then we

can establish [HacM, Theorem 4.1] for  $\pi : \pi^{-1}(U) \to U$ . All we need here are a relative Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem and a suitable resolution theorem for complex analytic spaces.

Step 3 (see [HacM, Section 5]). Let us see [HacM, Section 5]. As in Step 2, we work over a neighborhood of  $\pi: \pi^{-1}(\overline{U}) \to \overline{U}$ . Then we can define asymptotic multiplier ideal sheaves (see [HacM, Definition-Lemma 5.2]) with the aid of Lemma 2.17. Thus, we can establish [HacM, Theorem 5.3], which is the main result of [HacM, Section 5], for  $\pi: \pi^{-1}(U) \to U$ . We note that the topics in [HacM, Sections 4 and 5] are independent of the theory of minimal models.

Step 4 (see [HacM, Section 6]). The main result of [HacM, Section 6], which is [HacM, Theorem 6.3], is a consequence of [HacM, Theorems 4.1 and 5.3]. Therefore, we can formulate and prove it for  $\pi^{-1}(U) \to U$  without any difficulties, where U is a sufficiently small relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of a given Stein compact subset W of Z with  $z \in W$ . We note that we do need the assumption that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian in Steps 2, 3, and 4.

Step 5 (see [HacM, Section 7]). We can formulate [HacM, Theorem 7.1] in a neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(W) \to W$ . By taking a Stein open neighborhood U of W suitably, we can use Theorem  $F_{n-1}$  and the results in the previous sections for  $\pi^{-1}(U) \to U$ . In this step, we need the assumption that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Z)$  is noetherian in order to apply Theorem  $F_n$ .

**Step 6** (see [HacM, Section 8]). Note that [HacM, Section 8] is an easy consequence of [HacM, Section 7]. Therefore, we need no new ideas. Hence we obtain that

$$\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor m(K_X+\Delta)\rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Z$ -algebra for every *n*-dimensional analytic plflipping contraction  $\varphi \colon (X, \Delta) \to Z$  under the assumption that Theorem  $F_{n-1}$  holds.

Anyway, we have understood that Theorem  $F_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $A_n$ , that is, the existence of analytic pl-flips in dimension n follows from Theorem  $F_{n-1}$ . This is a very important step of the whole proof of the main theorem (see Theorems 1.6 and 1.13).

16. Special finiteness;  $E_{n-1} \Rightarrow B_n$ 

This section corresponds to [BCHM, Section 4]. We will check that the arguments in [BCHM, Section 4] can work with some minor obvious modifications. We do not need no new ideas here.

**16.1** (Theorem  $E_{n-1} \Rightarrow$  Theorem  $B_n$ ). Let us see [BCHM, Section 4] and make some comments.

**Step 1.** In [BCHM, Lemmas 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3], some elementary results are prepared. Although they are formulated for quasi-projective varieties, there are no difficulties to translate them into our complex analytic setting. Of course, we are interested in the situation where  $\pi: X \to Y$  is a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and W is a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P) and consider everything over some Stein open neighborhood of W.

We make an important remark for the reader's convenience.

**Remark 16.2.** When we formulate [BCHM, Lemma 4.1] for our complex analytic setting, there are no differences between the notion of weak log canonical models *over* W and that of weak log canonical models *over some open neighborhood of* W by Theorem 8.3.

**Step 2.** The main result in [BCHM, Section 4] is [BCHM, Lemma 4.4], where we prove Theorem  $B_n$  under the assumption that Theorem  $E_{n-1}$  holds. We note that we can use Lemma 11.14 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 3.7.4]. In the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 4.4],  $Y_i$  is Q-factorial for every *i* by assumption. In our complex analytic setting, the corresponding condition becomes the one that  $Z_i$  is Q-factorial over *W* for every *i*. Therefore, (i) in Lemma 12.3 is satisfied. Thus, we can use Lemma 12.3 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12] and check that the arguments in the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 4.4] can be adapted for our complex analytic setting.

Hence we see that Theorem  $E_{n-1}$  implies Theorem  $B_n$ .

We close this section with a remark.

**Remark 16.3.** Theorem B is not in the first version of [BCHM] circulated in 2006, where the special termination, which is a more traditional approach originally due to Shokurov, is used. In [HacK], Hacon adopts the special termination instead of the special finiteness. For the details, see [HacK, 8.A Special termination] (see also [Fu3]).

17. Existence of log terminal models;  $A_n$  and  $B_n \Rightarrow G_n$ 

This section corresponds to [BCHM, Section 5]. This part is not difficult once we know the existence of analytic pl-flips (see Theorem A) and the special finiteness (see Theorem B). Precisely speaking, we prove Theorem  $G_n$ , which is a slight generalization of Theorem  $C_n$ , under the assumption that Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  hold true.

17.1 (Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n \Rightarrow$  Theorem  $G_n$ ). Note that [BCHM, Lemmas 5.1, 5.2, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6] hold true for our complex analytic setting with only minor suitable modifications. Since [BCHM, Section 5] is easily accessible for everyone who studies the minimal model program, there are no difficulties to translate it into our complex analytic setting.

The first lemma is an easy consequence of Theorem  $B_n$ .

**Lemma 17.2** (see [BCHM, Lemma 5.1]). Assume that Theorem  $B_n$  holds true. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with

 $\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$ 

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let H be a general h-ample Q-divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  satisfying  $H \cdot \ell > 2 \dim X$ for every projective curve  $\ell$  such that  $h(\ell)$  is a point. Suppose that X is Q-factorial over W with dim X = n,

$$K_X + \Delta + C = K_X + S + A + B + C$$

is nef over W and is divisorial log terminal with  $A \ge 0$ ,  $B \ge 0$ , and  $C \ge 0$ , where S is a finite sum of prime divisors, and  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta + C)$ . Then any sequence of flips and divisorial contractions for the  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ -minimal model program with scaling over Y around W which does not contract S, is eventually disjoint from S. *Proof.* Although we made the formulation suitable for our complex analytic setting, the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.1] works. The desired statement is an almost direct consequence of Theorem  $B_n$ . For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.1].

We note that the  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ -minimal model program over Y in Lemma 17.2 can be seen as a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over  $Y^{\flat}$  by Lemma 9.4.

**Lemma 17.3** (see [BCHM, Lemma 5.2]). Assume that Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  hold true.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let H be a general h-ample Q-divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  satisfying  $H \cdot \ell > 2 \dim X$ for every projective curve  $\ell$  such that  $h(\ell)$  is a point. Suppose that X is Q-factorial over W with dim X = n,  $(X, \Delta + C = S + A + B + C)$  is a divisorial log terminal pair such that  $\lfloor \Delta \rfloor = S$ ,  $A \ge 0$  is big over Y,  $\mathbf{B}_+(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta + C)$  with  $B \ge 0$  and  $C \ge 0$ . Suppose that there is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $D \ge 0$  whose support is contained in S and a real number  $\alpha \ge 0$  such that

$$K_X + \Delta + g^* H \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D + \alpha C.$$

If  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is nef over W, then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there is a log terminal model  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  for  $K_X + \Delta + g^*H$  over W, where  $\phi$  is a bimeromorphic contraction over  $Y^{\flat}$ , such that  $\mathbf{B}_+(\phi_*A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(Z, \Gamma := \phi_*\Delta)$ .

*Proof.* We can run the  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ -minimal model program over Y around W explained in Section 13. As usual, we put

$$\lambda := \inf\{t \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \mid K_X + \Delta + g^*H + tC \text{ is nef over } W\}.$$

If  $\lambda = 0$ , there is nothing to do. Otherwise, we can find a  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{\operatorname{NE}}(X/Y;W)$  such that  $(K_X + \Delta + g^*H + \lambda C) \cdot R = 0$ . Let  $\varphi_R \colon X \to W$  be the contraction morphism over Y associated to R. By Theorem 9.3,  $\varphi_R$  is a contraction morphism over  $Y^{\flat}$ . Since  $\lambda > 0, C \cdot R > 0$ . Hence we have  $D \cdot R < 0$ . In particular,  $\varphi_R$  is always birational. When  $\varphi_R$  is divisorial, we can replace everything with its image. When  $\varphi_R$  is small, we can see it as an analytic pl-flipping contraction because  $D \cdot R < 0$ and Supp  $D \subset S = \lfloor \Delta \rfloor$ . Therefore, by Theorem  $A_n$ , we know that the flip  $\varphi_R^+ \colon X^+ \to Z$ exists. In this case, we replace X with  $X^+$ . Note that we have to replace Y with a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of W in each step. Then the condition  $\mathbf{B}_{+}(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(X, \Delta)$  is preserved by Lemmas 11.21 and 11.22. By construction, this minimal model program is not an isomorphism in a neighborhood of S. Hence it terminates by Lemma 17.2 and Theorem  $B_n$ . Thus, we finally get a log terminal model  $\phi: X \to Z$ . By Lemma 9.4, the above minimal model program can be seen as a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program over  $Y^{\flat}$ . Therefore, the bimeromorphic contraction  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is a bimeromorphic contraction over  $Y^{\flat}$ . 

We need the notion of *neutral models* in our complex analytic setting.

**Definition 17.4** (see [BCHM, Definition 5.3]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let H be a general h-ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  satisfying  $H \cdot \ell > 2 \dim X$ for every projective curve  $\ell$  such that  $h(\ell)$  is a point. Let  $(X, \Delta = A + B)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair with  $A \ge 0$  and  $B \ge 0$  such that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and let D be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X. A *neutral model* over  $Y^{\flat}$  for  $(X, \Delta + g^*H)$  with respect to Aand D is any bimeromorphic map  $f: X \dashrightarrow Z$  over  $Y^{\flat}$  such that

- f is a bimeromorphic contraction,
- the only divisors contracted by f are components of D,
- Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W and is projective over Y,
- $\mathbf{B}_+(f_*A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of  $(Z, \Gamma) := f_*\Delta$ , and
- $K_Z + \Gamma + g_Z^* H$  is divisorial log terminal and is nef over W, where  $g_Z \colon Z \to Y^{\flat}$  is the structure morphism.

**Lemma 17.5** (see [BCHM, Lemma 5.4]). Assume that Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  hold true.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let H be a general h-ample Q-divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  satisfying  $H \cdot \ell > 2 \dim X$ for every projective curve  $\ell$  such that  $h(\ell)$  is a point. Let  $(X, \Delta = A + B)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair and let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor, where  $A \ge 0$  is big over Y,  $B \ge 0$ ,  $D \ge 0$ , and D and A have no common components. If

- (1)  $K_X + \Delta + g^* H \sim D$ ,
- (2) X is smooth and G is a simple normal crossing divisor on X such that  $\operatorname{Supp}(\Delta + D) = G$ , and
- (3)  $\mathbf{B}_{+}(A/Y)$  does not contain any non-kawamata log terminal centers of (X, G),

then, after shrinking Y around W suitably,  $(X, \Delta + g^*H)$  has a neutral model over  $Y^{\flat}$  with respect to A and D.

*Proof.* Although our formulation is slightly different from [BCHM, Lemma 5.4], the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.4] works by using Lemma 17.3 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 5.2]. We note that we have to shrink Y around W in each step of the proof. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.4].  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 17.6** (see [BCHM, Lemma 5.5]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism between complex analytic spaces with

$$\pi \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y^{\flat} \xrightarrow{h} Y$$

such that  $Y^{\flat}$  is projective over Y and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let H be a general h-ample Q-divisor on  $Y^{\flat}$  satisfying  $H \cdot \ell > 2 \dim X$ for every projective curve  $\ell$  such that  $h(\ell)$  is a point. Let  $(X, \Delta = A + B)$  be a divisorial log terminal pair such that X is Q-factorial over W and let D be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor, where  $A \ge 0$  is big over Y,  $B \ge 0$ , and  $D \ge 0$ . If every component of D is either semiample

over Y or a stable base divisor of  $K_X + \Delta + g^*H$  near W and  $f: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is a neutral model over  $Y^{\flat}$  for  $(X, \Delta + g^*H)$  with respect to A and D, then f is a log terminal model over U for some open neighborhood U of W. Moreover,  $K_Z + \Gamma + g_Z^*H$  is semiample over U, where  $\Gamma := f_*\Delta$  and  $g_Z: Z \to Y^{\flat}$  is the structure morphism.

Proof. The proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.5] works with only some minor modifications. In the proof of this lemma, we have to shrink Y around W repeatedly. We note that  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is nef over  $h^{-1}(W)$  if and only if  $K_Z + \Gamma + g_Z^*H$  is nef over W. We also note that  $K_Z + \Gamma + g_Z^*H$  is semiample over some open neighborhood of W when  $K_Z + \Gamma + g_Z^*H$  is nef over W. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.5].

By using the above lemmas, there are no difficulties to prove Theorem  $G_n$  under the assumption that Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  hold true.

**Lemma 17.7** (see [BCHM, Lemma 5.6]). Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  imply Theorem  $G_n$ .

*Proof.* The proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.6] works in our setting by using Lemmas 17.5 and 17.6 instead of [BCHM, Lemmas 5.4 and 5.5]. We note that we can use Lemma 10.9 instead of [BCHM, Proposition 3.5.4]. As usual, we have to replace Y with a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of W finitely many times in the proof of this lemma. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 5.6].

Finally, we explicitly state the following obvious result for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 17.8.** Theorem  $G_n$  implies Theorem  $C_n$  for every n.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to put  $Y^{\flat} = Y$  and apply Theorem  $G_n$ .

Anyway, we see that Theorem  $G_n$  and Theorem  $C_n$  hold under the assumption that Theorem  $A_n$  and Theorem  $B_n$  are true.

We need the existence theorem of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial divisorial log terminal flips, which is an easy consequence of Theorem G, in order to run minimal model programs.

**Theorem 17.9** (Existence of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial divisorial log terminal flips). Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces with dim X = nand let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). We further assume that  $(X, \Delta)$  is divisorial log terminal and that X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W. Let  $\varphi: X \to Z$  be a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism associated to a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ , that is,  $\varphi: (X, \Delta) \to Z$  is a flipping contraction associated to R. Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, the flip  $\varphi^+: X^+ \to Z$  always exists.



This means that

(1)  $\varphi^+: X^+ \to Z$  is a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism, and

(2)  $K_{X^+} + \Delta^+$  is  $\varphi^+$ -ample, where  $\Delta^+ := \phi_* \Delta$ .

Moreover,  $(X^+, \Delta^+)$  is divisorial log terminal,  $X^+$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W, and the equality  $\rho(X^+/Y; W) = \rho(X/Y; W)$  holds.

Proof. We will freely shrink Y around W. We note that  $(X, (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal and  $-(K_X + (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta)$  is  $\varphi$ -ample for some  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . We take a general  $\pi_Z$ -ample Q-divisor A on Z, where  $\pi_Z \colon Z \to Y$  is the structure morphism, such that  $(X, (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta + \varphi^*A)$  is kawamata log terminal and  $K_X + (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta + \varphi^*A \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \ge 0$ . By Theorem  $G_n$ ,  $(X, (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta)$  has a good log terminal model over Z. Hence  $\varphi \colon (X, (1 - \varepsilon)\Delta) \to Z$  has a flip  $\phi \colon X \dashrightarrow X^+$ . We can easily see that  $\varphi^+ \colon (X^+, \Delta^+) \to Z$  is the flip of  $\varphi \colon (X, \Delta) \to Z$  and satisfies all the desired properties.  $\Box$ 

We close this section with an almost obvious remark, which may be useful for some applications.

**Remark 17.10.** In Theorem 17.9,  $(X, \Delta)$  is assumed to be a divisorial log terminal pair. There are no difficulties to see that the existence of flips (see Theorem 17.9) also holds true under a slightly weaker assumption that  $(X, \Delta)$  is log canonical and that there exists  $\Delta_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal.

# 18. Finiteness of models; $G_n \Rightarrow E_n$

This section corresponds to [BCHM, Section 7], where Theorem  $E_n$  is proved under the assumption that Theorem  $C_n$  and Theorem  $D_n$  hold true. In our complex analytic setting, in Section 14, we have already checked that the nonvanishing theorem (see Theorem D) holds true in any dimension by reducing it to the original nonvanishing theorem formulated for algebraic varieties (see [BCHM, Theorem D]). Therefore, we can freely use Theorem D here. In this section, we will use Theorem  $G_n$ , which is slightly stronger than Theorem  $C_n$ , for the proof of Theorem  $E_n$ .

**18.1** (Theorem  $G_n \Rightarrow$  Theorem  $E_n$ ). Let us see [BCHM, Section 7] in detail.

**Step 1.** The proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1] is well known and can work for our complex analytic setting. Note that it is sufficient to assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true since we can freely use Theorem D in arbitrary dimension as mentioned above. The correct formulation of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1] for our complex analytic setting is as follows.

**Lemma 18.2** (see [BCHM, Lemma 7.1]). Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces with dim X = nand let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of WDiv<sub>R</sub>(X), which is defined over the rationals. Fix a general  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor A on X. Let  $C \subset \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  be a rational polytope such that if  $\Delta \in C$  then  $(X, \Delta)$  is kawamata log terminal at  $\pi^{-1}(W)$ .

Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there are finitely many bimeromorphic maps  $\phi_i: X \dashrightarrow Z_i$  over Y,  $1 \le i \le k$ , with the property that if  $\Delta \in \mathcal{C} \cap \mathcal{E}_{A,\pi}(V;W)$ , then there exists an index  $1 \le i \le k$  such that  $\phi_i$  is a log terminal model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over some open neighborhood of W.

*Proof.* We have already proved Theorem D in any dimension. We can use Lemma 11.14 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 3.7.4]. Therefore, by using Theorem  $G_n$  instead of [BCHM, Theorem  $C_n$ ], we see that the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1] works in our complex analytic setting. Precisely speaking, we formulate Theorem  $G_n$  in order to make the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1] work in the complex analytic setting. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1].

Step 2. The proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.2] uses [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12]. In our case, we can use Lemma 12.3 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12]. We note that (ii) in Lemma 12.3,

which is nothing but Theorem  $G_n$ , is satisfied by assumption. As in Step 1, it is sufficient to assume Theorem  $G_n$  since we can freely use Theorem D in any dimension.

**Lemma 18.3** ([BCHM, Lemma 7.2]). Assume that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true.

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces with dim X = nand let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Suppose that there is a kawamata log terminal pair  $(X, \Delta_0)$ . We fix a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor Aon X. Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $\mathrm{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  which is defined over the rationals. Let  $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  be a rational polytope.

Then, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there are finitely many bimeromorphic contractions  $\psi_j: X \dashrightarrow Z_j$  over Y,  $1 \le j \le l$ , such that if  $\psi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is a weak log canonical model of  $K_X + \Delta$  over W for some  $\Delta \in C$  then there exist an index  $1 \le j \le l$ and an isomorphism  $\xi: Z_j \to Z$  over some open neighborhood of W such that  $\psi = \xi \circ \psi_j$ holds.

Proof. If we use Lemma 18.2, Corollary 11.19, and Lemma 12.3 instead of [BCHM, Lemma 7.1], [BCHM, Corollary 3.11.2], and [BCHM, Lemma 3.6.12], then the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.2] works in our complex analytic setting. The idea is as follows. By using Lemma 11.14 and so on, we can reduce the problem to the case where we can use Lemma 12.3. Let  $\psi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be a weak log canonical model over W. Then we can take  $\Delta'$  such that  $\psi: X \dashrightarrow Z$  is an ample model of  $(X, \Delta')$ . Then, by Lemma 18.2 and Corollary 11.19, we obtain all the desired properties. For the details, see the proof of [BCHM, Lemma 7.2].

Step 3. The final step is obvious.

**Lemma 18.4** ([BCHM, Lemma 7.3]). Theorem  $G_n$  implies Theorem  $E_n$ .

*Proof.* We note that  $\mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  is a rational polytope. Therefore, it is sufficient to put  $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{L}_A(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$  in Lemma 18.3.

Hence we see that Theorem  $E_n$  holds under the assumption that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true. This is what we wanted.

By the above arguments, we think that the reader can understand the reason why we prepared Theorem G, Corollary 11.19, and Lemma 12.3.

19. Finite generation;  $G_n \Rightarrow F_n$ 

This section corresponds to [BCHM, Section 8]. Note that [BCHM, Section 8] is a very short section, which consists of only one lemma (see [BCHM, Lemma 8.1]). The proof of Theorem  $F_n$  given below is slightly more complicated than the original algebraic version in [BCHM, Section 8]. This is because we formulated everything only over some open neighborhood of a given compact subset of the base space.

**19.1** (Theorem  $G_n \Rightarrow$  Theorem  $F_n$ ). Here, we will prove Theorem  $F_n$  under the assumption that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true.

First, we will prove (1). In the proof of (1), we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. If  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective, then  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} D \ge 0$ by Theorem D. Hence, by Theorem  $G_n$ ,  $(X, \Delta)$  has a good log terminal model  $(Z, \Gamma)$  over Y. Hence  $K_Z + \Gamma$  is semiample over Y. We take any point  $y \in Y$ . By applying the above result to  $\pi: X \to Y$  with  $W := \{y\}$ . Then we see that there exits an open neighborhood  $U_y$  of y such that  $(X, \Delta)$  has a good log terminal model over  $U_y$ . By this observation, we obtain that  $R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. Thus, we get (1) in Theorem  $F_n$ .

From now on, we will prove (2). Let  $\mu: X \to Z$  be a good log terminal model for  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y after shrinking Y around W (see Theorem  $G_n$ ). Since G is a prime divisor contained in the stable base locus of  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y, G is  $\mu$ -exceptional. We take a small positive real number  $\delta$  such that if  $\|\Xi - \Delta\| < \delta$  then  $(Z, \mu_* \Xi)$  is kawamata log terminal and  $a(G, X, \Xi) < a(G, Y, \mu_* \Xi)$ . If  $K_X + \Xi$  is not  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective, then  $\mathbf{B}((K_X + \Xi)/Y) = X$ . Therefore,  $G \subset \mathbf{B}((K_X + \Xi)/Y)$  is obvious. Hence we may assume that  $K_X + \Xi$  is  $\pi$ -pseudo-effective. We take any point y of Y. Then there exists an open neighborhood  $U_y$  of y such that  $(Z, \mu_* \Xi)$  has a good log terminal model over  $U_y$  by Theorem  $G_n$ . This means that  $(X, \Xi)$  has a good log terminal model over  $U_y$ . Hence we can easily check that  $G|_{\pi^{-1}(U_y)} \subset \mathbf{B}((K_X + \Xi)/Y)$ . Thus, we obtain that  $G \subset \mathbf{B}((K_X + \Xi)/Y)$  holds since y is any point of Y. This is (2).

Finally, we will prove (3). We take a good log terminal model  $\mu: X \longrightarrow Z$  of  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y after shrinking Y around W (see Theorem  $G_n$ ). By Corollary 11.19 (1),  $\mathcal{W}_{\mu,A,\pi}(V';W) = \mathcal{W}_{\mu,A,\pi}^{\sharp}(V';W)$  is a rational polytope and  $\Delta \in \mathcal{W}_{\mu,A,\pi}(V';W)$ . Therefore, we may assume that  $K_Z + \mu_* \Xi$  is nef over Y for every  $\Xi \in \mathcal{W}_{\mu,A,\pi}(V';W)$  after shrinking Y around W again. Hence, after shrinking Y around W suitably, there exists a positive constant  $\eta$  such that if  $\Xi \in V'$  and  $\|\Xi - \Delta\| < \eta$  then  $(Z, \mu_* \Xi)$  is kawamata log terminal and  $K_Z + \mu_* \Xi$  is semiample over Y. By Theorem 3.12, Z has only rational singularities. Since Z is Q-factorial over W, there is a positive integer l such that if  $m(K_Z + \mu_* \Xi)$  is an integral Weil divisor then  $lm(K_Z + \mu_* \Xi)$  is Cartier over some open neighborhood of W (see Lemma 2.42). By replacing Y with a small open neighborhood of W, we may assume that  $lm(K_Z + \mu_* \Xi)$  is free over Y when  $m(K_Z + \mu_* \Xi)$  is an integral Weil divisor. It follows that if  $k(K_X + \Xi)/r$  is Cartier then every component of Fix $(k(K_X + \Xi))$  is contracted by  $\mu$  and so every component is in  $\mathbf{B}((K_X + \Delta)/Y)$ . We finish the proof of (3) in Theorem  $\mathbf{F}_n$ .

In Section 21, we will prove Theorems 1.18 and 1.22, which are much more general than the finite generation in Theorem F (1).

# 20. Proof of theorems

In this section, we will prove theorems. Note that we postpone the proof of Theorems 1.18 and 1.22 until Section 21 because it needs some deep results from the theory of variations of Hodge structure. Theorem 1.28 will be proved in Section 22 after we explain some supplementary results on the minimal model program with scaling. Theorem 1.30 (see Theorem 23.2) will be treated in Section 23. Note that the proof of Theorem 1.30 uses Theorem 1.18.

Let us start with the proof of Theorems 1.6 and 1.13, which is now almost obvious.

Proof of Theorems 1.6 and 1.13. As we explained in Subsection 1.2, we will prove Theorems A, B, C, D, E, F, and G by induction on dim X. In Section 14, we established Theorem D in arbitrary dimension. We use induction on  $n = \dim X$ . When n = 0, all the statements are trivially true. From now on, we assume that Theorems A, B, C, E, F, G hold true when dim  $X \leq n - 1$ . In Section 15, we proved Theorem A in dim X = n. In Section 16, we obtained Theorem B in dim X = n. Hence we can prove Theorem G in dim X = n by Section 17. Note that Theorem  $C_n$  is a very special case of Theorem  $G_n$  (see Lemma 17.8). By Sections 18 and 19, we have Theorems E and F in dim X = n,

respectively. This means that we have established Theorems A, B, C, D, E, F, and G in arbitrary dimension.  $\hfill \Box$ 

From now on, we can freely use Theorems A, B, C, D, E, F, and G in arbitrary dimension. Therefore, we can freely use the minimal model program with scaling explained in Section 13.

Proof of Theorem 1.7. In this theorem, we only treat kawamata log pairs. Therefore, we do not need any extra assumptions on non-kawamata log terminal centers. We can freely use the minimal model program with scaling explained in Section 13. Note that the pseudo-effectivity over Y is preserved by the minimal model program. Therefore, this theorem is a special case of the minimal model program with scaling under the condition (i) explained in Section 13. We also note that the termination of the minimal model program follows from Theorem E (see the proof of Theorem 13.6).

Theorem 1.8 is a direct generalization of [BCHM, Theorem 1.2] in the complex analytic setting.

Proof of Theorem 1.8. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By Theorems D and C,  $(X, \Delta)$  has a log terminal model over Y. This is (1). By Lemma 11.16 (2),  $\phi$  is a semiample model over Y. By Lemma 11.16 (3) and (4), we know that  $(X, \Delta)$  has a log canonical model over Y when  $K_X + \Delta$ is  $\pi$ -big. This is (2). We take an arbitrary point  $y \in Y$ . It is sufficient to prove (3) over some open neighborhood of  $y \in Y$ . Hence we may take a Stein compact subset W of Y such that  $y \in W$  and that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian, and shrink Y and enlarge W suitably without mentioning it explicitly (see Lemma 2.16). We take a positive integer a such that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$  and  $a(K_Z + \Gamma)$  are both Cartier. Since  $a(K_Z + \Gamma)$  is semiample over Y,

$$\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(ma(K_X+\Delta))\simeq\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}(\pi_Z)_*\mathcal{O}_Z(ma(K_Z+\Gamma)),$$

where  $\pi_Z \colon Z \to Y$  is the structure morphism, is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra (see Lemma 2.36). Therefore, by Lemma 2.26,  $R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. This is (3).

The existence of kawamata log terminal flips is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.8 (2).

Proof of Theorem 1.14. We take a point  $z \in Z$  and consider a small Stein open neighborhood U of  $z \in Z$ . Then  $(X^+, \Delta^+)|_{(\varphi^+)^{-1}(U)}$  is nothing but the log canonical model of  $(X, \Delta)|_{\varphi^{-1}(U)}$  over U. Therefore, after shrinking U around z suitably, it exists by Theorem 1.8 (2) and is unique. Hence the desired flip  $\varphi^+: (X^+, \Delta^+) \to Z$  exists globally.  $\Box$ 

The existence of canonicalizations for complex variety is new.

Proof of Theorem 1.16. We take a point  $x \in X$ . Over some open neighborhood U of  $x \in X$ , there exist a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $\pi: V \to U$  and a log canonical model  $\pi': V' \to U$  of  $\pi: V \to U$  by Theorem 1.8 (2). Note that  $\pi'$  is projective bimeromorphic,  $K_{V'}$  is  $\pi'$ -ample, and V' has only canonical singularities. We can easily check that  $\pi'$  is an isomorphism over a nonempty Zariski open subset where U has only canonical singularities. We also note that  $\pi': V' \to U$  is usually called a *canonical model* of V over U and is unique. Thus, the desired model  $f: Z \to X$  exists globally.
When  $K_X + \Delta$  is not pseudo-effective, we see that we can always run a minimal model program and finally get a Mori fiber space.

Proof of Theorem 1.17. As usual, we will repeatedly shrink Y around W without mentioning it explicitly. We take a  $\pi$ -ample Q-divisor C on X such that  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is nef over Y and that  $(X, \Delta + (1 + a)C)$  is a divisorial log terminal pair for some positive real number a. We run a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C. Since  $K_X + \Delta$ is not pseudo-effective,  $K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C$  is still not pseudo-effective for some  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . We can see the above minimal model program as a  $(K_X + \Delta + \varepsilon C)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C. By Theorem 13.6, this minimal model program always terminates and then we finally get a Mori fiber space structure over Y. This is what we wanted.  $\Box$ 

We note that Theorems 1.19 and 1.21 for quasi-projective varieties are not treated in [BCHM]. We also note that a key ingredient of the proof of Theorems 1.19 and 1.21 is Lemma 13.7.

Proof of Theorem 1.19. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By Lemma 2.53, there exists a globally  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ divisor B on X such that  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} B \geq 0$ . Since  $(K_X + \Delta)|_F \sim_{\mathbb{R}} 0$ , we see that  $\pi(B) \subsetneq Y$  holds. Hence we can write  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{R}} \pi^*D + B'$ , where D is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on Y, B' is an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $\pi(B') \subsetneq Y$  and that Supp B' does not contain any fibers of  $\pi$ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\pi(B') \subsetneq W$  by shrinking Y around W suitably. We take a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $C \geq 0$  on X such that  $(X, \Delta + C)$  is divisorial log terminal and that  $K_X + \Delta + C$  is nef over Y. Then we run a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C over Y around W starting from  $X_0 := X$ :

$$X_0 \dashrightarrow X_1 \dashrightarrow \cdots \dashrightarrow X_i \dashrightarrow \cdots$$

In this case, any divisorial contraction contracts an irreducible component of Supp B'. By Lemma 13.7, we finally obtain  $(X_m, \Delta_m)$  such that  $K_{X_m} + \Delta_m \in \overline{\text{Mov}}(X_m/Y; W)$ . By Zariski's lemma, we can check that  $K_{X_m} + \Delta_m \sim_{\mathbb{R}} (\pi_m)^* D$  holds. This is what we wanted.

In the proof of Theorem 1.21, Lemma 4.6 plays an important role.

Proof of Theorem 1.21. We will freely shrink X suitably without mentioning it explicitly. By taking a resolution of singularities, we have a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $\pi: Y \to X$  from a complex variety Y such that  $\pi^{-1}(U)$  is smooth and  $\text{Exc}(\pi)$  and  $\text{Exc}(\pi) \cup$ Supp  $\pi_*^{-1}\Delta$  are simple normal crossing divisors on  $\pi^{-1}(U)$ . Let E be any  $\pi$ -exceptional divisor such that  $\pi(E) \cap U \neq \emptyset$ . Then, by enlarging V suitably, we may assume that  $\pi(E) \cap V \neq \emptyset$ . By Lemma 2.16, we can take a Stein compact subset W of U such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian and that  $V \subset W$ . We write  $K_Y + \Delta_Y = \pi^*(K_X + \Delta)$ . Let  $\Delta_Y = \sum_i a_i \Delta_i$  be the irreducible decomposition. We put

$$\Theta = \sum_{0 < a_i < 1} a_i \Delta_i + \sum_{a_i \ge 1} \Delta_i.$$

Then we have  $K_Y + \Theta = \pi^*(K_X + \Delta) + F$  such that  $-\pi_*F$  is effective. Let C be a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on Y such that  $(Y, \Theta + C)$  is divisorial log terminal and  $K_Y + \Theta + C$  is nef over W. We run a  $(K_Y + \Theta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of C over X around

W. We put  $(Y_0, \Theta_0) := (Y, \Theta)$ ,  $F_0 := F$ , and  $C_0 := C$ . Then we obtain a sequence of flips and divisorial contractions starting from  $(Y_0, \Theta_0)$ :

$$(Y_0, \Theta_0) \xrightarrow{\phi_0} (Y_1, \Theta_1) \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} (Y_i, \Theta_i) \xrightarrow{\phi_i},$$

where  $\Theta_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* \Theta_i$ ,  $C_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* C_i$ , and  $F_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* F_i$ , for every *i*, and a sequence of real numbers

$$1 \ge \lambda_0 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_i \ge \dots \ge 0$$

such that  $K_{Y_i} + \Theta_i + \lambda_i C_i$  is nef over W. By Lemma 13.7, we can prove that  $K_{Y_m} + \Theta_m$ is in  $\overline{\text{Mov}}(Y_m/X; W)$  for some m. By the negativity lemma (see Lemma 4.6), we see that  $-F_m \ge 0$  over V. Hence,  $-F_m$  is effective over some open neighborhood of W. We put  $Z := Y_m, f: Z \to X$ , and  $K_Z + \Delta_Z = f^*(K_X + \Delta)$ . Then,  $(Z, \Delta_Z)$  has all the desired properties.

We have already proved Theorem 1.24 in Section 12.

Proof of Theorem 1.24. We have already known that Theorem  $G_n$  holds true for every n. Therefore, Theorem 1.24 is nothing but Lemma 12.1.

By Theorem 1.24, Corollary 1.25 is almost obvious.

Proof of Corollary 1.25. We note that Z has only kawamata log terminal singularities over some open neighborhood of W. We apply Theorem 1.24 to  $Z \to Y$  and W'. Then, after shrinking Y around W' suitably, there exists a small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $Z' \to Z$  such that Z' is projective over Y and is Q-factorial over W'. Hence the induced bimeromorphic contraction  $\phi' \colon X \dashrightarrow Z'$  satisfies the desired properties.  $\Box$ 

The argument in the proof of Theorem 1.26 is more or less well known.

Proof of Theorem 1.26. We take an arbitrary point  $x \in X$ . It is sufficient to prove that  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra on some open neighborhood of x. By shrinking X around x and replacing D with a linearly equivalent integral Weil divisor, we may assume that D is effective. We take a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood U of x and a Stein compact subset W of X such that  $U \subset W$  and that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is noetherian. By Theorem 1.24, after shrinking X around W, there exists a small projective bimeromorphic morphism  $f: Z \to X$  from a normal complex variety Z such that Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W. We put  $K_Z + \Delta_Z = f^*(K_X + \Delta)$ . Then  $(Z, \Delta_Z)$  is kawamata log terminal. Let  $D_Z$  be the strict transform of D on Z. By shrinking X around W, we may assume that  $D_Z$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier. We take a small rational number  $\varepsilon$  such that  $(Z, \Delta_Z + \varepsilon D_Z)$  is still kawamata log terminal. From now on, we will freely shrink X around W without mentioning it explicitly. We take a general f-ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor H on Z such that  $K_Z + \Delta_Z + \varepsilon D_Z + H$  is nef over W and  $(Z, \Delta_Z + \varepsilon D_Z + H)$  is kawamata log terminal. We run a  $(K_Z + \Delta_Z + \varepsilon D_Z)$ -minimal model program with scaling of H over X around W.

$$Z_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} Z_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} Z_i \xrightarrow{\phi_i} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{m-1}} Z_m$$

such that  $\Delta_{Z_i} := (\phi_{i-1})_* \Delta_{Z_{i-1}}$  and  $D_{Z_i} := (\phi_{i-1})_* D_{Z_{i-1}}$  for every  $i \ge 1$  and that  $K_{Z_m} + \Delta_{Z_m} + \varepsilon D_{Z_m}$  is nef over W. Note that  $K_{Z_m} + \Delta_{Z_m} = f_m^*(K_X + \Delta)$  holds by construction, where  $f_m : Z_m \to X$  is the structure morphism. Since  $f_m$  is bimeromorphic, we can take an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor B on  $Z_m$  such that -B is  $f_m$ -ample and that  $(Z_m, \Delta_{Z_m} + B)$  is kawamata log terminal. Hence, by Theorem 6.5,  $D_{Z_m}$  is semiample over X. By considering a contraction morphism  $Z_m \to Z'$  over X associated to  $D_{Z_m}$ , we obtain a

small projective bimeromorphic contraction morphism  $f': Z' \to X$  from a normal variety Z' and an integral Weil divisor D' on Z' such that D' is ample over X and that  $f'_*D' = D$  holds. Since f' is small, we obtain  $f'_*\mathcal{O}_{Z'}(mD') = \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since D' is ample over X,  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} f'_*\mathcal{O}_{Z'}(mD')$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra by Lemma 2.36. This means that  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{O}_X(mD)$  is a finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebra on some open neighborhood of x. This is what we wanted.  $\Box$ 

Now there are no difficulties to prove Theorem 1.27.

Proof of Theorem 1.27. We take an open neighborhood U of W and a Stein compact subset W' of Y such that  $U \subset W'$  and that  $\Gamma(W', \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y suitably without mentioning it explicitly. Let A be a general  $\pi$ -ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X satisfying that  $A \cdot C > 2 \dim X$  for every projective curve C on Xsuch that  $\pi(C)$  is a point. We take a resolution  $g: X' \to X$  such that  $\operatorname{Supp} g_*^{-1}\Delta \cup \operatorname{Exc}(g)$ and  $\operatorname{Exc}(g)$  are simple normal crossing divisors on X' and that  $\pi': X' \to Y$  is projective. We write  $K_{X'} + \Delta_{X'} = g^*(K_X + \Delta)$ . Let  $\Delta_{X'} = \sum_i a_i \Delta'_i$  be the irreducible decomposition. We put

$$\Theta = \sum_{0 < a_i < 1} a_i \Delta'_i + \sum_{a_i \ge 1} \Delta'_i.$$

Then we can write  $K_{X'} + \Theta = g^*(K_X + \Delta) + F$  such that  $-g_*F \ge 0$ . We take a general  $\pi'$ -ample Q-divisor H on X' such that  $K_{X'} + \Theta + g^*A + H$  is nef over Y. We run a  $(K_{X'} + \Theta + g^*A)$ -minimal model program over Y around W' with scaling of H. Then we obtain a sequence of flips and divisorial contractions starting from  $(X', \Theta_0) := (X', \Theta)$ :

$$(X'_0, \Theta_0) \xrightarrow{\phi_0} (X'_1, \Theta_1) \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_{i-1}} (X'_i, \Theta_i) \xrightarrow{\phi_i}$$

where  $\Theta_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* \Theta_i$ ,  $H_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* H_i$ , and  $F_{i+1} := (\phi_i)_* F_i$ , for every *i*, and a sequence of real numbers

$$1 \ge \lambda_0 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_i \ge \dots \ge 0$$

such that  $K_{X'_i} + \Theta_i + g_i^*A + \lambda_i H_i$  is nef over W', where  $g_i \colon X'_i \to X$ . We note that by Lemma 9.4 the above minimal model program can be seen as a  $(K_{X'} + \Theta)$ -minimal model program over X. By Lemma 13.7 and its proof, we can check that  $K_{X'_m} + \Theta_m$ is in  $\overline{\text{Mov}}(X'_m/X; \pi^{-1}(W'))$  for some m. By applying the negativity lemma (see Lemma 4.6) to  $g_m \colon X'_m \to X$ , we can check that  $-F_m$  is effective on  $(\pi \circ g_m)^{-1}(U)$ . If  $Y_m$  is not  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial over W, then we replace  $Y_m$  with its small projective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorialization by Theorem 1.24. Hence we obtain a desired  $f \colon Z \to X$ .

### 21. A CANONICAL BUNDLE FORMULA IN THE COMPLEX ANALYTIC SETTING

In this section, we will quickly discuss a canonical bundle formula in the complex analytic setting and prove Theorems 1.18 and 1.22. We need some deep results from the theory of variations of Hodge structure.

Let us start with a generalization of Kollár's famous torsion-freeness.

**Theorem 21.1** (Torsion-freeness, see [Tak]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X onto a complex analytic space Y. Then  $R^i \pi_* \omega_X$  is torsion-free for every *i*.

If Y is projective in Theorem 21.1, then X is a compact Kähler manifold. In this case, there are no difficulties to prove Theorem 21.1. Unfortunately, however, we have to treat the case where Y is a general noncompact complex analytic space. Hence the

proof of Theorem 21.1 is much harder than that of Kollár's original torsion-freeness. For the details, see [Tak] (see also [Fu6], and [Matm]). By combining Steenbrink's geometric description of canonical extensions of Hodge filtrations (see [St1] and [St2]) with Theorem 21.1, we have:

**Theorem 21.2** (Hodge filtrations, see [Na3, Chapter V. 3.7. Theorem (4)]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X onto a smooth variety Y. Assume that there exists a simple normal crossing divisor  $\Sigma_Y$  on Y such that  $\pi$  is smooth over  $Y \setminus \Sigma_Y$ . Then  $R^i \pi_* \omega_{X/Y}$  is characterized as the upper canonical extension of the bottom Hodge filtration for every i.

The proof of [Na1, Theorem 1] works in the above complex analytic setting once we know the torsion-freeness (see Theorem 21.1). For the details of Nakayama's argument, we recommend the interested reader to see [Fu2, Subsection 3.1] and [FF, §7] although they treat much more general settings than Nakayama's.

In order to discuss a canonical bundle formula, we recall the definition of *discriminant*  $\mathbb{Q}$ -*divisors*.

**Definition 21.3.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a proper surjective morphism from a normal variety X onto a smooth variety Z with  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$ . Let  $\Theta$  be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Theta$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier and that  $(X, \Theta)$  is sub kawamata log terminal over a nonempty Zariski open subset of Z. Let P be a prime divisor on Z. We put

 $b_P := \max \{ t \in \mathbb{Q} \mid (X, \Theta + tf^*P) \text{ is sub log canonical over general points of } P \}.$ 

Then we set  $B_Z := \sum_P (1-b_P)P$ , where P runs over prime divisors on Z, and call  $B_Z$  the discriminant  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor of  $f: (X, \Theta) \to Z$ . We can easily check that  $B_Z$  is a well-defined  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on Z satisfying  $\lfloor B_Z \rfloor \leq 0$ . Let  $\mu: Z' \to Z$  be a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety Z'. We consider the following commutative diagram:



where X' is the normalization of the main component of  $X \times_Z Z'$ . We define  $\Theta'$  by  $K_{X'} + \Theta' = \sigma^*(K_X + \Theta)$ . We call  $f': (X', \Theta') \to Z'$  the *induced fibration* of  $f: (X, \Theta) \to Z$  by  $\mu: Z' \to Z$ . We can define the discriminant Q-divisor  $B_{Z'}$  of  $f': (X', \Theta') \to Z'$ . By construction, we see that  $\sigma_* B_{Z'} = B_Z$ .

The following theorem is a generalization of Ambro's result in the complex analytic setting (see [A, Theorem 0.2]).

**Theorem 21.4.** Let  $f: X \to Z$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X onto a smooth complex variety Z with  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$ . Let  $g: Z \to Y$  be a projective morphism to a Stein space Y. Let  $\Theta$  be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X such that  $K_X + \Theta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*D$  for some  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor D on Z, Supp  $\Theta$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X,  $\Theta = \Theta^{<1}$  holds over general points of Z, and rank  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X([-\Theta^{<1}]) = 1$ . Let y be any point of Y. By replacing Y with a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y suitably, we have a commutative diagram:



with the following properties.

- (1)  $\mu: Z' \to Z$  is a projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety Z'.
- (2) X' is a desingularization of  $X \times_Z \hat{Z}'$  such that X' is Kähler with  $K_{X'} + \Theta' = \sigma^*(K_X + \Delta)$ .
- (3) Let  $B_{Z'}$  be the discriminant  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor of  $f': (X', \Theta') \to Z'$ . We write  $\sigma^*D = K_{Z'} + B_{Z'} + M_{Z'}$ . Then  $M_{Z'}$  is nef over Y. Note that  $M_{Z'}$  is usually called the moduli  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor of  $f': (X', \Theta') \to Z'$ .
- (4) Let  $\nu: Z'' \to Z'$  be any projective bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety Z''. Then we can define  $f'': (X'', \Theta'') \to Z'', B_{Z''}$ , and  $M_{Z''}$  as in (3) with  $\nu^* \mu^* D = K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''}$ . In this situation, after shrinking Y with a slightly smaller relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y again,  $\nu^* M_{Z'} = M_{Z''}$  holds with  $\nu_* K_{Z''} = K_{Z'}$  and  $\nu_* B_{Z''} = B_{Z'}$ .

*Proof.* For the details, see [A, Section 5]. Although they treat much more general setting than Ambro's, [Fu13] and [FH] may help the reader understand the proof of this theorem. We note that Ambro's argument in [A] is different from Kawamata's in [Kaw4] and is closer to Mori's (see [Mo2, Section 5, Part II] and [Fu1, Section 4]).  $\Box$ 

**21.5** (A canonical bundle formula in the complex analytic setting, see [FMo]). Let  $f: X \to Z$  be a proper morphism from a Kähler manifold X onto a smooth variety Z with  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$  and let  $g: Z \to Y$  be a projective morphism such that Y is Stein. Let  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on X such that  $\operatorname{Supp} \Delta$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X and that  $\lfloor \Delta \rfloor = 0$ . Suppose that  $\kappa(F, (K_X + \Delta)|_F) = 0$  holds for an analytically sufficiently general fiber F of  $f: X \to Z$ . We fix an arbitrary point  $y \in Y$ . From now on, we sometimes replace Y with a smaller relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y without mentioning it explicitly. Since  $\kappa(F, (K_X + \Delta)|_F) = 0$ , we obtain  $g_*(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(m(K_X + \Delta)) \otimes \mathcal{A}) \neq 0$  for some divisible positive integer m and some g-ample line bundle  $\mathcal{A}$  on Z. Hence we can write  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*D + B$  such that

- (a) D is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on Z,
- (b)  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lfloor iB_+ \rfloor) \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$  holds for every  $i \ge 0$ , and
- (c)  $\operatorname{codim}_Z f(\operatorname{Supp} B_-) \ge 2$ .

We take a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $\psi: X^{\dagger} \to X$  from a smooth variety  $X^{\dagger}$ such that  $\operatorname{Exc}(\psi) \cup \operatorname{Supp} \psi_*^{-1} \Delta \cup \operatorname{Supp} \psi_*^{-1} B$  is contained in a simple normal crossing divisor on  $X^{\dagger}$ . We put  $K_{X^{\dagger}} + \Delta^{\dagger} = \psi^*(K_X + \Delta)$  and consider  $K_{X^{\dagger}} + \Delta^{\dagger}_+ \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \psi^* f^* D + \psi^* B + \Delta^{\dagger}_-$ . By replacing  $f: X \to Z$  with  $f \circ \psi: X^{\dagger} \to Z$ , we may further assume that the support of  $\Theta := \Delta - B$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on Z. We apply Theorem 21.4 to  $f: (X, \Theta) \to Z$ . Then we have a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $\mu: Z' \to Z$ satisfying the properties in Theorem 21.4. By Hironaka's flattening theorem (see [Hi]), we can take a projective bimeromorphic morphism  $p: Z_1 \to Z$  from a smooth variety such that the main component of  $X \times_Z Z_1$  is flat over  $Z_1$ . We may further assume that

 $p: Z_1 \to Z$  factors through Z'. Then we consider the following big commutative diagram:



where  $X_1$  is the main component of  $X \times_Z Z_1$ ,  $X_2$  is the normalization of  $X_1$ , and  $\gamma: X'' \to X_2$  is a proper bimeromorphic morphism from a smooth variety X''. We put  $h := \alpha \circ \beta \circ \gamma: X'' \to X$  and  $K_{X''} + \Delta'' = h^*(K_X + \Delta)$ . We may assume that there exist simple normal crossing divisors  $\Sigma_{X''}$  and  $\Sigma_{Z''}$  on X'' and Z'', respectively, such that  $f'': X'' \to Z''$  is smooth over  $Z'' \setminus \Sigma_{Z''}, \Sigma_{X''}$  is relatively simple normal crossing over  $Z'' \setminus \Sigma_{Z''}, (f'')^{-1} \Sigma_{Z''} \subset \Sigma_{X''}$ , and  $\operatorname{Supp} \Delta'' \cup \operatorname{Supp} h^*B$  is contained in  $\Sigma_{X''}$ . Since  $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*D + B$ , we obtain  $K_{X''} + \Delta'' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} (f'')^* p^*D + h^*B$ . We can write

$$\Delta''_{-} + (f'')^* p^* D + h^* B = (f'')^* D'' + B''$$

such that  $\operatorname{codim}_{Z''} f''(\operatorname{Supp} B''_{-}) \geq 2$  and that  $f''_* \mathcal{O}_{X''}(\lfloor iB''_+ \rfloor) \simeq \mathcal{O}_{Z''}$  for every  $i \geq 0$ , where  $B'' = B''_+ - B''_-$  as usual. Hence, we can write

$$K_{X''} + \Delta''_{+} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} (f'')^{*} (K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''}) + B''.$$

By construction, we can check that

(d)  $M_{Z''} = \mu^* M_{Z'}$  is nef over Y, and

(e) Supp  $B_{Z''} \subset \Sigma_{Z''}, B_{Z''}$  is effective, and  $\lfloor B_{Z''} \rfloor = 0$ .

We put  $\pi := g \circ f \colon X \to Y$  and  $\pi'' \colon X'' \to Y$ . Let k be a divisible positive integer. Then  $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(k(K_X + \Delta)) \simeq \pi'' \mathcal{O}_{X''}(k(K_{X''} + \Delta''))$ 

$$\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X(n(M_X + \Delta)) = \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{X''}(n(M_{X''} + \Delta'))$$

$$\simeq \pi_*'' \mathcal{O}_{X''}(k(K_{X''} + \Delta''_+ + B''_-))$$

$$\simeq \pi_*'' \mathcal{O}_{X''}((f'')^*(k(K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''})) + kB''_+)$$

$$\simeq g_*'' \mathcal{O}_{Z''}(k(K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''})),$$

where  $g'': Z'' \to Y$ . Here, we used the fact that  $\Delta''_{-} + B''_{-}$  is effective and h-exceptional.

**Remark 21.6.** In [FMo], we used Kawamata's positivity theorem (see [Kaw4, Theorem 2]) to prove the nefness of the moduli part  $M_{Z'}$ . In Theorem 21.4, we adopted Ambro's formulation of klt-trivial fibrations (see Theorem 21.4 and [A]) instead of [Kaw4, Theorem 2].

Let us go to the proof of Theorems 1.18 and 1.22.

Proof of Theorems 1.18 and 1.22. Let y be any point of Y. Throughout this proof, we will feely replace Y with a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y. In Theorem 1.18, by taking a resolution of singularities, we may assume that X is smooth and  $\operatorname{Supp} \Delta$  is a simple normal crossing divisor on X. Let  $f: X \dashrightarrow Z$  be the Iitaka fibration with respect to  $K_X + \Delta$  over Y. By replacing X and Z, we may assume that Z is a smooth variety and is projective over Y and that f is a morphism with  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Z$ . We use the canonical bundle formula discussed in 21.5. Then, by Lemma 2.26, it is sufficient to prove that

$$\bigoplus_{m\in\mathbb{N}}g_*''\mathcal{O}_{Z''}(mk(K_{Z''}+B_{Z''}+M_{Z''}))$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. By construction,  $K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''}$  is big over Y. We can find  $\Delta_{Z''}$  such that  $(Z'', \Delta_{Z''})$  is kawamata log terminal and that

$$a(K_{Z''} + B_{Z''} + M_{Z''}) \sim b(K_{Z''} + \Delta_{Z''})$$

for some positive integers a and b. Hence, by Lemma 2.26 again, it is sufficient fo prove that

$$\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} g_*'' \mathcal{O}_{Z''}(\lfloor m(K_{Z''} + \Delta_{Z''}) \rfloor)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. Since  $K_{Z''} + \Delta_{Z''}$  is big over Y, it follows from Theorem 1.8 (3). Therefore, we get the desired result.  $\Box$ 

# 22. MINIMAL MODEL PROGRAM WITH SCALING REVISITED

In this section, we will discuss the minimal model program with scaling again for future usage. The original results for algebraic varieties are not covered by [BCHM]. Here, we will closely follow the presentation of [Bir1] and [Bir2].

Let us recall the definition of *extremal curves*.

**Definition 22.1** (Extremal curves). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). A curve  $\Gamma$  on X is called *extremal over* W if the following properties hold.

- (i)  $\Gamma$  generates an extremal ray R of  $\overline{\text{NE}}(X/Y; W)$ .
- (ii) There exists a  $\pi$ -ample Cartier divisor H on X such that

$$H \cdot \Gamma = \min\{H \cdot \ell\},\$$

where  $\ell$  ranges over curves generating R.

The following theorem is very useful when we run the minimal model program with scaling.

**Theorem 22.2** (see [Fu9, Theorem 4.7.2]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let V be a finite-dimensional affine subspace of  $\operatorname{WDiv}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , which is defined over the rationals. Assume that there is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta_0$  on X such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. We fix an  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor  $\Delta \in \mathcal{L}(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ . Then we can find positive real numbers  $\alpha$  and  $\delta$ , which depend on  $(X, \Delta)$  and V, with the following properties.

- (1) If  $\Gamma$  is any extremal curve over W and  $(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \Gamma > 0$ , then  $(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \Gamma > \alpha$ .
- (2) If  $D \in \mathcal{L}(V; \pi^{-1}(W))$ ,  $||D \Delta|| < \delta$ , and  $(K_X + D) \cdot \Gamma \leq 0$  for an extremal curve  $\Gamma$  over W, then  $(K_X + \Delta) \cdot \Gamma \leq 0$ .
- (3) Let  $\{R_t\}_{t\in T}$  be any set of extremal rays of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$ . Then

$$\mathcal{N}_T := \{ D \in \mathcal{L}(V; \pi^{-1}(W)) \mid (K_X + D) \cdot R_t \ge 0 \text{ for every } t \in T \}$$

is a rational polytope in V. In particular,

$$\mathcal{N}^{\sharp}_{\pi}(V;W) = \{ \Delta \in \mathcal{L}(V;\pi^{-1}(W)) \mid K_X + \Delta \text{ is nef over } W \}$$

is a rational polytope.

*Proof.* This theorem is a formal consequence of Theorem 9.2 and Theorem 7.3. More precisely, (1) easily follows from Theorem 9.2. We can check that (2) holds true by using (1). By (2) and Theorem 7.3, we can prove (3). For the details, see, for example, the proof of [Fu9, Theorem 4.7.2].  $\Box$ 

By Theorem 22.2 (3) and Theorem 9.2, we can prove:

**Theorem 22.3** (see [Fu9, Theorem 4.7.3]). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$  and W satisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair and let H be an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta + H)$  is log canonical and that  $K_X + \Delta + H$  is nef over W. Assume that there exists  $\Delta_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. Then, either  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef over W or there is a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y; W)$ such that  $(K_X + \Delta + \lambda H) \cdot R = 0$ , where

$$\lambda := \inf\{t \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid K_X + \Delta + tH \text{ is nef over } W\}.$$

Of course,  $K_X + \Delta + \lambda H$  is nef over W.

*Proof.* The proof of [Fu9, Theorem 4.7.3] works without any modifications.

By Theorems 22.2 and 22.3, the minimal model program with scaling explained in Section 13 becomes much more useful.

**22.4** (Minimal model program with scaling). Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective morphism of complex analytic spaces and let W be a compact subset of Y such that  $\pi: X \to Y$ and W satisfies (P). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a log canonical pair such that X is Q-factorial over W. Assume that there exists  $\Delta_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta_0)$  is kawamata log terminal. Let Hbe an effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -Cartier  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor on X such that  $(X, \Delta + H)$  is log canonical and that  $K_X + \Delta + H$  is nef over W. By Theorem 22.3, we can take a  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -negative extremal ray R of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$  such that  $(K_X + \Delta + \lambda H) \cdot R = 0$  if  $(K_X + \Delta)$  is not nef over W. We can consider the contraction morphism  $\varphi_R: X \to Z$  associated to R over some open neighborhood of W by Theorem 7.3. By Remark 17.10, we know that the desired flip always exists. We note that we can always find  $\Delta'_0$  such that  $(X, \Delta'_0)$  is kawamata log terminal and that R is a  $(K_X + \Delta'_0)$ -negative extremal ray of  $\overline{NE}(X/Y;W)$ . Therefore, we can run a minimal model program similar to the one explained in Section 13. We call it the  $(K_X + \Delta)$ -minimal model program with scaling of H over Y around W. We sometimes simply say that it is the minimal model program with scaling if there is no danger of confusion.

It is well known that Theorem 1.28 is an easy consequence of the minimal model program with scaling. The main ingredient of the following proof of Theorem 1.28 is Theorem 22.2 (2).

Proof of Theorem 1.28. Throughout this proof, we will freely shrink Y around W suitably without mentioning it explicitly. Let  $H_2$  be a general  $\pi_2$ -ample Q-divisor on  $X_2$  and let  $H_1$  be its strict transform on  $X_1$ . Then there is a small positive real number  $\delta$  such that  $(X_1, \Delta_1 + \delta H_1)$  is kawamata log terminal. We take a general  $\pi_1$ -ample Q-divisor  $H'_1$  on  $X_1$ such that  $(X_2, \Delta_2 + \delta H_2 + \delta' H'_2)$  is kawamata log terminal for some positive real number  $\delta'$ , where  $H'_2$  is the strict transform of  $H'_1$ . If  $\delta$  is sufficiently small,  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1 + \delta H_1 + \delta' H'_1$ is nef over W. We can run the  $(K_{X_1} + \Delta_1 + \delta H_1)$ -minimal model program with scaling over Y around W (see 22.4). After finitely many flips, we finally end up with  $X_2$ . On the other hand, by Theorem 22.2 (2), we see that each step is a flop with respect to  $K_{X_1} + \Delta_1$ if  $\delta$  is sufficiently small. Therefore, we obtain the desired statement.

# 23. On abundance conjecture

In this final section, we will treat the abundance conjecture for kawamata log terminal pairs in the complex analytic setting. Let us recall the following famous conjecture, which is one of the most difficult conjectures in the theory of minimal models.

**Conjecture 23.1** (Abundance conjecture for projective kawamata log terminal pairs). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a projective kawamata log terminal pair such that  $K_X + \Delta$  is nef. Then  $K_X + \Delta$  is semiample.

The main result of this section is as follows.

**Theorem 23.2** (see Theorem 1.30). Assume that Conjecture 23.1 holds in dimension n. Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism of normal complex varieties with  $\dim X - \dim Y = n$  and let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a kawamata log terminal pair. Assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -nef. Let W be a Stein compact subset of Y such that  $\Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. Then  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\pi$ -semiample over some open neighborhood of W.

Theorem 23.2 says that we can reduce the abundance conjecture for projective morphisms of complex analytic spaces to the original abundance conjecture for projective varieties. Before we prove Theorem 23.2, we prepare some lemmas. The following lemma is Wilson's theorem (see [La1, Theorem 2.3.9]) for projective morphisms of complex varieties.

**Lemma 23.3.** Let  $f: Z \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a smooth complex variety Z onto a normal Stein variety Y and let D be a Cartier divisor on X such that D is nef and big over Y. Let y be any point of Y. Then, by replacing Y with any relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y, there exist a positive integer  $m_0$  and an effective Cartier divisor B on Z such that  $\mathcal{O}_Z(mD - B)$  is f-free.

Proof. We can take an f-very ample Cartier divisor H on Z after replacing Y with any relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of y. Since D is big over Y, there exists a positive integer  $m_0$  such that  $m_0 D \sim A+B$ , A is f-ample,  $B \ge 0$ , and  $A - (K_X + (n+1)H)$  is f-ample with  $n = \dim Z$ . Then,  $R^i f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(mD - B - iH) = 0$  holds for every i > 0 and every  $m \ge m_0$  since  $mD - B - iH - K_X \sim A - (K_X + (n+1)H) + (n+1-i)H$  is f-ample for  $0 < i \le n+1$  (see, for example, Theorem 5.1). Therefore, by Castelnuovo–Mumford regularity (see, for example, [La2, Example 1.8.24]), we obtain that  $\mathcal{O}_Z(mD - B)$  is f-free for every  $m \ge m_0$ .

As an easy consequence, we obtain:

**Lemma 23.4.** Let  $f: Z \to Y$  be a projective morphism from a smooth complex variety Z onto a normal Stein variety Y and let D be a Cartier divisor on X such that D is nef and big over Y. Assume that

$$R(Z,D) := \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(mD)$$

is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra. Then D is f-semiample.

Lemma 23.4 is well known for normal projective varieties (see, for example, [La1, Theorem 2.3.15]).

Proof of Lemma 23.4. By taking the Stein factorization, we may assume that  $f_*\mathcal{O}_Z \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$ . Suppose that, for every positive integer m,  $f^*f_*\mathcal{O}_Z(mD) \to \mathcal{O}_Z(mD)$  is not surjective at  $z \in Z$ . We take an open neighborhood U of f(z) and a Stein compact subset W of Y such that  $f(z) \in U \subset W$  and that  $\mathcal{O}_Y(W) = \Gamma(W, \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. If we make U and W sufficiently small, then  $\Gamma(W, \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} f_*\mathcal{O}_Z(mD)) \simeq \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} f_*\mathcal{O}_Z(mD)(W)$  is a

finitely generated  $\mathcal{O}_Y(W)$ -algebra. Therefore, there exists a positive integer l such that  $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N}} f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(mlD)(W)$  is generated by  $f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(lD)(W)$ . Let V be a relatively compact Stein open neighborhood of W. Then, by Lemma 23.3, there exist k > 0 and  $g \in \Gamma(f^{-1}(V), \mathcal{O}_Z(klD)) = \Gamma(V, f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(klD))$  such that C = (g = 0) is an effective divisor on  $f^{-1}(V)$  with  $\operatorname{mult}_z C < k$ . On the other hand, since  $f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(klD)(W)$  is generated by  $f_* \mathcal{O}_Z(lD)(W)$ ,  $\operatorname{mult}_z C \geq k$  holds. It is a contradiction. This means that D is f-semiample.

Let us prove Theorem 23.2.

Proof of Theorem 23.2. In Step 1, we will reduce the problem to the case where  $K_X + \Delta$  is Q-Cartier. Then, in Step 2, we will prove that it is semiample by using the finite generation of log canonical rings.

Step 1. We take a Stein open neighborhood U of W and a Stein compact subset W'such that  $U \subset W'$  and that  $\Gamma(W', \mathcal{O}_Y)$  is noetherian. By Theorem 22.2, after shrinking Yaround W', we can find  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors  $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_l$  on X such that  $K_X + \Delta = \sum_i r_i(K_X + \Delta_i)$ ,  $(X, \Delta_i)$  is kawamata log terminal,  $K_X + \Delta_i$  is nef over W', and  $r_i \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  with  $\sum_i r_i = 1$ . Therefore, it is sufficient to prove that  $K_X + \Delta_i$  is semiample over some open neighborhood of W. Hence, from now on, we may further assume that  $K_X + \Delta$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier. Moreover, we may assume that there exists a positive integer k such that  $k(K_X + \Delta)$  is Cartier. Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$  by taking the Stein factorization.

Step 2. Let F be an analytically sufficiently general fiber of  $\pi: X \to Y$ . Then  $(F, \Delta|_F)$  is kawamata log terminal with  $K_F + \Delta|_F = (K_X + \Delta)|_F$ . Hence, by assumption,  $K_F + \Delta|_F$ is semiample. We put  $L = k(K_X + \Delta)$ . From now on, we will freely replace Y with a smaller Stein open neighborhood of W without mentioning it explicitly. We consider a meromorphic map  $g: X \dashrightarrow Z_0$  over Y associated to  $\pi^*\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(mL) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mL)$  for some sufficiently large and divisible positive integer m such that dim  $Z_0 = \dim Y + \kappa(F, K_F + \Delta|_F)$ . As in the proof of [Kaw1, Proposition 2.1], by using Hironaka's flattening theorem (see [Hi]), and so on, we can construct the following commutative diagram:

which satisfies the following conditions.

- (i) All the varieties in the diagram are projective over Y.
- (ii)  $X_1, X', Z_1$ , and Z are smooth, and  $X_3$  is normal.
- (iii)  $\mu_0$ ,  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$ ,  $\mu_3$ , and  $\pi_1$  are projective bimeromorphic morphisms,  $g_1$ ,  $g_2$ ,  $g_3$  and  $\phi$  are surjective morphisms with connected fibers, and  $\pi_0$  is a generically finite surjective morphism.
- (iv)  $g_2$  is flat,  $\mu_2$  is finite, and  $g_3$  is equidimensional.

We put  $\mu := \mu_0 \circ \mu_1 \circ \mu_2 \circ \mu_3 \colon X' \to X$ . Then we finally get the following commutative diagram:



such that

- (a) X' and Z are projective over Y,
- (b) X' and Z are smooth,
- (c)  $\mu$  is bimeromorphic and  $\phi$  is a surjective morphism with connected fibers, and
- (d) there exists a Cartier divisor D on Z such that D is nef and big over Y with  $a\mu^*L \sim b\phi^*D$  for some positive integers a and b.

For the details, see the proof of [Kaw1, Proposition 2.1]. Since  $R(X/Y, K_X + \Delta)$  is a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra by Theorem 1.18, R(Z, D) is also a locally finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -algebra by Lemma 2.26. Hence, by Lemma 23.4, D is f-semiample. This means that L is  $\pi$ -semiample.

Anyway,  $K_X + \Delta$  is a finite  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ -linear combination of semiample Cartier divisors over some open neighborhood of W. This is what we wanted.

The abundance conjecture for log canonical pairs in the complex analytic setting seems to be much more difficult than the one for kawamata log terminal pairs.

# References

- [A] F. Ambro, Shokurov's boundary property, J. Differential Geom. 67 (2004), no. 2, 229–255.
- [ADHL] I. Arzhantsev, U. Derenthal, J. Hausen, A. Laface, Cox rings, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 144. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2015.
- [BS] C. Bănică, O. Stănăşilă, Algebraic methods in the global theory of complex spaces, Translated from the Romanian. Editura Academiei, Bucharest; John Wiley & Sons, London–New York– Sydney, 1976.
- [BM1] E. Bierstone, P. D. Milman, Semianalytic and subanalytic sets, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. No. 67 (1988), 5–42.
- [BM2] E. Bierstone, P. D. Milman, Canonical desingularization in characteristic zero by blowing up the maximum strata of a local invariant, Invent. Math. **128** (1997), no. 2, 207–302.
- [Bir1] C. Birkar, On existence of log minimal models, Compos. Math. 146 (2010), no. 4, 919–928.
- [Bir2] C. Birkar, On existence of log minimal models II, J. Reine Angew. Math. 658 (2011), 99–113.
- [BCHM] C. Birkar, P. Cascini, C. D. Hacon, J. M<sup>c</sup>Kernan, Existence of minimal models for varieties of log general type, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 23 (2010), no. 2, 405–468.
- [BP] C. Birkar, M. Păun, Minimal models, flips and finite generation: a tribute to V. V. Shokurov and Y.-T. Siu, *Classification of algebraic varieties*, 77–113, EMS Ser. Congr. Rep., Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2011.
- [BT] R. Bott, L. W. Tu, *Differential forms in algebraic topology*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 82. Springer-Verlag, New York–Berlin, 1982.
- [CHP] F. Campana, A. Höring, T. Peternell, Abundance for Kähler threefolds, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 49 (2016), no. 4, 971–1025.
- [CKP] F. Campana, V. Koziarz, M. Păun, Numerical character of the effectivity of adjoint line bundles, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 62 (2012), no. 1, 107–119.
- [CaL] P. Cascini, V. Lazić, New outlook on the minimal model program, I, Duke Math. J. 161 (2012), no. 12, 2415–2467.

[CoL]	A. Corti, V. Lazić, New outlook on the minimal model program, II, Math. Ann. <b>356</b> (2013),
( 1	no. 2, 617–633.
[D]	JP. Demailly, Complex analytic and differential geometry, available at the web page of the
	author. https://www-fourier.ujf-grenoble.fr/~demailly/manuscripts/agbook.pdf
[Fi]	G. Fischer, Complex analytic geometry, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 538. Springer-
(m. 1	Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1976.
[Fr]	J. Frisch, Points de platitude d'un morphisme d'espaces analytiques complexes, Invent. Math.
[TT] 4]	4 (1967), 118-138.
[Fu1]	O. Fujino, A canonical bundle formula for certain algebraic fiber spaces and its applications,
[E-0]	Nagoya Math. J. $172$ (2003), $129-171$ .
լгսշյ	0. Fujino, Higner direct images of log canonical divisors, J. Differential Geom. <b>60</b> (2004), no. 2, 452, 470
[E.,9]	0, 400-479.
լոսօլ	Ovford Lecture Ser Math Appl. 35 Ovford Univ. Press, Ovford 2007
[Fu4]	O Fujino Semi-stable minimal model program for varieties with trivial canonical divisor. Proc
լուսել	Lapan A cad Ser A Math Sci 87 (2011) no 3 $25-30$
[Fu5]	O Fujino Fundamental theorems for the log minimal model program Publ Res Inst. Math
[r do]	Sci. 47 (2011), no. 3, 727–789.
[Fu6]	O. Fujino. A transcendental approach to Kollár's injectivity theorem II. J. Reine Angew. Math.
[]	<b>681</b> (2013), 149–174.
[Fu7]	O. Fujino, Fundamental theorems for semi log canonical pairs, Algebr. Geom. 1 (2014), no. 2,
	194–228.
[Fu8]	O. Fujino, Some remarks on the minimal model program for log canonical pairs, J. Math. Sci.
	Univ. Tokyo <b>22</b> (2015), no. 1, 149–192.
[Fu9]	O. Fujino, Foundations of the minimal model program, MSJ Memoirs, 35. Mathematical Society
	of Japan, Tokyo, 2017.
[Fu10]	O. Fujino, Pull-back of quasi-log structures, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 53 (2017), no. 2, 241–
	259.
[Fu11]	O. Fujino, Relative Bertini type theorem for multiplier ideal sheaves, to appear in Osaka J.
	Math.
[Fu12]	O. Fujino, Minimal model theory for log surfaces in Fujiki's class $\mathcal{C}$ , Nagoya Math. J. 244
[T] 10]	(2021), 256-282.
[Fu13]	O. Fujino, Fundamental properties of basic sic-trivial fibrations I, to appear in Publ. Res. Inst.
[ <b>F</b> _14]	Math. Sci. O. Fujing, Cone theorem and Mari hyperbalicity, preprint (2020), arXiv:2102.11086 [math AC].
[Fu14] [Fu15]	O. Fujino, On cupsi log schemes, proprint (2021), arXiv:2107.04757 [math AC]
[FF]	O Fujino, T Fujisawa Variations of mixed Hodge structure and semipositivity theorems. Publ
	Bes Inst Math Sci 50 (2014) no 4 589–661
[FFL]	O. Fujino, T. Fujisawa, H. Liu, Fundamental properties of basic slc-trivial fibrations II. to
[]	appear in Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.
[FG2]	O. Fujino, Y. Gongyo, On log canonical rings, <i>Higher dimensional algebraic geometry—in hon-</i>
	our of Professor Yujiro Kawamata's sixtieth birthday, 159–169, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 74,
	Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2017.
[FH]	O. Fujino, K. Hashizume, Adjunction and inversion of adjunction, preprint (2021).
	arXiv:2105.14531 [math.AG]
[FMa]	O. Fujino, S. Matsumura, Injectivity theorem for pseudo-effective line bundles and its applica-
	tions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. Ser. B 8 (2021), 849–884.
[FMi]	O. Fujino, K. Miyamoto, Nakai–Moishezon ampleness criterion for real line bundles, to appear
	in Math. Ann.
[FMo]	O. Fujino, S. Mori, A canonical bundle formula, J. Differential Geom. 56 (2000), no. 1, 167–188.
[GrR]	H. Grauert, R. Remmert, Coherent analytic sheaves, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wis-
	senschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], 265. Springer-Verlag, Berlin,
[a = ]	1984.
[GuR]	R. C. Gunning, H. Rossi, Analytic functions of several complex variables, Prentice-Hall, Inc.,
	Englewood Cliffs, N.J. 1965.

84

- [HacK] C. D. Hacon, S. J. Kovács, Classification of higher dimensional algebraic varieties, Oberwolfach Seminars, 41. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2010.
- [HacM] C. D. Hacon, J. M<sup>c</sup>Kernan, Existence of minimal models for varieties of log general type. II, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 23 (2010), no. 2, 469–490.
- [Har] R. Hartshorne, *Algebraic geometry*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. **52**. Springer-Verlag, New York–Heidelberg, 1977.
- [Has] K. Hashizume, On the non-vanishing conjecture and existence of log minimal models, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 54 (2018), no. 1, 89–104.
- [HasH] K. Hashizume, Z. Hu, On minimal model theory for log abundant lc pairs, J. Reine Angew. Math. 767 (2020), 109–159.
- [Hi] H. Hironaka, Flattening theorem in complex-analytic geometry, Amer. J. Math. 97 (1975), 503–547.
- [HP1] A. Höring, T. Peternell, Mori fibre spaces for Kähler threefolds, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 22 (2015), no. 1, 219–246.
- [HP2] A. Höring, T. Peternell, Minimal models for Kähler threefolds, Invent. Math. **203** (2016), no. 1, 217–264.
- [HP3] A. Höring, T. Peternell, Bimeromorphic geometry of Kähler threefolds, Algebraic geometry: Salt Lake City 2015, 381–402, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 97.1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2018.
- [Kau] B. Kaup, Coherent D-modules, In: Borel et al. Algebraic D-Modules, Perspectives in Mathematics, 2. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1987.
- [Kaw1] Y. Kawamata, Pluricanonical systems on minimal algebraic varieties, Invent. Math. 79 (1985), no. 3, 567–588.
- [Kaw2] Y. Kawamata, Crepant blowing-up of 3-dimensional canonical singularities and its application to degenerations of surfaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 127 (1988), no. 1, 93–163.
- [Kaw3] Y. Kawamata, On the length of an extremal rational curve, Invent. Math. **105** (1991), no. 3, 609–611.
- [Kaw4] Y. Kawamata, Subadjunction of log canonical divisors. II, Amer. J. Math. 120 (1998), no. 5, 893–899.
- [Kaw5] Y. Kawamata, Flops connect minimal models, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 44 (2008), no. 2, 419–423.
- [KMM] Y. Kawamata, K. Matsuda, K. Matsuki, Introduction to the minimal model problem, Algebraic geometry, Sendai, 1985, 283–360, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 10, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [Kod] K. Kodaira, Complex manifolds and deformation of complex structures, Translated from the Japanese by Kazuo Akao. With an appendix by Daisuke Fujiwara, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], 283. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [Koll] J. Kollár, Effective base point freeness, Math. Ann. 296 (1993), no. 4, 595–605.
- [Kol2] J. Kollár, Lectures on resolution of singularities, Annals of Mathematics Studies, 166. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2007.
- [Kol3] J. Kollár, Singularities of the minimal model program, With a collaboration of Sándor Kovács. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 200. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.
- [KM] J. Kollár, S. Mori, Birational geometry of algebraic varieties, With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti. Translated from the 1998 Japanese original. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 134. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [La1] R. Lazarsfeld, Positivity in algebraic geometry. I. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], 48. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [La2] R. Lazarsfeld, Positivity in algebraic geometry. II. Positivity for vector bundles, and multiplier ideals, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], 49. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [Le] J. Lesieutre, The diminished base locus is not always closed, Compos. Math. **150** (2014), no. 10, 1729–1741.

- [Man] M. Manaresi, Sard and Bertini type theorems for complex spaces, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) **131** (1982), 265–279.
- [Matk] K. Matsuki, Introduction to the Mori program, Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [Matm] S. Matsumura, Injectivity theorems with multiplier ideal sheaves for higher direct images under Kähler morphisms, to appear in Algebr. Geom.
- [Mo1] S. Mori, On 3-dimensional terminal singularities, Nagoya Math. J. 98 (1985), 43–66.
- [Mo2] S. Mori, Classification of higher-dimensional varieties, Algebraic geometry, Bowdoin, 1985 (Brunswick, Maine, 1985), 269–331, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 46, Part 1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [Mo3] S. Mori, Flip theorem and the existence of minimal models for 3-folds, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 1 (1988), no. 1, 117–253.
- [Mw] A. Moriwaki, A criterion of openness of a family of nef line bundles, Manuscripta Math. **75** (1992), no. 3, 327–331.
- [Na1] N. Nakayama, Hodge filtrations and the higher direct images of canonical sheaves, Invent. Math. 85 (1986), no. 1, 217–221.
- [Na2] N. Nakayama, The lower semicontinuity of the plurigenera of complex varieties, Algebraic geometry, Sendai, 1985, 551–590, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 10, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [Na3] N. Nakayama, Zariski-decomposition and abundance, MSJ Memoirs, 14. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2004.
- [No] J. Noguchi, Analytic function theory of several variables. Elements of Oka's coherence, Springer, Singapore, 2016.
- [RRV] J. P. Ramis, G. Ruget, J. L. Verdier, Dualité relative en géométrie analytique complexe, Invent. Math. 13 (1971), 261–283.
- [SGA1] A. Grothendieck, M. Raynaud, Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–1961 (SGA 1). Dirigé par Alexandre Grothendieck. Augmenté de deux exposés de M. Raynaud. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 224. Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1971.
- [Sh1] V. V. Shokurov, Three-dimensional log perestroikas, Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mat. 56 (1992), no. 1, 105–203.
- [Sh2] V. V. Shokurov, 3-fold log models, Algebraic geometry, 4. J. Math. Sci. 81 (1996), no. 3, 2667– 2699.
- [Sh3] V. V. Shokurov, Prelimiting flips, Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 240 (2003), Biratsion. Geom. Lineĭn. Sist. Konechno Porozhdennye Algebry, 82–219; reprinted in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 2003, no. 1(240), 75–213.
- [Si] Y.-T. Siu, Noetherianness of rings of holomorphic functions on Stein compact series, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (1969), 483–489.
- [St1] J. H. M. Steenbrink, Limits of Hodge structures, Invent. Math. **31** (1975/76), no. 3, 229–257.
- [St2] J. H. M. Steenbrink, Mixed Hodge structure on the vanishing cohomology, Real and complex singularities (Proc. Ninth Nordic Summer School/NAVF Sympos. Math., Oslo, 1976), 525–563. Sijthoff and Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1977.
- [Tak] K. Takegoshi, Higher direct images of canonical sheaves tensorized with semi-positive vector bundles by proper Kähler morphisms, Math. Ann. 303 (1995), no. 3, 389–416.
- [Tay] J. L. Taylor, Several complex variables with connections to algebraic geometry and Lie groups, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 46. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002.
- [W] J. Włodarczyk, Resolution of singularities of analytic spaces, Proceedings of Gökova Geometry-Topology Conference 2008, 31–63, Gökova Geometry/Topology Conference (GGT), Gökova, 2009.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SCIENCE, KYOTO UNIVERSITY, KYOTO 606-8502, JAPAN

*E-mail address*: fujino@math.kyoto-u.ac.jp

86